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We’re Forward Partners

Early stage venture
Forward invest £200k-£2m in VC funding from day 
zero to Series A and beyond, focusing on applied AI, 
marketplaces and Web3 operating models.

OUR MODEL:

Studio support
Forward’s Studio provides specialist support  
to help our portfolio companies to grow faster  
and improve portfolio returns.

For 10 years, Forward Partners has been providing investors access  
to the fastest-growing startup ecosystem in Europe. We source, fund  
and back some of the UK’s most promising high-growth, early-stage  
technology businesses.

10 years experience
Forward was established in 2013 by Nic Brisbourne.

20%
Targets 20% annual increase in Portfolio Fair Value over the cycle.Supported by BlackRock since 2015.
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We give founders their best shot at success
Entrepreneurs are solving the world’s 
problems with visionary thinking, new 
technology and challenger mindsets.

Our purpose is to help more of them 
succeed, supporting them with the right 
funding at the right time – and providing 
expertise from the start.

WE FIND AND BACK   
ENTREPRENEURIAL TALENT — EARLIER

We believe that early stage holds great upside 
potential. We scour the UK tech ecosystem 
for ambitious entrepreneurs, investing in 
their vision early, when valuations are lower 
and the potential for fast growth is higher.
This approach builds a naturally diversified 
portfolio with potential for great returns, whilst 
limiting downside of individual assets at the 
portfolio level.

WE BACK FOUNDERS  
WITH MORE THAN MONEY 

We believe that startups face common 
challenges that impede their progress. 
Our specialist Studio helps our founders to 
overcome these hurdles and accelerate 
their growth by recruiting great leaders and 
developing their talent.
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Portfolio Fair Value

Net asset value per share

Available cash 

Portfolio Fair Value decline* 

Capital deployed Cash realised

Net assets 

Average Top 15 company  
revenue growth**  

Loss after tax 

£80.0m

72p

£17.2m

£9.7m £1.1m

£96.7m £43.1m

39.0% 144%

2022 overview

*   Excluding new realisations and new investments

** Weighted average revenue growth of our top 15 holdings at 31 December 2022.  
Figures for 1 January - 31 December 2022 unless otherwise stated.  
We assess our performance using a variety of measures that are not specifically defined under IFRS and are therefore termed Alternative Performance Measures (APMs). The above figures contain APMs.
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2022 was a challenging year for 
UK-based technology startups. 
As macroeconomic headwinds 
buffeted businesses across the 
ecosystem, we saw investment 
drop by almost 30% from the 
outlier levels of 20211. 

At Forward, we spotted these trends early and 
adjusted our strategy to focus on resilience.  
We implemented plans within Forward and our 
portfolio to prioritise capital efficiency, strong 
balance sheets and sustainable growth strategies. 
As a result, Forward and our portfolio are well-
funded, strong, and ready to accelerate growth 
when the time is right.

As we navigate through 2023, the prevailing 
macroeconomic headwinds continue to impact 
investor confidence and valuations. While it's difficult 
to predict how long this period of uncertainty will 
persist, we remain optimistic as we observe positive 
indicators in the market, such as the slowing rate  
of decline in our portfolio Fair Value from 23.9% in  
the first half to 15.1% in the second half. We closely 
monitor market conditions and wait patiently for a 
rebound in investor confidence - and with it a return 
to portfolio Fair Value growth.

Forward succeeds by providing 
more support to founders than 
other investors. 
At Forward, we’re united by a belief that 
entrepreneurs are changing the world for the better. 
Our ambition is to give founders their best shot at 
success, to drive great outcomes for our portfolio 
companies, and in turn to deliver returns for  
our shareholders. 

To achieve this vision our strategy focuses on 
three key areas. We build and nurture a world-
class portfolio by finding and backing the best 
entrepreneurial talent at the earliest stages of 
company development. We provide forward-
thinking capital that’s more supportive, positively 
influencing every part of our model - from deal flow 
to deal-making and portfolio outcomes. And finally, 
we strengthen for scale, ensuring that our business 
operations and governance are appropriate to 
support our long-term goals. 

In 2022 we evolved our investment strategy, as 
described in our 2021 Annual Report, introducing 
applied Web3 as a new investment area - to take the 
place of eCommerce, whilst continuing to focus on 
businesses leveraging applied AI and marketplace 
operating models. Over time, our approach has built 
a balanced portfolio of companies with a series of 
emerging front-runners and we continue to see good 
deal flow across these three areas. 

Forward’s key point of differentiation is our Studio. 
We believe that providing capital with capability 
attracts great startups, wins more deals and 
ultimately helps our investments to grow faster 
and produce better returns. In 2022, the Studio 
expanded its offering to founders with the addition 
of talent recruitment. We have seen positive results 
from this new talent offering and aim to continue 
providing hands-on support to help founders find the 
right people to accelerate growth.

An adaptable and  
resilient business.
As the market adjusted in the second half of 2022 
the Board focused on strengthening our business 
and portfolio to navigate the challenges that we 
faced, whilst providing the necessary foundations 
for execution and scale.

This involved building resilience and capital 
efficiency. We moved fast to adapt internally whilst 
supporting our portfolio to do the same. During 
the year we began the wind-down of the startup 
debt subsidiary Forward Advances - a decision that 
impacted profit, but strengthens our business for 
the longer term. We also welcomed new members 
to our extended finance team, and the Studio which 
was restructured to focus on talent acquisition. 
Now as we move through 2023, we believe that we 
have the right team to deliver our goals through this 
period - one that is skilled, motivated, happy and 
guided by a common mission.

We have once again considered our role as a 
responsible company and investor to ensure that 
our efforts and our investments positively impact 
environmental, social and governance criteria. We 
continue to build an environment that reflects the 
high-growth attitude of our best companies: lean 
and efficient, whilst being bold, caring and wise.

Investing in the future
As we look forward into 2023 and beyond, we are 
mindful that these remain challenging times, but we 
are confident in the strength of our portfolio and the 
long-term potential for venture capital investment. 

We believe that venture continues to hold the 
potential for great returns. The fundamentals behind 
our business haven't changed: startups, challengers 
and disruptors continue to create change and drive 
value across the globe. The momentum continues, 
no matter the economic conditions. AI’s ‘iPhone 
moment’ with the recent release of ChatGPT is a 
great example of this - heightening public awareness 
of its capabilities whilst attracting the attention 
of entrepreneurs and investors across the world. 
Venture enables Forward, and our shareholders to 
invest in companies leveraging technology and trends 
like these, powering their progress and sharing in their 
long-term success.   

Chair’s introduction

We provide forward-thinking capital, 
that’s more supportive, positively 
influencing every part of our model -  
from deal flow to deal-making and 
portfolio outcomes.

1 : Tech Nation - UK Tech Ecosystem - End of Year Report 2022
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We are confident in the strength  
of our portfolio and the long-term  
potential for venture capital  
investment.

I would like to express my gratitude to our employees, 
partners, and shareholders for their ongoing support 
as we develop an exceptional portfolio and a 
dedicated organisation to back it.

Jonathan McKay
Chair

3 May 2023
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CEO’s review
Overview
In 2022, we saw the macroeconomic headwinds 
that impacted investor confidence and public 
markets trickle down into earlier-stage private 
companies' valuations. As a result, investment 
rounds took longer to complete, the door on IPOs 
largely closed, and the M&A market slowed. We 
recognised the potential impact that these factors 
held for Forward and our portfolio and took steps 
to adapt: reducing operational expenditure; 
adjusting investment criteria whilst advising 
founders to prioritise resilience.  

Through this period, we continued to support our top 
portfolio companies in strengthening their balance 
sheets, investing £7.3m into 20 follow-on rounds, 
with our endorsement ultimately unlocking £54.7m 
in additional funding. Now, we hold a portfolio of 
lean, strong and capital-efficient businesses that are 
well-equipped for the period to come. I am pleased 
to report that many of these businesses continue to 
achieve remarkable revenue growth and are poised 
to accelerate further when the market improves.  

Despite the positive news at the portfolio level, 
I’m sorry to be reporting a decline in Portfolio Fair 
Value over the year. The full year decline, which 
can be largely attributed to valuation headwinds, 
was a slight improvement over guidance issued at 
our interim results. In times like this it’s important 
to remember that the venture capital model is built 
to be resilient to downturns. We expect to hold our 
successful companies for seven to ten years or more 
and hence it is very likely that they will experience 
at least one difficult period during the normal cycle 

before they exit. It’s also important to remember the 
asymmetric profile of startup investing where we 
make many times our money on our winners, whilst 
only losing one times our capital on our losers.  

It is difficult to predict how long this period of 
uncertainty will last, particularly in the wake of the 
recent banking crisis. But we continue to see great 
deals and continue to invest. Technology innovation 
continues at pace (particularly within our focus 
area of applied AI), the ecosystem remains strong, 
founders are positive, and investors wait in the wings 
with committed capital to deploy. For the moment 
we wait for market confidence to return which we 
expect to be the catalyst for a return to portfolio 
Fair Value growth as our companies are able to 
raise follow-on rounds at attractive valuations.  

As a business, we remain focused on what we love 
to do: helping the UK’s best tech founders to build 
incredible companies.

Operating review
Our mission is to build the UK's leading and most 
admired early-stage venture firm. That means 
being entrepreneurs’ first choice for funding, and 
delivering long-term, compounding net asset growth 
for investors. To deliver on this mission, we invest 
our funds in, and support, visionary entrepreneurs 
leading high-potential companies. We not only offer 
capital to founders, but work hard to be supportive 
investors, helping them find their path to leadership 
in their markets with guidance from our Investment 
and Studio Teams.

A focused strategy
This year, we focused our strategy on three core 
priorities: 

Building and nurturing a world-class portfolio.  
In 2022, we focused on strengthening our portfolio, 
mentoring, coaching and investing in our companies 
that we already know and trust - participating in 20 
follow-on rounds in total, to ensure that their business  
models and balance sheets were robust enough to 
navigate this uncertain period. We responded to 
increased market risk by slowing on new investments, 
adding only 3 new companies to the portfolio. 
Dealflow has remained strong, but pricing and next-
round financing risk led us to be prudent and cautious.

Providing forward-thinking capital.  
We offer founders capital with support because we 
believe that it leads to better outcomes. In 2022, 
we continued to provide our founders with expert 
guidance from our investors and expanded our 
Studio talent offer to help our portfolio hire more  
of the right people and grow their businesses faster 
in a labour market that remained challenging for  
much of the year.   

Strengthening for scale.    
In 2022, we focused on strengthening the foundations 
of the Forward business. We recruited specialist talent 
into our Finance Team with deep audit and valuation 
expertise to bolster financial management and 
reporting capabilities; and into our Studio team too, 
enhancing leadership and operational capacity as we 
expand our talent offer. The Board and Management 
Team also worked to implement new processes and 
controls to ensure that our portfolio remains robust.    

A lean company
On 24 August 2022 we announced our decision 
to conduct a managed wind-down of Forward 
Advances. The Advances subsidiary was established 
as a startup within Forward in 2020 to meet the 
demand of the fast-growing alternative SME 
funding market, separate to venture capital. 
Advances had a strong start, originating £14.9m 
in loan financing from inception. However, in 
2022 the market became more competitive and 
the Group determined that the macroeconomic 
environment and the low margins necessary for 
Advances to compete for limited opportunities for 
future profitable growth and shareholder returns. 
While no further loans were originated, existing 
customers were fully serviced for the duration of 
their contracts, and so the remaining loan book 
is in managed wind-down. Repayments from 
outstanding Advances remain in line with revised 
forecasts, and losses in 2022, including wind-down 
costs, are £100k better than expected, totalling 
£2.8m. 

During this time, we also carried out a cost reduction 
programme across the Group. This involved a 
thorough review of all our cost base, and the 
implementation cost-reduction measures that 
included reducing headcount. We believe these 
actions were necessary to secure the long-term 
sustainability of the Company and to ensure that 
we can continue to deliver value to our shareholders 
and wider stakeholder community.

* Source : Tech EU. Working its magic, code refactoring platform Sourcery closes $1.75 million in seed funding 
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Financial performance 
The Fair Value of Forward's venture portfolio (the 
gross value of the Group's investments in the funds 
before deductions for carried interest liability) as at 
31 December 2022 was £80.0m (31 December 2021: 
£117.1m), a decline of 39.0% over the period, exclusive 
of realisations and new investments. These results  
are a slight improvement on our guidance at the half 
year and signify a slowing in the rate of decline from 
23.9% in the first half to 15.1% in the second half.

Realisations during 2022 were £1.1m from the third-
party exit of digital product agency Somo and 
disposal of Forward’s holding in online car retailer 
Cazoo Group Limited.

As stated in the half-year report, macroeconomic 
challenges have driven a decline in the valuations  
of our portfolio companies. The decrease in Fair 
Value was primarily due to the compounding 
effect of stock market headwinds, lengthening 
time between rounds, and the increased impact 
of liquidation preferences at lower valuations 
(liquidation preferences favour later stage investors). 
As the market improves these factors will unwind 
and the compounding effect will work in our favour.  
A more comprehensive explanation is provided in 
the Financial Review section of this report.

Portfolio review
In the first half of 2022, many VCs, including 
Forward, advised their portfolio companies  
to reduce their burn rate and extend their cash 
runways, whilst organising internal rounds to  
ensure portfolios were resilient to a downturn.  
As a result we now have a portfolio where the vast 
majority are strong businesses right-sized for the 
current environment. 

Over 82% have 18 months or more cash runway, are 
anticipated to reach break-even without further 
fundraising, or are already profitable. They are 
growing fast and ready to seek investment and 
accelerate when the time is right. We are pleased to 
report that our top 15 portfolio investments by Fair 
Value delivered a weighted average revenue growth 
of 144% over the course of 2022. 

Through 2022, Forward Ventures invested in 23 
businesses, deploying a total of £9.7m in follow-on 
and new investments.

Follow-on investments 
This year, we focused on providing further support to 
the frontrunners in our portfolio, making 20 follow-
on investments. Forward’s endorsement unlocked 
further capital for our portfolio - over 7 times the 
amount we put in  during this period. We deployed a 
total of £7.3m in 2022 with our companies ultimately 
raising £54.7m.

Key follow-on investments include: 
Gravity Sketch (gravitysketch.com): a platform 
revolutionising collaboration and design in 3D and 
virtual reality, raised a $33m Series A led by Accel 
finalised in February 2022 and announced publicly 
in April. A valuation uplift of £6.7m was recorded in 
2021 when the deal was agreed, in accordance with 
our valuation policy. Forward participated with a 
further £0.7m and has supported Gravity Sketch 
since leading their pre-seed round in 2014. We’re 
excited to see their continued growth, with this new 
round of funding as Gravity Sketch passes 100,000 
users, including product design teams at firms like 
Adidas, Reebok, Volkswagen and Ford.

Robin AI (robinai.co.uk): is a legal-tech company that 
combines generative AI with a team of world-class 
legal professionals to radically improve the speed 
and reduce the cost of agreeing contracts. In 2022, 
Forward invested £0.25m into Robin as part of an 
£8.5m round announced post-period - led by Plural, 
the VC co-founded by Taavet Hinrikus - co-founder 
and ex-Chairman of Wise, with further participation 
from Forward, Episode 1 and angel investors 
including Tom Blomfield - ex CEO and President of 
Monzo. Forward has been an investor since 2019.

New investments
In 2022, Forward’s Investment Team considered 
4,672 investment opportunities, met with 543  
of these and progressed 70 to the final stages of 
assessment. Despite the economic downturn,  
the quality of these deals has remained high. 

In the period Forward invested £2.4m into three new 
companies, which was below our normal investment 
rate of four to eight new deals a year. 

We aimed for four new deals in 2022 and were 
disappointed to end the year having only secured 
three, although it's worthy of note that we ended the 
year with a further term sheet outstanding.

Post period Forward's pace of investment is ahead 
of target with one new deal closed and a further two 
at term sheet stage.

New investments in 2022: 
Baselime (baselime.io): a DevOps platform that 
helps engineering teams to build and debug 
serverless applications faster. We invested £0.4m 
into Baselime as part of the company's £1.5m round, 
led by Arc, Sequoia's fund for outlier founders.

Sonrai (sonraianalytics.com): an analytics platform 
that leverages AI to speed up drug and healthcare 
developments, empowering researchers to cleanse, 
manage and analyse disparate data sources faster 
and cheaper than ever before. We invested £1.0m 
into Sonrai, as part of the company's £2.2m round, 
alongside Techstart Ventures.

Dines (dines.co.uk): a hospitality management 
company whose 'Hospitality Operating System' 
product enables businesses to run their operations 
through a single, powerful, omnichannel platform.

New investments post period: 
Vision Funding (visionfunding.co.uk): Forward 
Partners invested £200k via a Convertible Loan 
Note (CLN) in Vision’s pre-seed round. The company 
is building a platform that helps car dealers to 
connect buyers with the right motor finance for  
their needs.

Over 82% of our portfolio have  
18 months or more cash runway, 
are anticipated to be on the  
path to break-even without 
further fundraising, or are  
already profitable. 

They are growing fast and ready 
to seek investment and accelerate 
when the time is right.
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Market context
The UK ecosystem is in good shape
UK startup investment has been steadily increasing 
for many years now. Despite funding levels 
decreasing in 2022 from the outlier figures of 2021, UK 
startups raised $30 billion1 - marking it as the second-
largest year on record. In the medium term, it’s clear 
that the trend is up: over two years by 72%, and over 
five years by more than 300%2. We have the largest 
investment ecosystem in terms of enterprise value 
in Europe and in 2022, ranked as the third country 
globally for startup investment3. The UK drives a 
virtuous cycle of talent attraction, startup inception, 
investment deal flow, and economic growth. We 
expect the market as a whole to make a rapid 
recovery when investor confidence returns.

The UK is home to a pool of great  
tech talent
It’s not just funding that makes the UK ecosystem 
a magnet for startups. It’s also the UK's thriving 
community of experienced founders, leaders and 
skilled technical talent.  Encouragingly, there is more 
experienced talent able to navigate a downturn 
in the UK than ever before: in a recent survey of 
startups across the UK 55% of founders and 59% 
of leaders reported multi-generational startup 
experience and 62%4 of companies surveyed have at 
least one founder or C-Level leader with prior down 
cycle experience. 

Investors wait in the wings with plenty  
of dry powder
UK investors hold substantial committed but 
uninvested capital. Between 2020 and 2022, VCs 
based in the UK accumulated more than $20 billion 
in dry powder, with a record-breaking year in 2022. 

Some of the largest investment firms globally have 
set up new funds or expanded their presence in 
London over the past year. Noteworthy funds 
established in London include Northzone's $1bn 
early-stage fund, Atomico's $650m European 
investment fund, and Phoenix Court's $500m fund, 
whose funds include LocalGlobe and Latitude.  
As market confidence improves, we expect VCs  
to prioritise businesses that can demonstrate 
financial strength, agility, and capital efficiency, 
which will be a good fit with our portfolio.

ChatGPT: heralding a new wave  
of innovation
Periodically we see moments that spark massive 
excitement in the startup ecosystem and venture 
capital industry. ChatGPT’s recent release was one 
of those, delivering a leap in the public’s awareness 
of AI and its potential to disrupt the status quo. This 
development is likely to strengthen the tailwinds to 
the tech ecosystem, further accelerate the pace of 
change, increase the adoption of AI and usher in a new 
wave of startups and funding. The speed of take-up by 
entrepreneurs has been something to behold. Many 
refer to this as the “iPhone moment for AI” in reference 
to how significant the release of the first iPhone in 2007 
was for the development of the mobile internet.

Applied AI has been a focus area for Forward for over 
five years now and in many ways the large language 
models that sit behind ChatGPT and generative AI 
more generally are best understood as an evolution 
of the machine learning technologies we have been 
investing in for some time. Hence we believe we are 
well placed to both help existing portfolio companies 
adapt their strategies to take full advantage of services 
offered by the emerging platforms in this space, and 
to make investments in new companies that leverage 
their capabilities.

Web3 matures
Meanwhile, we have retained our focus on Web3 
even as many investors have shifted their attention 
elsewhere. We began focusing on this area last year 
because blockchain technologies were beginning 
to be used for real-world use cases and that trend 
continues, largely unaffected by the shift in market 
sentiment. We are starting to call it “applied Web3”. 
I’m happy to say that we have recently signed terms 
with what looks likely to become our first Web3 
investment. 

It’s notable that both Web3 and AI have recently 
seen big shifts in popularity with entrepreneurs 
and investors whilst our interest has been more 
constant, driven as it is by developments in enabling 
technologies and long-term trends in customer 
behaviour, rather than market sentiment.

Outlook 
We find ourselves in a period of high economic 
uncertainty. While preparing this report, we’ve 
seen an ongoing banking crisis and unprecedented 
volatility in investor confidence. That makes this a 
challenging time to write an outlook statement.

Despite the uncertainty and the challenges it brings  
we remain confident that we will return to Fair Value 
growth before long. Our portfolio remains strong 
and the ever-increasing pace of change continues 
to drive value from large companies to startups, 
providing a great tailwind for our investments and 
for venture capital as an asset class more widely. 
As noted above, most of the key companies in our 
portfolio are enjoying good growth and have ample 
cash reserves. We continue to deploy capital and 
expect to reach at least the lower boundary of  
our usual run rate of four to eight new investments 
this year.

We are impatient to get back to growth, but we are 
dependent on investor confidence and it is hard to 
predict how fast market sentiment will recover.

In the immediate term, we’re mindful that these are 
still challenging times. On the one hand we expect 
some near-term valuation upside from revenue 
growth in our portfolio, but on the other hand 
fundraising may be difficult for some companies in 
our portfolio. At the beginning of 2023, there were 
signs that confidence amongst venture capitalists 
was improving. That took a knock when Silicon 
Valley Bank collapsed. This factor coupled with 
macroeconomic headwinds may lead to further 
downgrades at individual portfolio companies.  
Koyo is at risk, as it has appointed advisors to help 
secure their future. If a satisfactory outcome cannot 
be achieved the worst case for Forward is a full 
write down. 

Looking further ahead, as the macro-economic 
picture stabilises we expect VC markets to open up 
again. With increased investor confidence comes 
further follow-on funding rounds which companies 
in our portfolio will use to increase investment in 
growth and accelerate value creation. This will serve 
as a catalyst for portfolio growth and an increase 
in our Fair Value. The good news is that there are 
plenty of VCs with funds to invest who so we expect 
this to happen quickly when the markets recover.

 

Nic Brisbourne 
CEO

3 May 2023

Source 1 :  DealRoom, February 2023  | Source 2 :  State of European Tech 2022  |  Source 3 : UK Gov  |  Source 4 : DealRoom, February 2023
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Our portfolio remains strong and 
the ever-increasing pace of change 
continues to drive value from large 
companies to startups, providing a 
great tailwind for our investments 
and for venture capital as an asset 
class more widely.
Nic Brisbourne
CEO
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We believe that venture can work harder for 
founders, reap superior results for investors, and 
increase the odds of transforming great ideas  
into world-changing businesses. That’s why we’re 
there for our founders, sleeves rolled, ready to  
take on the world with them.  

We’re wise 
We’re considered in how we apply our 
character and skills to our decisions. 
We’re always learning and growing – 
getting smarter but staying humble. 
We believe it’s the best way to build 
an investment business. 

We’re bold
We take brave decisions, backing young, 
unproven companies to reach their potential. 
It allows us to be on the forefront of change, 
catching and shaping developments in 
technology and startup investment early.

We’re caring 
We care deeply about our founders, our 
people and our stakeholders. We’re driven 
to do the right thing and believe that it 
makes good business sense too.   

Our character
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SWEDEN 
$5.6BN

UK 
$29.9BN

GERMANY 
$11.7BN

NL 
$3.7BN

FRANCE 
$15.1BN

SPAIN 
$3.6BN

IRE 
$2.1BN

ITALY 
$1.7BN

AUSTRIA 
$1.3BN

BELGIUM 
$1.8BN

The UK startup ecosystem continued  
to lead the way in Europe in 2022.

In 2022, the UK had the top ranking in Europe and the third-
highest ranking globally for startup investment, which is a first. It 
also became the third country in the world to reach the startup 
enterprise value milestone of $1Tn2, behind only the US and China.3

The UK's thriving ecosystem continues to attract experienced 
founders, skilled technical talent, and top technology investors. Its 
position provides a moat that makes it more resilient and better 
equipped to navigate adverse conditions than ever before.

The number of companies starting out and going on 
to raise initial rounds at pre-seed or seed stage has 
increased more than 17x since 2010.5

The UK maintained its position in Europe  
and emerged as a global leader. 

A mature ecosystem with the right 
conditions for growth. 

The UK’s pipeline of promising early-stage 
companies has never been stronger. 

Sources : 1-3. UK tech sector retains #1 spot in Europe and #3 in world as sector resilience brings continued growth. Gov.uk  |  4 Slush via via State of European Tech 2022  |  5. DealRoom via State of European Tech 2022  |  Country Data Source: DealRoom

#3

62%

8X

UK global ranking for 
VC investment in 2022.1

Of UK startup companies 
have talent with prior  
downcycle experience.4

Increase in initial rounds  
over the last decade.
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UK venture investment dropped in 2022  
but the long-term trend remains highly positive.

Venture investment hit a record high in 2021  
but dropped by 31% in 2022.

Despite this decline, UK startups managed  
to secure $30B in funding in 2022, marking  
the second-highest year on record.1

Source : 1 and Graph Source : DealRoom, 2023
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Many non-traditional investors are exiting the VC market

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Median pre-money valuation growth (%) by stage, 2018 to 2022

1400

1200

1000

800

600

400

200

0

Seed A B CDeal Value

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2018

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2019

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2020

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2021

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2022

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2020

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2021

Q.1 Q.2 Q.3 Q.4

2022

%
 v

al
ua

tio
n 

gr
ow

th

$ 
B

n

2022 saw non-traditional investors exit  
the VC market and an adjustment in valuations.

In recent years, non-traditional investors, including corporate venture arms, private equity 
firms, and hedge funds, have entered the venture capital space looking for short-term gains. 
Many of these players dramatically scaled back investment activity in 2022.

Non-traditional investor deal participation  
trends down by 36% in 2022.  

Graph Source 1 : PitchBook, 2022  |  Graph Source 2 : Tech Nation, a year in review 2022

Frothy public markets and intense competition in 2021 drove valuations to an all-time  
high across all stages of venture investment. Stages closest to public markets saw  
the largest valuation increases. As public markets corrected in 2022 these later-stage  
private investments were the first to see large valuations drops. By the end of the year,  
VC valuations across all stages were impacted.

Valuations adjusted in the second half of 2022,  
hitting later stage investments hardest.  
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When the market recovers UK venture is poised for 
rapid recovery.

Throughout 2022, startups focused on building resilience and enhancing capital efficiency. 
Investors at all levels collaborated with founders to adapt their plans, placing greater emphasis 
on preserving runway than on pursuing growth. While it remained feasible to secure a full round 
of funding, many founders opted to raise supplementary capital as extensions to their existing 
rounds. As a result, the ecosystem now features a set of lean companies with robust balance 
sheets and optionality, ready to navigate the period and bide their time for a round.

Between 2020 and 2022, VCs based in the UK accumulated more than $20 billion in 
dry powder1. A significant portion of these funds is likely still un-invested, as market 
challenges prompted many investors to curtail their deal-making, especially in later-
stage companies. The amount of available capital in the market is encouraging, and we 
anticipate that as market confidence improves, VCs will prioritise investing in businesses 
that can demonstrate financial strength, agility, and capital efficiency. 

The UK is home to a cohort of lean, capital efficient 
startups who are impatient to accelerate growth. 

UK investors wait with good capital reserves, ready  
to invest when the markets improve. 

Source 1 : dealroom.co data, Feb 2023  |  Graph Source 1 : stateofeuropeantech.com  |  Graph Source 2 : dealroom.co data, Feb 2023  
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Confidence in venture’s long-term  
upside remains high.
 

Graph Source : Cambridge Associates via stateofeuropeantech.com

Venture Capital is considered to hold strong potential  
for early recovery from the recent downturn.
Cambridge Associates, a global investment firm recognised for its benchmarks and analysis,  
predicted a poor 2022, but forecast their VC index for Europe to recover quickly, whilst outperforming 
comparative benchmarks for Private equity and Public equities in Europe across all time horizons. 

Within the sector, fund investor confidence remains high. The 2022 State of European Tech report  
outlined that 82% of LPs have not changed their outlook on European VCs due to the macro environment,  
and 93% of LP respondents in the survey plan to maintain or increase their allocation in 2023.
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Strategic priorities
Our mission is to build the UK's leading and most 
admired early-stage venture firm. For entrepreneurs, 
that means being their first choice for funding. 
For investors, it means nurturing a reputation for 
sustained long-term shareholder value creation.  
To deliver it, the Group focused on three key priorities 
in 2022. 

1. BUILDING AND NURTURING A WORLD-CLASS PORTFOLIO.  

We invest our capital and expertise into 4-8 new  
high-potential, early-stage technology companies  
per year;  as well as deploying further capital into  
companies in which we already hold equity and  
know well. 

2. PROVIDING FORWARD-THINKING CAPITAL. 

We believe that supporting our companies as  
they grow creates better outcomes. We provide  
our investments with guidance and support from  
our Studio team and access to a community  
of founders and startup specialists. 

3. STRENGTHENING FOR SCALE. 

Our expert team, rigorous processes, good  
governance and leading brand put us in a  
strong position to scale when the time is right. 
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1. Building and nurturing a world-class portfolio.
We drive growth by investing our capital and expertise into high-potential,  
early-stage technology companies, building a focused but diversified portfolio.

2022 REVIEW

A focus on portfolio strength. In 2022, we 
worked to ensure that our portfolio companies 
had strong economics and a cash runway 
suitable to navigate the coming period. 
Throughout the year, portfolio companies 
completed 29 rounds raising a total of £54.7m. 
Our Top 15 portfolio investments by Fair Value, 
also demonstrated strong growth, with an 
average revenue increase of 144%1. At 31 
December 2022, 82% of our Top 15 were either 
profitable, anticipated to be on the path to 
break even without the need for further fund-
raising, or held 18 months or more cash runway. 

A pragmatic approach to new investments.  
Throughout the year, Forward’s Investment 
Team assessed 4,672 opportunities, meeting 543 
and ultimately investing in 3 new companies.  
The team focused on businesses leveraging 
applied AI and marketplace operating models. 
Opportunities within Web3 were also explored, 
particularly where blockchains can be applied 
to real-world use cases using business models 
we know well. 

2023 OUTLOOK

Our focus remains on portfolio performance.  
We expect macroeconomic headwinds to continue 
into 2023. Despite these conditions, revenue growth 
is expected to continue at the majority of our  
Top 15 companies. We believe that these young, 
agile companies are well-positioned to succeed 
through this period, and come out of it leaner, 
stronger and on a path to market leadership.  
Our Investment Team closely monitor their progress 
and provide advice to maximise their potential.

Deploying capital into promising businesses.  
Our Investment Team continues to explore and 
evaluate potential investments in the early-stage  
technology market, with a goal to invest in 4 new 
companies in 2023. We anticipate the need to 
support our existing portfolio companies through 
follow-on investments, and consider  
each investment opportunity carefully.   

We continue to investigate the potential of  
Web3 technology. 
In 2022, we announced an evolution of our 
investment strategy, moving away from 
eCommerce in favour of companies leveraging 
Web3 technologies. Forward’s Investment 
Team assessed a number of high-potential deals 
throughout the year and consider Web3 to hold 
good promise. In 2023, the team will continue to 
engage with the Web3 startup community and 
assess prospective investments.

Investments were approached with heightened 
caution: the team paid particular attention 
to financial fundamentals - including business 
economics, cash reserves and burn rate - 
stringently screening candidates to understand 
their ability to negotiate the challenging market 
conditions. 

Capital deployed into new and existing 
businesses.  
Forward invested in a total of 23 companies in 
2022, deploying £9.7m. As market headwinds 
built through the year, our Investment Team put 
a strong emphasis on ensuring our top portfolio 
companies had the funding in place to navigate 
the period. We invested in 3 new companies, 
totalling £2.4m and made 20 follow-on 
investments totalling £7.3m unlocking over seven 
times that capital in the year for our portfolio 
companies.

1 Average revenue growth weighted by Fair Value. 

** Management estimates as of 3 May 2023. These are based on portfolio company forecasts and assume no further material  
deterioration in the economy or public technology stocks that the Company utilises in comparable valuations. Revenue growth average weighted  
by the Fair Value of portfolio companies at 31 December 2022. The Top 15 is subject to change at the publication of the full-year results.
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2. Providing forward-thinking capital.
We offer founders capital that’s more supportive because we believe that it leads to better outcomes. 
Once we’ve invested, we provide expert guidance, hands-on support from our Studio Team  
and a collaborative community of founders and startup specialists. 

2022 REVIEW

Building portfolio resilience. Throughout 2022, 
Forward’s Investment Team worked closely 
with key portfolio companies to strengthen 
their financial foundations and develop 
strategies for long-term stability. This included 
providing both support and participation in 
follow-on rounds to unlock additional capital. 
Throughout the period, Forward invested 
£7.3m into follow-on rounds where the total 
raised was £54.7m. 

Venture investments prioritised, Advances 
wound down. On 24 August 2022, Forward 
announced its decision to conduct a managed 
wind-down of our subsidiary Forward Advances. 
The start-up venture was established in 2020 to 
meet the demand of the fast-growing alternative 
funding market, separate to venture capital. 
We continually review our business against our 
primary objective to create long-term sustainable 
shareholder value and judged that the challenges 
in the macroeconomic environment and the low 
margins necessary for Advances to compete in 
this market held limited opportunities for future 
growth. The capital conserved from winding 
down Advances will be utilised by the Group to 
invest in new technology businesses with strong 
fundamentals and existing portfolio companies 
that we know and trust.

Supporting portfolio growth through our Studio. 
We continued to deliver more than money to 
our portfolio companies through our Studio in 
2022. Key activity included product and growth 
sprints for Clustermarket; a brand sprint for 
Sourcery; support for FY! as they raised their 
next round, and a host of talent acquisition 
projects. As the year progressed, it became 
clear that many portfolio companies faced 
challenges when recruiting top talent. We saw 
this as a significant opportunity for the Studio to 
add value and accelerate growth. In response, 
the Studio team developed its offerings and 
established a dedicated team to help portfolio 
companies recruit top talent more efficiently. In 
the final quarter of 2022, the Studio recruited 
three roles with a further eight starting in early 
2023. In the final quarter of 2022, the Studio 
recruited 3 roles with a further 8 in early 2023. 
The team received a customer satisfaction 
score of 4.8 out of 5 from portfolio founders. 

2023 OUTLOOK

We continue to monitor market conditions 
and support portfolio performance. We 
anticipate that the macroeconomic headwinds 
will persist in 2023. Forward’s Investment team 
closely monitor the market and performance of 
our key portfolio companies to understand the 
challenges they face in this environment.

The team provide strategic support at board 
level, and our Studio is also available to help them 
overcome specific challenges as required.

Network and knowledge development.  
Our Marketing and Studio Teams continue to 
provide valuable content and events for our 
portfolio companies, delivering expert insights 
from within our organisation and from selected 
specialist partners. These offerings focus on talent 
and growth and are designed to help founders 
accelerate their success by developing effective 
strategies and executing them more efficiently. 
We believe that these resources provide a strong 
benefit to our portfolio.

Evolving our Studio offer.  
We understand that people grow businesses and 
finding the right people for a startup in the early 
years is one of the key determinants of success.  
Building on the successful launch of the Studio’s talent 
offer in 2022, in 2023 we look to extend the support 
we provide to the portfolio, focusing on senior roles 
that hold the greatest growth impact. The Studio 
continues to create a positive impact for the portfolio 
and provides a strong differentiator that helps 
Forward to win deals.
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We're building a company ready for scale, founded on the fundamentals of an expert team,  
best-practice process, good governance and a market-leading brand.

3. Strengthening for scale.

2022 REVIEW

Strengthening our team, processes and controls.  
In 2022, we placed a strong focus on 
improving our core processes and controls. 
To aid this effort, we enlarged our Finance 
Team and made notable advancements in 
areas including operations, reporting, and 
compliance. Furthermore, we aimed to improve 
our team culture by reinforcing our positive, 
inclusive, and performance-focused values. 
We implemented performance measures to 
increase accountability, while also increasing 
transparency and cooperation among teams. 
We believe that a thriving culture is essential for  
our ongoing growth.

Building a strong portfolio. 
We continued to build a portfolio of companies 
to maximise potential returns whilst minimising 
concentration risk. Our investment strategy 
involves creating a diverse portfolio of firms  
that use a variety of business models and  
address challenges across multiple industries  
at different levels of development. Among them, 
many of our top 15 companies demonstrated 
strong performance.

We paid close attention to these companies 
through the period to ensure they remained 
resilient and well-positioned to take advantage of 
growth opportunities as the economy recovers.

Developing our investor brand.  
We believe that our reputation as a leading 
investor is key to our future success. Through 
this period, we built awareness of Forward 
within the investment community by delivering 
an integrated programme of communications, 
events and PR. New activity included leveraging 
additional platforms to engage investors such as 
Investor Meet Company; an extended roadshow 
programme to meet a wide pool of analysts 
and investors, and our first in-person ‘meet the 
portfolio’ event. Forward gained coverage and 
placed opinion in the general media, including 
the Financial Times, Sunday Times and City AM, 
as well as targeted trade press including Private 
Equity Wire, Shares Magazine and Real Deals.

2023 OUTLOOK

A focus on team, talent and performance.  
We continue to improve the performance of our 
team in order to maximise long-term shareholder 
value. Our mission is to build the UK’s leading and 
most admired early-stage venture firm, and our 
culture is founded upon our shared purpose to give 
founders their best shot at success.  We believe 
we have the right team in place to deliver strong 
returns as market conditions change, and we are 
committed to developing and retaining our talented 
team members to ensure that is possible.

Delivering best practice.  
The market uncertainty experienced in 2022 
reinforced the importance of monitoring market 
conditions and making swift, well-informed 
decisions based on the available information. In 
2023, we will continue to stay attuned to market 
trends and aim to provide our portfolio companies 
with industry-leading guidance as they grow.

Building our position in the market.  
We will continue to increase the visibility and 
recognition of our brand. To achieve this, we 
will actively engage with the startup ecosystem 
through marketing, public relations, and 
events, with the goal of attracting high-quality 
deal flow and referrals. We also anticipate 
making additional investments in our investor 
communications to provide more opportunities 
for investors and analysts to engage with 
Forward and learn about our growing portfolio.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 23FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  STRATEGIC REPORT



Our KPIs
We assess our operational performance through a 
set of financial and non-financial metrics.

These metrics help the Board and Senior Management 
assess performance against our strategic priorities of 
building and nurturing a world-class portfolio, providing 
forward-thinking capital and strengthening for scale.

 

They include non-GAAP measures – alternative 
performance measures (APMs) that are not bound 
by the requirements of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Figures for 1 January – 31 December 2022,  
unless otherwise stated.

Portfolio Fair Value

£80.0m 4,672

Definition: Portfolio Fair Value is the gross value of the Group’s 
investments in the funds before deductions for carried  
interest liability.

In 2022, Forward’s portfolio Fair Value was impacted by market 
headwinds, particularly by the public market comparables that 
we use to value our portfolio companies. We continue to see 
good momentum and revenue growth at many of our portfolio 
companies.

↓ 39.0% decline 
excluding value of realisations and new investments

↑ 10% ↑ 12%

Capital deployed Deal flow 

£9.7m

Definition: Capital deployed describes the amount of capital 
invested into both new and existing portfolio companies.   

In 2022, Forward deployed £9.7m into 23 companies through 
new and follow-on investments. We remain confident that our 
portfolio holds the products and financial fundamentals required 
to navigate the difficult economic climate and pivot to faster 
growth as the economy recovers. 

Definition: Deal flow describes the total number  
of deals screened by the Ventures team.     

In 2022, the Investment Team saw a significant number of  
high-quality potential investments in addition to follow-on 
investment opportunities from within our portfolio.  

Financial KPIs 

2021: £117.1m 2021: 4,1622021: £8.8m

The above figures contain APMs. The APMs that we use may not be directly comparable with those used by other companies. 
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Studio team customer satisfaction 

96%

Definition: Studio team customer satisfaction (CSAT) score 
describes the average rating provided by Studio team 
customers on a scale of 1 (very unsatisfied) to 5 (very satisfied).   

In 2022, the Studio Team delivered a range of projects for our 
portfolio. Key activity included product and growth sprints for 
Clustermarket, a brand sprint for Sourcery, support for FY! as 
they raised their next round and a number of talent acquisition 
mandates. 

Employee happiness Deal flow diversity 

76%

Definition: Employee happiness is defined as the percentage of 
employees who state in monthly surveys that working at Forward 
makes them happy. 

In 2022, our Board and Management Team continued to focus 
on creating an environment that gives our people the freedom 
to operate within our values and create conditions in which they 
can thrive through collaboration, recognition and support.   

Definition: Deal flow diversity describes the gender and ethnicity 
split of all deals that reach the ‘first meeting’ stage of our Ventures 
investment process.  

In 2022, the Forward Investment Team saw a decline in 
reported deal flow diversity. This decline is attributed to changes 
in measurement methodology rather than the makeup of the 
cohort. Throughout the year, increased emphasis was applied to 
encourage founders from ethnic minorities and female founders, 
particularly through partnership activity. Further details can be 
found on this in the sustainability section of this report. 

Non-financial KPIs 

The above figures contain APMs. 

←→ 0%

2021: 80% 2021: 78% 2021: 34% female, 32% ethnic minorities

22%25%
↓ 3% ↓ 27%          ↓ 31%

female ethnic minorities
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How we invest 
OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We seek investments into high-potential, early-stage 
technology companies. Investing early not only means 
great deals on equity. It means we can roll up our 
sleeves and get involved right from the start, where 
we can make the biggest impact in supporting our 
businesses to grow.

1
 
A HIGHLY FOCUSED 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY.

Our investment strategy centres on 
three technology-based operating 
models that have the potential  
for scalability: Applied AI, 
Marketplaces, and Web3.

2
 
INVESTING EARLY AND 
BACKING THE BEST. 

We specialise in pre-seed and seed-
stage investments within these  
areas, backing teams and products 
with promise and momentum.  
We participate in follow-on rounds, 
continuing to back the best.

3
 
SUPERCHARGING 
GROWTH. 

We provide support right from  
the start of our investment. We  
roll up our sleeves, helping founders 
on the ground and at board level, 
through strategic advice and  
expert execution.
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1. A highly focused investment strategy.

APPLIED AI  
AI, including generative AI, has the potential  
to transform industries, by enabling new 
business models, unlocking efficiency and 
creating value. We invest in companies  
applying AI to solve complex problems,  
improve customer experiences and  
unlock efficiencies.

WEB3
Web3 is a new iteration of the internet 
where applications are decentralised 
and run on blockchain technology. 
We are exploring investments 
into companies that enable their 
customers to leverage Web3 
technology quickly and efficiently. 

MARKETPLACES   
Marketplace businesses have the power 
to increase transparency, efficiency and 
build trust between buyers and sellers. 
We invest in platforms that distinguish 
themselves with innovative tech and 
highly scalable business models.

Key investment focus in 2022

Forward invests venture capital into early-stage 
companies that leverage operating models with 
potential for great returns.Our investment strategy 
is thesis-driven and utilises a number of proprietary 
and best-practice frameworks to evaluate potential 
investments. 
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2. Investing early and backing the best.

Investment: 
In 2023 we are targeting 4-8 investments 
into ambitious new companies, whilst 
continuing to support portfolio companies 
we know and trust.

First meetings: 
Approximately 1 in 10 of the deals assessed 
are progressed to first meeting. In this 
session, an investor will seek to understand 
the company, team and market 
opportunity. 

Deals screened:  
Our Ventures Team screen every application, 
picking out only the best to progress to a  
first meeting.

Follow-on investments

4–8

40+

400

4,000+

In-depth assessment: 
Approximately 1 in 10 of the first meetings 
are progressed to an in-depth assessment. 
At this stage, a company is thoroughly 
assessed using a range of best-practice 
and proprietary frameworks before moving 
through further due-diligence.

We seek companies with the potential to scale 
and become attractive candidates for acquisition 
or IPO. 

We’ve built a strong and sustainable pipeline, 
sourcing potential deals through the Group’s 
extensive network; brand-driven inbound 
applications; accelerator programmes; 
partnerships and community engagement.

A proprietary pipeline  
of deals from strong teams 
with promising products.  
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EXIT 

We work with our portfolio 
companies to maximise their  
exit potential and become an 
attractive prospect for a strategic 
buyer or as an IPO.

Backing companies as they grow. 

We invest early on in a company’s development,  
then continue to back the best as they mature.  
It means we can drive growth from the very start, 
while building value over time, before an  
acquisition or IPO.  

For our investors, our strategy provides access to 
young, high-growth companies long before they  
enter public markets, capturing the highest rates 
of growth in their development and generating 
compounding returns over time.

INVEST EARLY 

Forward sources great deals and upside 
potential. We invest at an early stage, 
where valuations are lower and growth 
potential is higher.

GROW 

Once we have invested, we help our 
visionary founders to grow faster 
through expert guidance, support 
and a community to build with.

FOLLOW ON 

As our portfolio matures, we see 
standout companies emerging 
and more opportunities to invest in 
companies we already know  
and respect.
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3. Supercharging growth.
We believe that founders can build valuable companies 
faster with the right support. That’s why we provide it right 
from the start of our investment. Our approach brings 
together investors, growth experts and a community to 
improve the odds of success.

Forward thinking capital

EXPERT GUIDANCE

SPECIALISED GROWTH SERVICES

THOUGHT LEADERSHIP & SUPPORT

REDUCES RISK
INCREASES GROWTH

BUILDS A GREAT
PORTFOLIO

GENERATES GREAT
RETURNS

IMPROVES
OUTCOMES

ATTRACTS THE BEST
ENTREPENEURS
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EXPERT GUIDANCE  

Our investment team provide strategic advice 
founded on their deep experience as investors 
and entrepreneurs. We take board or observer 
seats where we can help support our portfolio 
companies to grow.

THOUGHT LEADERSHIP AND SUPPORT

Our community supports founders and 
operators to learn and grow. We bring founders 
together to inspire each other and the wider 
startup ecosystem. We deliver focused value to 
our portfolio through thought leadership, learning 
and development opportunities. Our events 
bring together business, technology and growth 
leaders to share, support and solve problems.

HANDS-ON GROWTH   

Our Studio offers expert support to drive 
growth. We provide in-depth knowledge 
and insight built through the delivery of more 
than 200 projects for portfolio companies in 
the last five years. Most recently, the Studio 
has focused on developing a talent sourcing 
capability, that helps our founders to grow by 
building a world-class team, faster.

How we support.
We offer founding teams support through our Venture and Studio teams.
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1. White  2. Asian / Asian British  3. Black / African / Caribbean / Black British  4. Mixed / Multiple ethnic groups  5. Other ethnic group

Finding outstanding founders with Funding Lab.
Our mission at Forward is  
to give founders their best shot  
at success. We believe that 
sharing our learnings and 
expertise with the broader 
founder community not only 
opens great conversations 
with potential investments, but 
it also puts us top of mind for 
future investment conversations. 
Funding Lab aims to provide 
more entrepreneurs with the 
information they need to progress 
their businesses, whilst growing 
the ecosystem as a whole. 

The Funding Lab programme 
To that end, in 2022, we launched a new, highly 
selective programme for founders, Funding Lab. 
An evolution of one of Forward’s previous founder 
initiatives, the programme is designed for founders 
who already have an initial version of their product 
and are looking to raise their first round from a VC. 

 

Diversifying dealflow 
Where many VCs favour referrals from their 
existing portfolio and trusted networks, we believe 
that ‘open’ programmes, that require no warm 
introductions, are important to level the playing field. 
Such initiatives provide opportunities to a wider, 
diverse pool of founder potential, whilst enabling us 
to find more stand-out entrepreneurs early in  
their journey. 

We received 300 founder applications for our first 
Funding Lab programme. To ensure that we had a 
strong, diverse pipeline of founder candidates for 
Funding Lab, we worked closely with a number of 
network partners:

• Universities, such as Imperial and London School  
of Economics, to find fresh talent  
and businesses with strong technical and  
scientific roots.

• Founder networks, including NEF and Spice 
Startups, to attract more founders from  
non-traditional backgrounds.

• Venture capital funds, like Capitalex and  
Bethnal Green ventures, to widen the net of 
potential founders in new and exciting sectors. 

• Specialist networks for under-represented 
founders, such as our existing partners Colorintech,  
to ensure that we attracted founders with a  
variety of ethnicities and backgrounds.

Accelerating progress 
Funding Lab comprised three key elements:  

• A full day of seminars and workshops at our 
London HQ, hosted by our team of VC investors 
and Studio team, as well as a Q&A session  
with the founders of our portfolio companies  
Up Learn and Silico. 

• 3 hours of one-on-one mentoring sessions  
with our VC investors to help the cohort apply  
the learning to their pitch decks and improve  
their investment narratives. 

• A final pitch event, where we invited the cohort 
back to pitch to our investment team, with each 
participant receiving feedback from our investors 
and the other members of the cohort.

The outcome 
We welcomed a diverse group of 12 entrepreneurs 
to Funding Lab in July 2022, who are building 
businesses across a range of B2B and B2C industries 
including Web3, construction, healthcare, childcare 
and hospitality. Of the 12 participants, our investors 
progressed 2 founders to a first meeting stage, the 
first step in our investment process, almost double 
our average rate of conversion. 

The feedback from our cohort was overwhelmingly 
positive with an overall attendee satisfaction score 
of 9.5 out of 10. 

SaaS
34%

White4

43%

Applications by technology type.Applications by ethnicity.

Other
19%

Marketplace
18%

Asian1 
24%

eCommerce
10%

Black2 
15%

Applied AI
10%

Mixed3 
10%

Web3
9%

Other5

8%
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Funding Lab was an amazing  
experience to be involved in.

We were part of a group made up of some brilliant start-ups and  
mentored by some of the best investors in their field at Forward Partners.  
In such a short space of time, there was a wealth of knowledge shared  
by investors and start-up founders alike. Knowledge and experience  
that will be carried through to what Orders Made Simple is doing now  
and into the future.

Stephen Scurr, Founder and CEO of Orders Made Simple

Funding Lab provided real, actionable  
pointers on how to go about structuring  
my pitch and fundraise.

I found the Funding Lab sessions incredibly helpful, and also  
appreciated the supportive and collegiate atmosphere among  
the Forward team and fellow founders!

Cherie Yang, Founder And CEO Of Visualist

Rated 9.5/10 by our last cohort 
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MARKETPLACE 

Companies leveraging marketplace 
dynamics and building technology to 
increase transparency, efficiency and build 
trust between buyers and sellers. 

Our portfolio at a glance

APPLIED AI 

Companies leveraging near-market AI 
technology to solve complex problems, 
improve customer experiences and  
uncover efficiency. 

ECOMMERCE 

Companies addressing demand for 
products, online purchasing and payments 
to build the next generation of eCommerce 
products and solutions.

OTHER TECH 

Companies leveraging technology 
to solve problems, create better 
customer experiences and improve 
operational efficiency.

34FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  STRATEGIC REPORT



Marketplace
29%

Other Tech
18%

eCommerce
13%

Applied AI
40%

Top 15
74%

Rest of Portfolio
26%

Portfolio Review

Our top companies 
are growing fast

At 31 December 2022, Forward Partners' portfolio 
consisted of 43 active companies.  

The Fair Value of Forward’s venture portfolio (the gross 
value of the Group's investments in the funds before 
deductions for carried interest liability) was £80.0m 
(December 2021: £117.1m), a decline of £45.7m or 39.0%, 
exclusive of new realisations and new investments. 

Additional movements in the year result from £1.1m in 
portfolio realisations (reducing the size of the portfolio) 
and new investments of £9.7m (increasing the size of the 
portfolio). The portfolio companies by valuation table 
provides further detail on the Fair Value movements 
within the portfolio.

Weighted average revenue  
growth of our top 15 holdings  

Our 15 largest holdings  
account for 73.6% of  

Portfolio Value

Portfolio Value is  
spread across a series  
of operating models 144%



Portfolio
Our portfolio has been constructed to maximise 
risk-adjusted returns by balancing upside potential, 
chance of failure, likely holding period and 
concentration risk.

Forward has historically invested into three key 
operating models: applied AI, marketplaces and 
eCommerce (recently replacing the latter with 
Web3). These represent 40%, 29% and 13% of 
the portfolio respectively at 31 December 2022. 
The top fifteen core holdings represent 73.6% of 
Ventures Portfolio Value with the largest holding, 
Gravity Sketch representing 10%.

At 31 December 2022, Forward Partners' portfolio 
core holdings (Top 15 by portfolio value) were 
Gravity Sketch, Robin, Spoke, Makers, OutThink, 
Ably, Apexx, Breedr, Juno, KoruKids, Snaptrip, 
Plyable, Koyo Loans, Silico and Patch.
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140m

105m

70m

40m

0m

Increase Decrease Total

Portfolio Value
31 Dec 2022

Fair Value at
30 Jun 2022

94.9

80.0

Fair Value at
31 Dec 2021

117.1

Fair value
change

(28.0)

Invested

3.4

Realised Fair value
change

(17.7)

RealisedInvested

(0.5)

(0.6)

6.3

Portfolio Value

Progression through 2022
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New investments
Current period to 31 December 2022

Baselime. Forward Partners invested £0.4m into 
serverless technology company Baselime as part of 
the company’s £1.5m round, led by Arc, Sequoia’s 
catalyst for outlier founders. 

Sonrai. Forward Partners invested £1.0m into 
Sonrai,   an analytics platform that leverages AI  
to speed up drug and healthcare developments 
as part of the company’s £2.2m round, alongside 
Techstart Ventures.

Dines. Forward Partners invested £1.0m into Dines, 
an omnichannel platform that powers operations for 
hospitality businesses.

Post period end

Vision Funding. Forward Partners invested £200k 
via a Convertible Loan Note (CLN) in Vision’s pre-
seed round. The company is building a platform that 
helps car dealers to connect buyers with the right 
motor finance for their needs. 

Follow-on investments
Current period to 31 December 2022

20 follow-on investments at promising existing 
portfolio companies totalling £7.3m. (Apexx, Breedr, 
Fy, Gravity Sketch, Highr, KoruKids, Koyo Loans, 
Lyvly, Makers, OutThink, Patch, Plyable, Robin AI, 
Silico and Spoke).

Investments
In the period from 1 January 2022  
to 31 December 2022, Forward Partners 
invested £9.7m of which £2.4m was 
invested in 3 new portfolio companies  
and £7.3m was invested into 20  
existing portfolio companies  
through follow-on rounds.

Realisations
The Group achieved two realisations in the period 
between 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 
totalling £1.1m.

Somo: Forward Partners realised £0.5m from the 
third-party exit of digital product agency Somo in 
the first half of 2022, representing a 1.5x return on 
the £0.3m of funds invested. The last reported fair 
value was £0.5m on 31 December 2021. 

Cazoo: Forward Partners disposed of 91% of its 
holding in online car retailer Cazoo Group Limited 
in July 2022, realising £0.6m. The remaining 9% 
holding was sold in August, realising less than £0.1m. 
Forward invested a total of £1.62m into the company, 
representing a return of 0.4x. The last reported fair 
value was £0.6m on 30 June 2022.
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Portfolio Comapny Fair Value  
at 31/12/21

Invested Realised Fair value 
change

Fair Value 
at 30/06/22

Invested Realised Fair value 
change

Fair Value 
at 31/12/22

Year-on-Year 
change

Year-on-Year 
change

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m %

Gravity Sketch 8.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 9.1 0.0 0.0 (1.5) 7.6 (0.8) (9.5)

Robin 4.7 0.9 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.3 0.0 0.3 6.2 1.5 31.9

Spoke 5.2 0.3 0.0 0.6 6.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.1 0.9 17.3

Makers 8.3 0.4 0.0 (2.9) 5.8 0.0 0.0 (0.7) 5.1 (3.2) (38.6)

OutThink 1.6 0.0 0.0 2.5 4.1 0.5 0.0 0.0 4.6 3.0 187.5

Ably 12.9 0.0 0.0 (8.8) 4.1 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 4.0 (8.9) (69.0)

Apexx 4.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.9 0.5 0.0 (1.8) 3.6 (1.1) (23.4)

Breedr 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 0.3 0.0 0.8 3.6 1.1 44.0

Juno 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 0.1 0.0 (1.1) 3.5 (1.0) (22.2)

KoruKids 3.9 0.5 0.0 0.0 4.4 0.0 0.0 (1.2) 3.2 (0.7) (17.9)

Snaptrip 5.0 0.0 0.0 (2.3) 2.7 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 2.6 (2.4) (48.0)

Plyable 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.7 2.1 0.3 0.0 (0.1) 2.3 1.1 91.7

Koyo Loans 3.3 0.5 0.0 2.0 5.8 0.5 0.0 (4.0) 2.3 (1.0) (30.3)

Silico 1.7 0.5 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.5 29.4

Patch 5.2 0.3 0.0 (3.0) 2.5 0.0 0.0 (0.6) 1.9 (3.3) (63.5)

Remaining Portfolio 44.0 1.8 (0.5) (16.8) 28.5 0.9 (0.6) (7.6) 21.2 (22.8) (51.8)

Portfolio Value 117.1 6.3 (0.5) (28.0) 94.9 3.4 (0.6) (17.7) 80.0 (37.1) (31.7)

Top 15 Portfolio Companies by Valuation
Figures shown below, including  
total investment, Portfolio Fair Value 
and illustrative return, are audited and 
correct as at 31 December 2022. 

The Top 15 investments cover 73.6%  
of the portfolio by Fair Value.
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Key
 New investment

 Follow on investment

 Realisation 

£0.5M £0.6M £0.1M

£0.5M £0.3M £1.0M£0.7M £0.5M £0.2M £0.5M

£0.4M £0.2M

£0.3M

£0.4M £1.0M£0.5M £0.3M £0.1M £0.1M£0.3M £0.1M

£0.9M

£0.3M

£0.5M£0.5M£0.3M

Investments and realisations timeline

January February March April May June July August September October November December
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10%10%

25%25%Rest of portfolioRest of portfolio

8%8%

8%8%

6%6%

6%6%

5%5%

5%5%

5%5%

4%4%

4%4%

3%3%

3%3%

3%3%

3%3%

2%2%

Fair Value 31/12/2022

1: There is a significant difference between the growth rates of these cohorts because (i) the composition of the Top 15 has changed 
and (ii) Robin AI grew exceptionally fast last year and is more heavily weighted in the average as its Fair Value has risen. We report 
average revenue growth weighted by Fair Value because in our opinion giving more weight to the more valuable companies gives the 
most accurate picture of the performance of the portfolio.

Meet the portfolio
Our Top 15 companies by value represented 
73.6%  of total Venture Portfolio Value at 
period end. The 2021 to 2022 weighted average 
revenue growth of our Top 15 companies at 31st 
December 2022 was 144% (the 2022 cohort). 
2021 to 2022 growth for the Top 15 in last year’s 
annual report (the 2021 cohort) was 77%.1

At the date of publication, 76% of the Top 
15 by Fair Value have eighteen months or 
more of cash runway or anticipate reaching 
profitability without further fundraising or  
are profitable.

The following section provides a short  
overview of these businesses, their progress 
and highlights from the year.
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Gravity Sketch
Gravity Sketch was founded in 2014 by Oluwaseyi Sosanya 
and Daniela Paredes. Their vision: to revolutionise the way 
physical products are designed, developed and brought to 
market. Today, the company is a leading innovator in the 
digital design industry, offering intuitive 3D design software 
for cross-disciplinary teams to create, collaborate, and 
review in an entirely new way, addressing a market worth an 
estimated $10bn in 2022. 

Recent news
• In April 2022, Gravity Sketch announced the completion  

of a $33m funding round. Forward participated with a 
further £0.7m in this Series A led by Accel alongside  
Google Ventures.

• In November 2021, Gravity Sketch launched LandingPad 
Collab, which allows users to create personalised spaces for 
real-time collaboration.

Robin AI 
Robin AI is a legal-tech company that combines software, 
generative AI, machine learning and a team of world-
class legal professionals, to deliver solutions to radically 
improve the speed and reduce the cost of agreeing simple 
contracts. Established in 2019 by Richard Robinson,  
Robin was developed on Richard's personal experiences  
as a lawyer.  

Recent news
• In February 2022, Richard Robinson was profiled  

in The Times, outlining the challenges that minority  
founders face. 

• Robin AI raised £2.5m in December 2021 in a seed 
extension round, with participation from the Softbank 
Emerge Program, Tom Blomfield (the founder of Monzo) 
and existing investors.

• In February 2023, the company announced a $10.5 million 
round led by Plural, the VC co-founded by Taavet Hinrikus 
- co-founder and ex-Chairman of Wise, with further 
participation from Forward, Episode 1 and angel investors 
including Tom Blomfield - ex CEO and President of Monzo. 
Forward has been an investor since 2019.

FD Category represents fully diluted interest shares categorised as follows:  
Cat A: 0-5%, Cat B: 6-10%, Cat C: 11-15%, Cat D: 16-25%, Cat E: >25%.

£1.9m
Total 

invested

£7.6m
Fair 

value

4.0x
Fair value/ 
investment

C
FD 

category

£1.7m
Total 

invested

£6.2m
Fair 

value

3.7x
Fair value/ 
investment

D
FD 

category

Spoke
Spoke is a direct-to-consumer eCommerce company 
that provides better-fitting, better-looking men's clothes. 
Established in 2013, the company has over 200,000 
customers to date. It has been featured in GQ and Esquire 
and holds a Trustpilot rating of 4.7/5.

Recent news
• In June 2022, Spoke completed a £5m crowdfunding 

round on Seedrs, deemed the platform’s largest campaign 
of the year.  

• In May 2021, Spoke announced a media-for-equity deal 
with ITV. Since then, the company has been advertising 
alongside major sporting events, news programmes, films 
and top drama shows, including The Six Nations, ITV News, 
James Bond and The Brit Awards.   

£2.5m
Total 

invested

£6.1m
Fair 

value

2.4x
Fair value/ 
investment

C
FD 

category
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From our first conversation, 
Luke Smith has been part of the 
journey and made the process 
transparent and straightforward. 
The conversations started with 
a common interest and a goal to 
enable better tech in healthcare.  
It then built from week to week  
on understanding our process, 
inroads made and the likelihood  
of a successful and scalable 
business. 
 

In May last year, Sonrai raised £2.2m in funding to 
accelerate the global adoption of its technology for 
the healthcare industry, led by Forward Partners 
and including existing institutional investors 
Techstart Ventures, Co-Fund NI (managed 
by Clarendon Fund Managers), QUBIS (the 
commercialisation arm of Queen’s University) and 
angel investors. In November, they announced a 
second fundraise from U.S health tech venture firm, 
Eckuity, to fuel their expansion into the U.S market. 

Sonrai founder and CEO, Darragh McArt holds  
a PhD in Bioinformatics and has worked in brain 
tumour research at Queen's University Belfast. He  
is collaborating on several ongoing clinical trials and 
has built and published extensively on platforms and 
AI methods in healthcare data analytics.

Why did you and the team  
develop Sonrai?  
In 2018, my fellow Co-Founder Deva and I believed 
that our data analytics platform could better meet 
the needs of modern pharma and biotech businesses 
looking to uncover their data's hidden value.

These are global organisations with teams often 
spread across the world, working collaboratively to 
analyse enormous datasets composed of multiple 
data types. More recently, they are beginning to 
look at the potential of using AI to accelerate their 
processes and maximise the value of their data. 
This data is generated by researchers in drug trials 
and other healthcare research contexts, leading to 
faster and more effective treatments for cancer and 
other diseases.

We help our clients to generate meaningful  
insights and hypotheses, leading to the discovery 
of novel therapies and biomarkers and improved 
patient responses.

Who's on the Sonrai team?
We have expert teams encompassing Data Science, 
Engineering, Innovation, Operations and Sales and 
Marketing. Our team includes experienced biologists, 
data scientists, bioinformaticians, software engineers, 
and imaging and diagnostic experts.  
To date, each of our customers has presented us  
with unique challenges, and it's because we have 
such a depth of experience in specialised areas that 
we ensure we get it right for them, the first time.

What's next for Sonrai  
with the new round of funding?
This investment enables us to expand our expert 
team to accommodate the increasing global demand 
for technologies that can drive precision medicine 
and improve patient outcomes. We are delighted to 
welcome Forward Partners to the board and feel 
their commercial insights will help drive the business 
to increased success. The new round solidifies the 
development of our core assets, and enhances our 
brand and awareness of the technology developed 
towards growing revenue. The development of 
IP’able assets from our AI work will continue, and we 
will widen our portfolio. The future is bright within this 
sphere as data continues to be generated at scale 
within this market and its importance to biotech and 
pharma companies in discovery and validation is 
more important than ever before.

Sonrai Analytics is working  
with global research leaders  
and industry powerhouses 
to enable and support truly 
life-changing advancements 
within healthcare analytics, 
bioinformatics, and precision 
medicine. The platform 
enables researchers to 
dramatically accelerate their 
progress through better data 
management and analysis.

Meet Darragh McArt, co-founder of Sonrai Analytics 
Empowering precision medicine through AI innovation
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Ably
Ably is a realtime platform that powers live and 
collaborative experiences. Established in 2016 by Matthew 
O'Riordan and Paddy Byers, the company is trusted by 
brands like HubSpot, Toyota, and Webflow to power 
shared live experiences including business-critical chat, 
order delivery tracking and document collaboration for 
millions of simultaneously connected devices around the 
world. Ably holds a rating  
of 4.7/5 on G2.

Recent news
• In May 2022, Ably released The State of Edge Messaging 

Report, which revealed that two-thirds of organisations 
with self-built real-time edge messaging infrastructure 
had experienced significant downtime in the past 12-18 
months.

• In February 2022, Ably announced the appointment of 
James Aley as Chief Technology Officer and Tim Buntel 
as Chief Product Officer.

• In June 2021, Ably announced a successful raise  
of $70m led by Insight Partners and Dawn Capital. 

FD Category represents fully diluted interest shares categorised as follows:  
Cat A: 0-5%, Cat B: 6-10%, Cat C: 11-15%, Cat D: 16-25%, Cat E: >25%.

OutThink
OutThink is the world’s first cybersecurity human risk 
management platform. Founded in 2019 by Flavius Plesu, 
the Company provides next-generation security awareness 
training to large and complex organisations across the world. 
It has been developed specifically to identify and measure 
human risk and affect behaviour change. OutThink holds a 
rating of 5/5 on Gartner.

Recent news
• In October 2022, the company announced the completion 

of a $10m round, led by AlbionVC. The company will use the 
funding to expand its leadership expertise and accelerate 
international distribution as its solution continues to gain 
market traction. 

• In June 2022, the company announced a partnership with 
QA to enhance its cybersecurity training portfolio.

• In March 2022, the company announced a partnership with 
RANt Group to enhance its cybersecurity training portfolio 
across UK and US markets. 

Makers
Makers is creating a new generation of tech talent by 
identifying high-potential career switchers who possess no 
background in tech, training them in software development,  
then placing them in industry-leading companies. Makers 
has trained 3000 people into junior software engineers and 
placed them in over 300 businesses, including Google, Tesco, 
Starling Bank, and the BBC. Makers hold a rating of 4.7/5 from 
customers on bootcamp review site SwitchUp.

Recent news
• Makers’ engineers are significantly more diverse than  

industry averages: 40% are female, 2x higher than the 
industry average and 40% are from unrepresented  
ethnic backgrounds. 

• In December 2022, the company announced the completion 
of a £7m round led by BGF. It will use the funding to expand its 
product offering and drive sustainable growth. 

• The company works with some of the world’s leading 
companies, including Meta, Google, Deloitte and Ford. 

£1.5m
Total 

invested

£5.1m
Fair 

value

3.4x
Fair value/ 
investment

E
FD 

category

£1.6m
Total 

invested

£4.6m
Fair 

value

2.9x
Fair value/ 
investment

D
FD 

category

£1.7m
Total 

invested

£4.0m
Fair 

value

2.3x
Fair value/ 
investment

B
FD 

category
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Apexx Global
Apexx's platform allows merchants to connect via a simple 
API to the world's payment ecosystem, increasing conversion 
at lower cost and powering digital payments. Established in 
2015 by Rodney Bain, Peter Keenan and Toreson Lloyd, the 
team has grown to 41 people working across 3 countries, 
serving clients that include ASOS, Avon, Xe, eShopworld and 
Air Seychelles.

Recent news
• Apexx now has over 120 integrated partners and operates 

across more than 70 countries.

• In June 2022, Apexx announced its partnership with Ryanair 
to transform payments ahead of the post-COVID travel 
boom.

• In January 2022, Apexx announced its entry into the US 
payment provider market. 

Juno
Juno brings together legal expertise with software and AI 
to offer conveyancing that’s clear, convenient and reliable. 
Established in 2017 by Etienne Pollard and Henry Hadlow, 
their vision is to make the legal side of home buying simpler, 
clearer and faster – and for Juno to become the UK’s 
largest and most trusted property law firm. The founders 
saw an opportunity in a fragmented, people-intensive legal 
and conveyancing sector. Their disruptive solution takes 
a data-driven approach to drive better, faster, and more 
cost-efficient services. It holds a Trustpilot rating of 4.8/5.

Recent news
• Juno launched the next iteration of its AI-enabled legal 

service to complete property purchases, targeting 
10x-faster-than-average completions. 

• The company also launched a new buy-to-let 
remortgaging product, targeting a 5x speed-up versus 
the industry average.

• LendInvest, the UK’s leading property finance platform, 
appointed Juno to their buy-to-let legal panel.

Breedr
Breedr is a platform that helps farmers to manage, buy 
and sell livestock. Founded in 2018 by Ian Wheal, their 
solution boosts efficiency, output and returns whilst 
reducing the carbon footprint of farms by up to 28%. Their 
solution has grown into a network of thousands of farmers 
with over half a million animals on the platform. 

Recent news
• In February 2022, Dunibia announced a partnership 

with FAI Farms and Breedr on a low-carbon beef 
demonstrator trial, including on-farm trials and a carbon 
footprinting programme with over 500 farmer suppliers. 

• In March 2022, Breedr announced a $16m Series A 
round led by Investbridge Capital, with participation 
from LocalGlobe and Forward Partners.

• In May 2022, the company announced that it had 
secured enterprise deals in UK and US markets.

FD Category represents fully diluted interest shares categorised as follows:  
Cat A: 0-5%, Cat B: 6-10%, Cat C: 11-15%, Cat D: 16-25%, Cat E: >25%.

£1.4m
Total 

invested

£3.6m
Fair 

value

2.5x
Fair value/ 
investment

C
FD 

category

£2.4m
Total 

invested

£3.5m
Fair 

value

1.5x
Fair value/ 
investment

D
FD 

category

£2.3m
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Q&A Meet Esha and Megha, Investors at Forward
Our investment team are the engine room at Forward. They uncover outstanding founder talent, deep dive  
into new trends, analyse the growth potential of the companies we meet and build long-lasting relationships  
with the founders in our portfolio.

Esha Vatsa  
Senior Investor at Forward 

Where were you before joining Forward? 
Before Forward, I was a Principal at Pi Labs. There I covered the firm's investments across the PropTech 
sector, and led several investments in Fintech, LegalTech, ConTech and data analytics products, including 
GenerationHome, Vauban, Kamma, and OfficeApp. Before that, I spent time at a seed-stage impact investment 
firm in India focusing on Fintech and Healthcare sectors, and prior to that advised on M&A transactions in India. 

Which technology areas are exciting to me right now?
I continue to be excited by Fintech, PropTech, ClimateTech and big data analytics products.  Having invested 
in the digitalisation of Real Estate, I find the digital transformation of other industries very interesting, especially 
in Future of Work and Future of Learning. The modern enterprise is also an area where I see lots of disruption 
starting to flourish, in terms of its digitalisation and the modernisation of its existing tech stack.

What do you think makes a stand-out founder?
Two qualities in founders that I have come to admire the most (and as a result look  
out for) are self-awareness and detail orientation. The former is key to successfully  
completing the extremely steep learning curve one embarks on as a founder and  
a natural affinity towards the latter means that a founder would never steer too  
far away from the business to lose reasonable understanding of the ground level  
detail - whether that has to do with business performance, customers,  
business operations or culture.

Who's making waves in the Forward portfolio?
It's great to see several companies in the portfolio grow strongly despite  
a tough market to sell to both consumer and business customers. Some  
that are growing rapidly include Apexx, Breedr, Ably, and Robin AI.

Megha Prakash  
Senior Investor at Forward 

Tell us a little about your career to date? 
I've been at Forward for almost 18 months now; prior to joining the team, I built a digital health tech startup 
called Earthmiles. It offered a B2B2C gamified well-being platform to SMEs in the UK and internationally. 
Before that, I started my career as a Tech and Media M&A banker at Goldman Sachs in New York  
and as a generalist execution M&A banker at Goldman Sachs London. 

Which technology sectors are exciting to you right now?
Applied AI and automation, SaaS in productivity and growth optimisation, dev ops and ML ops, analytics  
and decision intelligence, web3 and the broader uses of blockchain that go beyond DeFi, sustainability  
tech, and many others.

What do you think makes a stand-out founder?
The startup journey is never easy, and if you love what you do and you truly believe  
in what you are building, it shows up in the enthusiasm, resilience, interpersonal  
and leadership skills, and broader stakeholder and customer engagement that a  
founder is involved in. Therefore for me, passion is key. Combine that with some  
deep domain knowledge or critical insights on the problem they are solving, and  
you have a stand-out founder.

Who's making waves in the Forward portfolio?
It's been amazing to see how well the portfolio has performed through the  
softer economic environment. Several companies in the portfolio are going  
from strength to strength, raising large rounds and scaling impressively -  
Gravity Sketch, Robin AI, Ably, and OutThink, to name  
just a few.
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Snaptrip
Snaptrip is a marketplace that helps people to discover 
the best last-minute cottage holiday deals in the UK. 
Founded in 2014 by Dan Harrison and Matthew Fox, 
Snaptrip has grown to offer over 60,000 professionally 
managed cottages from big-name partners. They hold a 
rating of 4.4/5 on Trustpilot. 

Recent news
• In March 2022, Snaptrip acquired Independent 

Cottages for a seven-figure fee. This was the company’s 
second acquisition in 12 months following the acquisition 
of Hot Tub Hideaways in Summer 2021.

• Snaptrip now operates a family of brands, including 
Dog-Friendly Cottages, Last Minute Cottages and Big 
Cottages, giving it access to several targeted markets.

• The company was EBITDA positive last year and is 
expected to continue to be in the short to medium term. 

FD Category represents fully diluted interest shares categorised as follows:  
Cat A: 0-5%, Cat B: 6-10%, Cat C: 11-15%, Cat D: 16-25%, Cat E: >25%.

Koru Kids
Koru Kids is a childcare marketplace that connects parents with 
vetted part-time nannies and childminders. Established in 2016 by 
Rachel Carrell, the company has delivered over 1 million hours of 
childcare to families and works with over 10,000 nannies across 
the UK. It holds a TrustPilot rating of 4.8/5. 

Recent news
• In November 2022, London VC Nesta announced Koru Kids as 

one of the first investments from their newly secured £50M fund.

• In October 2022, Research commissioned by Koru Kids, in 
conjunction with The Fatherhood Institute examined the current 
state of UK paternity leave. Its results were widely covered  
by the UK media, including The Guardian, The Independent and 
The Evening Standard. 

• In August 2022, Koru Kid’s Home Nursery Service was awarded 
the highest possible grade at registration.
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Plyable
Plyable is the world's leading custom composite mold producer. 
Its platform delivers the highest-quality precision molds up 
to 45% faster using advanced AI technology coupled with 
industry experts. Founded in 2012 by Martin Oughton and Adam 
Lofts, Plyable is used by leading automotive and aeronautics 
companies including McLaren, Mercedes and Boeing.

Recent news
• In October 2022, Plyable secured a $3.2m round Led by 

Maven Capital Partners, supported by composite industry 
leaders Solvay with participation from Forward Partners.

• In 2020, Plyable was selected to be part of Boeing’s 
Accelerator Programme.

£1.1m
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invested

£2.3m
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2.1x
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Looking ahead to trends on the horizon 
with Luke Smith, Investment Partner

SaaS Verticalisation   
We’re seeing good traction in the "verticalised"  
AI-powered SaaS software, particularly in sectors 
that have historically been underserved by 
technology, such as healthcare, hospitality  
and manufacturing. These vertical solutions are  
hyper-targeted towards one specific industry  
and replace a range of sector-agnostic tools for  
a customer.

Two of our portfolio companies, Dines and Sonrai, 
both investments made in 2022, are great examples 
of the promise that this approach can hold. 

• Dines offers a one-stop-shop for hospitality 
businesses to manage their entire operations 
end-to-end, replacing a web of costly, often 
poorly integrated legacy software solutions. 
Their product improves operational efficiency, 
reduces costs and offers a new level of insights 
through data and analytics that would have 
been previously unattainable when using multiple 
software solutions.  

• Sonrai, provides an AI-powered discovery platform 
to speed up biomarker development and is another 
example of where AI is being used to solve a very 
specific problem for a specific industry.

Federated learning   
We’re also seeing exciting progress within federated 
learning, which allows artificial intelligence and 
machine learning to be deployed on edge devices,  
such as sensors, machines or vehicles, rather than 
streaming data to the cloud where it is analysed.  
This makes these solutions amenable to a range  
of sectors such as healthcare, manufacturing and 
Internet of Things (IoT), where cloud processing isn’t  
an option, whether due to data privacy concerns or 
poor connectivity.

Generative AI   
This AI technology creates new content such as copy, 
images and audio that will also continue to attract 
attention. We’re already seeing success with this 
technology within many startups within the Forward 
portfolio, most recently with Robin AI, which uses 
AI and generative AI to improve contracts through 
software, machine learning and a team of world-class 
legal professionals and Fy! which allows consumers 
to create unique wall art with generative AI. Although 
in its early stages, I believe that we’ll start seeing 
more innovative applications of generative AI and 
the increasingly popular language model, GPT-3 to 
enhance existing vertically focussed AI businesses. We 
see Generative AI as part of our applied AI focus and 
it’s something we’re watching closely as exciting new 
opportunities emerge in the space.

Which emerging trends are you  
excited about? 
We’re also paying attention to a series  
of trends on the horizon. At Forward, we favour 
near-to-market, applied technology, particularly 
when it is applied to markets that we know well. 
When we think about technology trends at Forward 
(and ultimately the areas in which we would like to 
invest over the longer term), we use a modification of 
the McKinsey Three Horizons growth model.

Horizon 1 - now:   
This represents the sectors that are exciting 
investment opportunities now - applied AI, 
marketplaces and Web3. These are the spaces  
where we are currently investing. 

Horizon 2 - over the coming years:    
This covers the emerging spaces where we expect  
to find exciting opportunities in the next few years.

We’re monitoring exciting developments in a  
number of areas but particularly: 

• Next-generation bio - which sees software and AI 
improve healthcare and biotechnology through 
innovations such as synthetic biology, personalised 
medicine and AI-driven drug discovery

• Cleantech - technologies that reduce negative 
environmental impacts. 

Luke leads our Ventures 
Investment Team.  
Before joining Forward,  
he held investment and 
consultant positions at  
REV Venture Partners and 
Oliver Wyman. 
Here, he is responsible for our investment strategy, 
advising our portfolio companies and keeping  
ahead of market trends.

Technology is moving fast. Where do you 
see the biggest opportunities in 2023? 
We remain very excited by the applied AI (artificial 
intelligence) companies we are seeing. Back in 2017, 
when we added applied AI as a focus area, we 
expected to see this technology being widely adopted 
across industries and we’re definitely seeing that now, 
which gives rise to exciting opportunities from the new 
applications of this technology. This year,  
I expect to see growth in some emerging areas  
of AI outlined as follows:
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We regularly evaluate sectors in horizon 2,  
so we can be ready to invest when the 
technology is sufficiently mature. It’s also 
important to understand the skills and networks 
needed to find the right founders operating in 
these spaces, so we can take advantage of the 
opportunities when they emerge.

Horizon 3   
This covers the areas that are further from 
maturity, but where we expect investable 
opportunities for Forward in the next 3+ years 
such as: 

• Quantum computing

• More generalisable AI 

• Emerging energy technologies.  

These are currently the focus of deep tech funds  
but we periodically evaluate them to identify when 
we expect the technology to achieve enough 
maturity for Forward to invest so we know when 
to start focusing more closely on them.

What will 2023 look like for the  
investment team at Forward? 
We enter 2023 with a strong and focused 
investment team. Esha Vatsa joined us last 
year as a Senior Investor, bringing with her 
a wealth of experience across many sectors 
including Property, FinTech and LegalTech. 
Megha Prakash, had an excellent first full year at 
Forward, closing her first deal with BaseLime and 
leading on a number of other promising deals, 
including Dines.

 

In 2022, we crafted our Assessment Frameworks 
for Founders and GTM (go-to-market). This 
new process enabled us to build increased 
rigour around how we evaluate opportunities 
by providing frameworks to understand the key 
success factors for early-stage companies. 

For example, to identify strong early-stage 
founders, we use the CIDL framework, focusing 
on the four key drivers of success: Competence, 
Insight, Drive and Leadership.  A standout founder 
combines these four attributes. Displaying 
competence to get things done to a very high 
standard, with some kind of unique or hard-to-
build insight into the market and pain point they 
are addressing. To turn that idea into a viable 
business, a founder needs massive drive to keep 
going through the inevitable tough times as 
well as the leadership to build and motivate an 
exceptional team.

In our last Annual Report, we detailed how 
our investment team carried out an extensive 
strategy review to explore what we think the 
next big tech trend would be, which resulted in 
us pursuing new exciting opportunities within 
the applied Web3 space. Throughout 2022 
and now into 2023, we will continue to identify 
interesting trends further out so that we can 
position ourselves to take advantage of them 
quickly, taking an even longer-term view of our 
investment strategy. 

From an investment perspective, we expect to 
see more Series A and B follow-on opportunities, 
as later-stage funds are tempted to the market 
by startups who have been able to stay lean and 
still grow, despite the turbulence they faced in 
2022.

What are your best moments from  
the portfolio this year? 
• Gravity Sketch raising Series A from top-tier 

funds like Accel and Google Ventures. This 
investment positions the business to lead in a  
fast-growing space.

• Zopa achieving profitability, after they received 
their banking license in 2022. This marks an 
exciting new phase for the company as they show 
that they can continue to grow profitably. 

• Up Learn achieving profitability while 
accelerating year-on-year revenue growth. 

• OutThink closing round of investment from Albion 
and others. We’ve been part of the journey with 
OutThink since the pre-seed round and it’s great 
to see Flavius’ hard work and hustle pay off with  
a round of investment from a strong fund like 
Albion that will let the business invest in growth.

• Sonrai Analytics agreeing a deal with IV 
Bioholdings, a liquid biopsy company,  
to accelerate early detection of disease  
through clinical AI here.
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Silico
Silico is a business simulation platform that enables 
enterprises to build ‘digital twins’, leveraging real-time 
data from across an organisation to simulate the impact of 
decisions before they are made. Founded in 2019 by Chris 
Spencer and John Hill, the company enables its customers to 
improve processes, cut costs and increase revenue.  

Recent news
• In March 2022, the company announced a £3.4m seed 

round led by German VC Join Capital with participation 
from Forward Partners. 

• The company is working with global enterprises across the 
banking, telecoms, healthcare and chemicals industries. 
Clients include Vodafone.

Patch
Patch is one of the leading online UK direct-to-consumer plant 
stores. Shortly after the year-end, Patch merged with Arena, 
the UK's leading ethical flower business to become part of the 
Arena Group. Together, the Group becomes a leading brand for 
plants and flowers, as both a direct-to-consumer offer and as a 
supplier to some of the UK’s best-known brands.

Recent news
• In January 2023, Patch merged with Arena. Forward Partners 

join Arena’s shareholder register. The Group expects no 
material change in the value of its holding in the short term.

• In 2021, Patch plant doctors helped 12,000 customers 
diagnose problems with their plants.

• Patch won a silver gilt medal at the 2021 Chelsea Flower Show 
for their studio: the Pharmacy of House Plants.  

FD Category represents fully diluted interest shares categorised as follows:  
Cat A: 0-5%, Cat B: 6-10%, Cat C: 11-15%, Cat D: 16-25%, Cat E: >25%.
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Koyo Loans
Koyo uses open banking and applied AI to offer personal 
loans to consumers who lack traditional historical credit 
data, without excessive fees for credit. Established in 2018 
by Thomas Olszewski, Koyo is on a mission to provide loans 
that are personal and transparent, to those with limited 
credit history. Koyo has a Trustpilot score of 4.9.

Recent news
• Fintech businesses across the UK faced significant 

pressures in 2022. These challenges persist as 
macroeconomic headwinds drive hikes in interest rates 
and events such as the recent banking crisis heighten 
investor uncertainty. 

• In October 2022, the company secured a £5m extension 
of its Series A funding round, which financed the company 
into 2023. 

• Koyo and their appointed advisors are working through 
options to secure its future, if a satisfactory outcome 
cannot be achieved the worst case for Forward is a full 
write down.

£3.0m
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£2.3m
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Risk management
Risk Governance
Forward has a robust risk management framework 
that represents the Group’s Risk Policy and overall 
risk appetite. Our approach to risk governance is to 
develop a culture of compliance that runs from the 
Board, through its committees, the Management 
Team, the Group Compliance Officer, to all staff.  
Our aim: to create ownership and a proactive 
attitude towards managing risk in all our staff. 
Forward takes a top-down and bottom-up approach 
to risk management. The Board conducts a top-
down strategic review of risks that flows through its 
committees and the Management Team to all staff. 
Each business unit provides a bottom-up review and 
activity reporting to build a thorough understanding 
of the Group’s exposure. 

For the Group, the first line of defence comprises 
operational management and internal control 
measures followed by all employees, with a second 
line of risk management administered by senior 
management, supported by the Compliance Officer. 
The Board delegates day-to-day responsibility to the 
Management Team. 

All risks associated with the Group are recorded in 
the Group’s Risk Register. The Audit and Valuations 
Committee uses this document to assess prioritisation 
of risks, mitigations and proposed actions. Risks are 
mapped and monitored as controls are put in place 
to mitigate the Group’s exposure.
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BOARD
The Board take overall responsibility for risk management and assessment of risk. We see risk management as an essential 
element of delivering our strategy and driving value for our stakeholders. The Board oversees a top-down assessment 
of risk. This includes both internal and external factors that affect Forward Group’s operations. It takes into account the 
impact and likelihood of each risk, whether pre-existing or emerging, long or short term. The board is well equipped to 
assess these risks, exhibiting substantial experience in negotiating external factors, the market in which Forward operates 
and holding a strong understanding of internal processes. 

AUDIT & VALUATIONS COMMITTEE
The Committee is appointed by the Board to assist the Board in fulfilling its obligations relating to the integrity 
of the internal financial controls and financial reporting of the Company. Full details of the responsibilities and 
activities of the board can be found in the Governance section of this report. 

MANAGEMENT TEAM COMMITTEE
The Management Committee assess business-unit level risks alongside wider strategic risks facing the Group, such 
as the UK macroeconomic environment. The risk discussion is chaired by the Compliance Officer and composed of 
representatives from each business unit. Meeting outcomes are reported on at the Audit & Valuations Committee.

OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT 
Risk management activities are embedded into our day-to-day operations. Operational management hold 
responsibility for internal financial control, information security and compliance. They provide policies and frameworks 
to enable risk and compliance to be managed in the first line, ensuring consistency in definitions, monitoring and 
measurement of risks.

ALL EMPLOYEES 
All employees are trained to hold an understanding of the company, objectives, market environment and risks it faces.  
They hold the knowledge, skills and information to effectively operate within it. They are encouraged to be proactive and alert 
to the risks associated with the role that they perform, own and operate processes and mitigating controls and to report issues 
and improvements where possible. Managers at all levels actively lead day-to-day risk management, owning and operating 
processes and mitigating controls and maintain business unit level risk registers.

STRATEGIC RISKS OPERATIONAL RISKS FINANCIAL RISKS 

Our risk management framework
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The Board is responsible for setting and 
monitoring the risk appetite of the Forward 
Group. Risk appetite relates to the amount of risk 
the Group may seek or accept at any given time.  

To achieve our objective of delivering shareholder 
returns, we must accept a level of risk to 
create and maintain a pipeline of investment 
opportunities and support our portfolio in their 
growth within the context of the current operating 
environment. The business carefully manages the 
balance of risk and return to deliver meaningful 
returns. The Board has identified the following 
risks which it considers to be the most significant 
for Group stakeholders. The risks referred to 
below do not purport to be exhaustive and do not 
necessarily comprise all of the risks to which the 
Group is exposed or all those associated with an 
investment in the Group.

Ventures
Equity investments 
Forward invests in early-stage high-growth companies. 
We invest with the understanding that only some 
companies will achieve an exit event. We expect that 
a substantial proportion of the portfolio value will be 
driven by a small number of stand-out companies that 
demonstrate exceptional growth and that a proportion 
of our investments will fail. Our investment team balance 
individual investment risk in the portfolio by making 
small investments at an early stage to create a highly 
diversified portfolio of companies across a number of 
key operating models. Our rigorous selection and due 
diligence process increase confidence in our decisions 
and the probability of a successful outcome for an 
investment. As a company grows, it will require follow-on 
capital from later-stage investors. We also participate 
in the investment rounds of companies that we know 
well and respect. These rounds exhibit higher valuations 
but lower risk, further reducing the portfolio risk. As our 
portfolio matures, we see more and more opportunities 
to make these follow-on capital investments. 

Group
Processes and management
The Board and management team of Forward 
believe that sustainable growth is contingent upon 
having strong governance and well-established 
processes, which should be consistently and diligently 
implemented throughout the Group's operations. 
Therefore, we maintain a cautious approach towards 
risk in our internal and back-office operations. 

Studio and founder support  
Providing more than money
Forward’s Studio takes a pragmatic approach to 
developing and delivering innovative growth solutions 
for portfolio companies. As such it is a medium-risk 
service for our portfolio with many, but not all of our 
projects delivering outstanding results. The Studio 
operates with a break-even business model making it 
low investment and hence low risk from a  
Forward perspective.

Risk appetite
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Principal risks and uncertainties
We categorise our risks  
into three key areas: 

Emerging considerations  
in 2022
The Board and Management Team regularly 
consider emerging risks and opportunities that face 
the Group, including those that may threaten its 
business model, future performance, solvency or 
liquidity. There are also areas of our principal risks 
that we acknowledge will evolve over time. 

In 2022, the major emerging risks deemed significant 
are those associated with the UK macroeconomic 
environment and its effects on the Group and our 
portfolio. Globally, we have observed an increase 
in macroeconomic headwinds throughout the year 
caused by geopolitical tensions, including the war 
in Ukraine, political instability, rising inflation, and 
economic downturn. We consider these trends to 
have a significant impact on our business, and  
we keep a close watch on their effect on our 
operations, portfolio valuations, and the income  
of the companies within it.

The Board and Management Team continue to 
monitor these emergent risks and assess their 
impact and likelihood in the context of the  
wider Group Risk Register.

1 Strategic risks
Strategic risks relate to the fundamental  
decisions that directors take concerning the  
Group’s objectives and the markets we choose 
to play in. They summarise internal and external 
factors that may affect the effectiveness of a 
company’s commitments. 

2 Operational risks
Operational risks relate to the Group’s ability  
to execute well on this strategy. They summarise  
the chances and uncertainties a company faces  
in the course of conducting its daily business 
activities, procedures, and systems.

3 Financial risks
Financial risks relate to the possibility of the  
Group losing money on an investment or business 
venture. They summarise the uncertainty a  
company faces on key factors, including credit  
risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk.

RISK MANAGEMENT 54FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  STRATEGIC REPORT



Overview
The following table sets out what the Board believes 
to be the principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
Group through 2022 and 2023, the mitigating actions 
for each and, where applicable, updates on the change 
in profile of each risk through the year. These risks, and 
our approach to mitigating them, is described in more 
detail further on in this section. 

Risks and uncertainties that Forward is currently 
unaware of or considers insignificant may also 
negatively impact strategy, business performance,  
or financial condition in the future.

Severity

5

4

3

2

1

0

Likelihood

0 1 2 3 4 5

Strategic risks S Impact Likelihood

1.1  UK macroeconomic environment 4 5

1.2  Investment strategy 4 1

1.3  Competition 3 3

1.4  Portfolio concentration 3 4

1.5  Portfolio company valuation fluctuation 3 5

Operational risks O

2.1  Key personnel 4 2

2.2  Internal control failure 3 1

2.3  Cyber security 1 1

Financial risks F

3.1  Valuation risk 3 2

3.2  Concentration risk 4 3

3.3  Cash risk 4 4

1.11.2

1.3 1.4 1.5

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2 3.3
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1.1 UK macroeconomic environment
Group performance is influenced by the volatility of key economic indicators.

Category: S
Impact:  
Likelihood: 

Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The performance of the Group and our portfolio is 
materially influenced by macroeconomic factors. 
These include the geopolitical tensions behind the 
current economic downturn, high debt levels and 
high inflation that may affect market volatility. 
Market volatility may lead to effects including a 
loss of confidence in public market investments; 
reduced consumer and corporate spending and 
increased pressure on institutions, as seen recently 
with the collapse of Silicon Valley Bank. This trend 
may impact the revenues of companies within the 
portfolio, reducing their cash flows and ability to 
grow and raise future finance, which, in turn, may 
increase the probability of down rounds, distressed 
sales and reductions in Fair Value. Macro economic 
conditions might also impact the valuations of 
portfolio companies that are driven by revenues 
and multiples of comparable public companies. 
The recent banking crisis triggered by Silicon Valley 
Bank has increased downside risk because it is now 
more challenging for companies to secure additional 
funding and credit lines. Fintech lending companies, 
which constitute 7% of the portfolio value, are the 
most likely to be impacted by the banking crisis.

2022 update

Through 2022, the Board 
and Management Team have 
carefully watched the external 
environment to understand  
and mitigate risk. 

Macroeconomic pressures have 
affected both how consumers 
and businesses spend and how 
investors deploy their capital. 
Forward’s Investment Team has 
supported Portfolio companies 
to adjust growth plans and 
operations, extend runway 
and build sustainable growth - 
ensuring that they can survive in 
the short-term and pivot to fast-
growth when markets recover.   

2023 outlook

The Forward Management 
Team and Board will continue 
to carefully monitor the wider 
economic environment and key 
trends within it. The inflationary 
pressure on the UK economy we 
have observed has already had 
an impact on our portfolio and 
the metrics we use to value our 
portfolio. As the economy opens 
up, we expect valuations  
to recover quickly.

Mitigation

Forward’s investment strategy drives natural 
diversification of our portfolio, in terms of size, 
concentration and our sector focus. Our Ventures 
Team works closely with actively managed portfolio 
companies to monitor their performance and to 
guide them through opportunity development and 
risk mitigation. The Board and Management Team 
monitor the macroeconomic environment and 
discuss potential impact where appropriate. The 
Board holds strong experience to help the company 
navigate and mitigate market risks.  

1.2 Investment strategy
Group performance relies on our ability to identify and support high potential businesses to reach their goals. 

Category: S
Impact:  
Likelihood: 

Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The performance of our portfolio is based on our ability to 
successfully identify (i) strong teams with (ii) promising products, 
markets and momentum, and (iii) our ability to support them to 
grow, raise follow-on investment and eventually exit. 

The Group cannot be certain that such a successful outcome is 
possible. It relies on the quality of the initial investment decision in 
assessing each of these key factors. Outside of these core risks, 
a portfolio company may encounter unforeseen operational 
or technical challenges or changes in the macroeconomic 
economy, specific market or competitive environment in which 
they operate that affect their ability to develop a product, grow 
or raise further investment. 

Forward Partners invests in early-stage companies that by 
nature are developing their product to find their fit in the market. 
Through this journey, their ability to adjust to market demand 
and develop a profitable product with limited capitalisation 
is key. Such companies may not have the financial strength to 
operate in periods of low economic growth.

2022 update

2022 has presented challenging conditions for many 
businesses. Late-stage and public technology businesses 
in particular  
have been impacted by falling investor confidence, 
consumer spending and a declining economic outlook. 

Forward’s investment strategy focuses on companies that  
apply technology - such as AI - to business problems 
to unlock better experiences, efficiency gains and 
revenue opportunities.  As a result, their sales are often 
less correlated with market cycles. We continue to see 
good deal flow and compelling companies that leverage 
applied AI, marketplace and Web3 operating models, 
despite market conditions.

2023 outlook

We acknowledge the headwinds that businesses across 
the UK are facing, in particular in the high-growth 
technology space. We believe that early-stage technology 
businesses leveraging applied AI, marketplace and Web3 
operating models continue to hold strong investment 
promise; and continue to invest, albeit with a great level of 
caution and a lower rate of deployment.

Mitigation

Forward’s investment strategy is rigorous and data-driven, 
utilising well-known methodologies and frameworks that 
improve decision-making and consistency across our team. Our 
rigorous due diligence process includes assessing both founder 
and team competencies and capabilities, as well as product 
and market assessments. Our Investment Team works with our 
core portfolio and actively managed investments on a monthly 
basis, attending board meetings, offering guidance and tracking 
issues as they arise. Updates on material changes are provided 
to the Board, alongside any further funding requirements and 
new investment opportunities. As markets mature and change, 
so does our investment focus. The Investment Team constantly 
assesses the market for opportunities to ensure that we have 
access to a sufficient number of high-quality opportunities.   

1 Strategic risks
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1.3 Competition
High competition may increase pressure on company valuations and decision discipline.

Category: S
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The execution of Forward’s investment strategy 
depends primarily on our ability to identify 
opportunities to make investments and to convert 
those opportunities. Increased competition for 
investment opportunities may prevent Forward 
from identifying investments that are consistent 
with our investment objectives or that generate 
attractive returns for shareholders. 

It holds a number of key risks:

•  Forward may lose investment opportunities in 
the future if it does not match investment prices, 
structures and terms offered by competitors, 
which may be less favourable than we would 
usually seek.   

•  It may increase pressure to close deals quickly 
and reduce the quality of the due diligence and 
investment decision.   

2022 update

We have continued to see high competition 
for the best investments this year, however 
valuations have begun to adjust downwards, 
particularly for companies leveraging applied  
AI and marketplace operating models. 

Forward has maintained good investment 
discipline through this period, ensuring due 
diligence is thorough and our decision quality  
is high. 

The Forward team continues to consider how 
to attract the best companies and negotiate 
attractive deals. We continue to develop our 
brand and studio proposition, running key 
programmes that include Office Hours and 
Funding Lab, designed to  increase the volume 
and quality of our deal flow.

    
2023 outlook

We continue to see great deal flow, and  
remain confident in our ability to compete  
for and secure great deals. 

Mitigation

Forward maintains a rigorous and data-driven 
investment strategy, using public and proprietary 
methodologies and frameworks that improve 
decision-making and consistency across our team. 
Our strong brand proposition, reputation and 
differentiation allows us to attract and secure 
great deals from strong teams. In particular, 
our Studio team offers highly differentiated and 
attractive services tailored to founder's needs at 
the stage we invest at. 

1.4 Ventures portfolio concentration
Greater concentration in the portfolio means that valuation changes in a small number  
of our portfolio companies could have a large impact on our results. 

Category: S
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

It is possible that a significant portion of the 
Group’s Net Asset Value will be concentrated 
within a small number of successful underlying 
investee companies. Fluctuations in valuation 
may occur within an individual or group of 
companies (for instance, those leveraging a 
specific operating model). It is most common 
when a portfolio company secures a round of 
funding with a significant increase in valuation.  

As a consequence, there is a risk that the 
Group could be subject to significant losses if 
any such company suffered a material adverse 
change, or if any sector or geography in which 
the Group has substantial investments were to 
experience difficulties.  

2022 update

Portfolio concentration increased in 2022. 
At 31st December 2021, our top 15 companies 
represented 69% of Fair Value. At the time of 
reporting, the Top 15 represents 73.6%.          

 
2023 outlook

Many of our most highly valued companies 
are responding to the current macroeconomic 
headwinds by reducing expenditure and slowing 
growth to lengthen the time before they need 
to fundraise again. This may result in fewer up 
rounds later this year and some companies 
holding values being reduced as valuation inputs 
may decrease in response to fluctuations brought 
about by volatile market conditions.

Mitigation

Forward’s investment strategy drives natural 
diversification of our portfolio, both in terms 
of size, concentration of the portfolio and our 
sector focus. 

Our continued expansion and diversification of 
that portfolio will further mitigate this risk.
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1.5 Portfolio company valuation fluctuation 
Fluctuations in portfolio company valuations directly affect Net Asset Value.  

Category: S
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

Fluctuations in valuation may occur within an 
individual or group of companies (for instance, 
those leveraging a specific operating model).  
The valuation of Forward’s portfolio of 
investments is mostly driven by the revenue 
generated by these businesses. A drop in 
company performance will impact portfolio 
value. The valuation of Forward’s investments 
may change even if the performance of the 
underlying investments remains the same. 
Reasons include changes in market standards 
for the application of valuation methodologies, 
valuation of a company through a further round 
of funding or changes in multiples of companies 
used in comparable valuation analysis. 
 

2022 update

Many of our portfolio companies have  
adjusted their strategies in anticipation  
of longer periods between funding rounds  
and the pace of sales cycles slowing through  
the coming period. Though revenue growth  
has been affected at these companies, many  
are still growing with our Top 15 increased 
revenue on average by 144% in 2022. Firstly, 
many companies have chosen to delay 
fundraising, which has resulted in greater 
weight being put on comparables analysis 
when valuing the assets in the Ventures 
portfolio. Secondly, this valuation method takes 
revenue multiples from a basket of comparable 
companies that are trading at significantly 
lower share prices than last year. Thirdly, at 
lower valuations, the preferred share structures 
common in technology startups come into 
play, disproportionately affecting us as an 
early-stage investor. This compounding effect, 
however, will unwind to our advantage  
when times improve.

2023 outlook

We continue to closely monitor fluctuations  
in the portfolio based upon both internal  
and external factors. As the economy improves 
and investor confidence increases again, we  
expect the three compounding factors that 
have impacted our Portfolio Fair Value to 
unwind and drive recovery.

Mitigation

Forward’s investment strategy drives natural 
diversification of our portfolio, both in terms 
of size, and concentration of the portfolio and 
our sector focus. Ventures invests across a 
wide area of investments focused on three key 
operating models. Risk is diversified within the 
portfolio by deploying capital into promising 
businesses across these sectors. Our focus on 
early-stage investment also allows us to create 
a large and diversified portfolio, spreading the 
investment risk and our continued expansion 
and diversification of that portfolio will further 
mitigate this risk. 

The Board and Management Team monitor the 
portfolio and macroeconomic environment and 
discuss the potential impact where appropriate. 
The Board holds a strong level of experience  
to help the company navigate and mitigate 
market risks.
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2.1 Key personnel
The Group may not be able to retain or attract key personnel with the right skills 
or experience to deliver the company strategy.

Category: O
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The work of the Group requires specialist 
practitioners. There is a risk that the 
individuals responsible for managing the 
company and the portfolio may leave 
their employment or be prevented from 
undertaking their duties. If the Group does 
not succeed in retaining these personnel it 
may not be able to grow as anticipated or 
meet its financial objectives.   

2022 update

We continue to shape our employer 
brand, employee offer and culture to 
attract and retain great talent and 
create an environment where staff are 
aligned to deliver the Group strategy. 
This year, we have changed the details 
of our long-term incentive plan to 
better align staff with shareholder 
interests. We have also determined 
employee eligibility for carried interest 
plans for the Investment Team and 
certain other employees of the Group 
relating to investments and follow-on 
investments made post admission.

 
2023 outlook

Forward’s lean, focused team has been 
shaped to ensure the Group can deliver 
upon its objectives in the current 
environment. We actively foster an 
inclusive, diverse culture and pay close 
attention to factors that affect staff 
productivity and retention. The Board 
and Management Team will continue to 
discuss resourcing to deliver the Group 
strategy through the year. 

Mitigation

The Group manages this risk by developing 
a comprehensive assessment of roles and 
recruitment, aligned to the business strategy 
and growth plans for the year. It carries out 
regular analysis of the market to benchmark 
remuneration and offers competitive 
packages to its personnel. Senior executives 
are shareholders in the business and the 
Group operates appropriate incentive 
programmes to align individuals with the 
Group’s strategy and shareholder interests 
over the long term. 

Forward also provides its team with 
enhanced benefits and works to develop 
a fun, safe and inclusive culture. The 
Management Team monitors employee 
engagement – including key indicators that 
affect retention – on a monthly basis. 

The Management Team continues to find 
opportunities to engage and develop team 
culture and closely monitor employee 
engagement. 

2.2 Internal control failure 
Lapses in governance could impact the Group’s ability to deliver the strategy and expose it to risk of mismanagement.

Category: O
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

Technical, operational, administrative and architectural weaknesses 
within the Group may result in a control failure. Poor implementation 
or performance of internal controls could negatively affect  
the Group’s ability to deliver the company strategy and expose the 
group to the risk of mismanagement.

2022 update

Forward’s Management Team and Board 
have continued to develop and implement a 
comprehensive governance strategy across 
the Group, including the implementation of 
staff compliance training, risk assessments 
and appointment of an external auditor.

We monitor and maintain the level of staff 
training in the organisation and continue to 
work with our external auditor to provide 
assurance of our disclosures. Following 
the recruitment of Lloyd Smith as CFO, 
and the subsequent development of 
Forward’s Finance Team, the Company has 
strengthened its financial control processes 
to further mitigate risks.

 
2023 outlook

We regularly review internal controls and 
risk management systems to ensure their 
adequacy and aim to continually improve 
their effectiveness. In 2023, we have 
bolstered the expertise within the Finance 
Team with the recruitment of a Head  
of Finance.

Mitigation

A compliance function has been established with regular staff 
training and certification implemented. Risk assessments are 
maintained on a periodic basis at team level. A Group level register  
is reviewed regularly by the Board. Forward’s Finance team 
undertake a continuous programme of work to proactively fulfil 
ongoing regulatory requirements under FCA rules. External 
compliance and legal advisors are engaged to ensure that the 
Group is continuously monitoring and improving its systems and 
processes to navigate the changing legal and regulatory landscape. 
The Board regularly reviews internal controls and risk management 
systems to ensure their adequacy and effectiveness to ensure that  
a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group has  
been undertaken and provides advice on the management and 
mitigation of those risks. 

The Ventures Team follows a rigorous and well-documented 
investment process. Each proposed investment is brought to the 
Investment Committee in a formally written note, which is then 
debated and voted upon, the results and note for which are  
formally recorded.

 

2 Operational risks
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2.3 Cyber security 
Cyber security breaches may affect the operations and reputation of the Group.

Category: O
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The Group relies on information technology systems to conduct its 
operations. As a result, the Group and its software are at risk from 
cyber-attacks. Cyber attacks can result from deliberate attacks or 
unintentional events and may include malicious third parties gaining 
unauthorised access to the Group’s software for the purpose of 
misappropriating financial assets, intellectual property or sensitive 
information (such as customer data), corrupting data, or causing 
operational disruption.   

2022 update

We continue to consider cybersecurity to be an important 
aspect of organisational resilience. This year, we have 
bolstered our processes and controls in respect to IT security, 
consolidating data and system administration. We continue  
to use well-known and respected cloud services for creation 
and collaboration and make use of best-practice techniques 
like two-factor authentication and secure passwords to 
minimise risk. 

2023 outlook

We constantly monitor and evaluate our cyber security policy 
and measures to cope with a rapidly changing environment.

Mitigation

To ensure operational security and resilience, and to minimise the risk 
of cyber security incidents, the Group has ensured that appropriate 
organisational structures, policies, and processes are in place to 
understand, assess and systematically manage security risks to the 
network and information systems supporting essential functions. 
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3.1 Valuation risk  
The Group portfolio may not be valued accurately.

Category: F
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The Group’s investments may be difficult to 
value accurately. Valuation methodologies are 
prone to significant subjectivity and there can 
be no assurance that the values of the Group's 
investments reported will in fact be realised.     

2022 update

Fair Value of Forward's Portfolio has 
been significantly impacted, declining 
39.0% through this period. The underlying 
performance of those companies remains 
strong in most cases.

During the year, Forward engaged 
Kroll, a third-party consulting firm, 
to perform a review of the Group’s 
valuation methodologies and policies. The 
recommendations arising from this review 
have been applied by the Group as part of 
the 2022 year end valuation process. 

 
2023 outlook

We continue to improve the robustness of 
our valuation process with the recruitment 
of a new Head of Finance who has extensive 
valuation knowledge and experience.

In addition, we are in constant 
communication with Kroll, who advises us 
on complex valuation matters as and when 
issues arise.

Mitigation

The Group’s investments are valued in 
accordance with IFRS 13 and International 
Private Equity and Venture Capital (IPEV) 
Valuation Guidelines. The Group follows  
a pre-agreed valuation policy and process.

3.2 Concentration risk  
The Group may face difficulty accessing cash deposits in the event of a bank collapse. 

Category: F
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022 

Risk overview

In light of the recent banking crisis involving the collapse of Silicon Valley 
Bank (SVB) and the subsequent sale of the UK banking operations to HSBC, 
we acknowledge the potential risk of losing cash due to a bank failure. 
Although we strive to mitigate this risk through prudent cash management 
practices and maintaining our cash deposits in well-regulated and financially 
stable banks, we cannot completely eliminate the possibility of a bank failure 
impacting our cash position.

In the event of a bank failure, we may face difficulty in accessing or 
recovering our cash deposits, which could adversely affect our liquidity, 
financial condition, and ability to meet our short-term and long-term 
financial obligations.  

2022 update

At the start of the year the Group held a cash 
balance of £31.1m. Year-end cash balance at 
31 December 2022 was  £17.2m held between 
Barclays Bank Plc and Silicon Valley Bank, 
split 33% and 67% respectively. 

 
2023 outlook

Shortly before the Bank of England's 10th 
March statement announcing its intention 
to place Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) into an 
insolvency procedure, 92% of the funds it held 
were transferred to Barclays Bank Plc. 

The Group is currently reviewing its banking 
facilities in light of the recent banking crisis 
with a view to ensuring their cash is only held 
with tier 1 institutions.

Mitigation

We continuously monitor current news flows and significant market 
movements to identify any key indication regarding the financial stability of 
the banks where we maintain our cash deposits and ensure we are prepared 
to take appropriate measures to minimise the risk of loss due to a bank 
failure.

We currently maintain accounts with two banks and will continue to do so.  
In the event of a bank run we are able to transfer funds to another bank 
where the account is held by one of the Group’s fully controlled subsidiaries 
in short order. 

3 Financial risks
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3.3 Cash risk 
The Group may not generate sufficient proceeds from exits of its investments to fund its operations and continued investments.

Category: O
Impact:  
Likelihood: 
Movement in 2022   

Risk overview

The Group may not generate sufficient proceeds from exits of its 
investments to fund its operations and continued investments. If the 
Group is then not able to obtain additional capital on acceptable terms 
it may be forced to pause investing or slow its investment rate and 
downsize its operations.

Due to the nature of Forward Ventures early-stage investment model, 
returns to the Group through holding cash and cash equivalents are 
currently low. Where a holding is not realised in cash, it may be subject 
to share price fluctuations and/or FX exposure.

2022 update

At the start of the year the Group held a cash balance  
of £31.1m. Through 2022, the Group utilised £13.9m of cash.  
At the year-end cash balance at 31 December 2022  
was £17.2m. 

Please see Financial Review section for a breakdown and  
further commentary. 

2023 outlook

As we move into 2023, we regularly monitor and evaluate 
our cash position to ensure it is tracking in line with budgeted 
expectations for 2023.

Please see Financial Review section for further commentary. 

Mitigation

The Group holds significant cash balances. It deploys funds in a 
considered manner in line with the budget agreed with the Board. 
Frequent discussions are held to consider the future cash requirements 
of the Group and its investments to ensure that sufficient cash is 
maintained. 

The Group is able to preserve cash by slowing or pausing investing as 
required to meet operational expenditure until such point realisations 
can generate further funds to continue investing. 

The Directors have considered the going concern assessment and hold 
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
and cash reserves to continue in operational existence over the going 
concern assessment period - even if economic instability were to have 
an impact on the portfolio valuations. Further detail can be found in the 
Directors Report in this document.

 

F
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Overview
2022 was a year characterised by market headwinds 
and the corresponding pressure on public market 
share prices. We have not been immune to these 
market forces, which can be seen in the valuation 
changes we have navigated this year. Through FY22, 
we saw the portfolio Fair Value (the gross value of the 
Group's investments in the funds before deductions for 
carried interest liability) decline by 23.9% to the interim 
date and 15.1% since the interim reporting date to a 
total 39.0% year on year. The decline is attributable 
to comparable multiples reducing valuation metrics 
and liquidation preferences that favour later-stage 
investors. Conversely, as growth stocks and associated 
technology valuation metrics improve, the unwinding of 
the liquidation preferences will provide a greater uplift 
for Forward given it is an early-stage investor. 

Despite valuation pressures, our portfolio has 
maintained strength. At Forward, we focus on backing 
companies with high potential and strong fundamentals. 
Many of our companies have demonstrated resilience 
to the wider economic downturn and have grown their 
revenues through innovative products and market share 
gains. Despite our encouragement to focus on runway 
and resilience through the period, we saw weighted 
year-on-year revenue for our Top 151 grow by 144% 
through the period. At 31 December 2022, the overall 
Net Asset Value of the Group was £96.7m, a decrease of 
30.70% year on year. The reduction was primarily driven 
by this decline in portfolio Fair Value to £80.0m, which 
is recognised at Fair Value through profit or loss in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Aside from the Portfolio, Forward’s year-end cash 
balance was £17.2m, enabling us to continue to invest 
in exciting new venture opportunities whilst meeting 
day-to-day operational expenditure requirements. We 
remain excited about the opportunities in the market 
and continue to invest in exciting new UK startups, 
particularly in Web3 and Applied AI.

Portfolio
Valuations
The Fair Value of Forward’s Portfolio (the gross  
value of the Group's investments in the funds before 
any deductions for carry interest) at the year-end 
was £80.0m (31 December 2021: £117.1m), a 31.7% 
year-on-year decline including new investments 
(39.0% excluding new investments and realisations). 

Portfolio Fair Value decline slowed significantly  
in the second half of the year. In H1, Gross Portfolio 
Value reduced to £94.9m, a decline in Fair Value  
of 23.9% exclusive of new investments and 
realisations. In H2 Fair Value declined by 15.1%. 

The Fair Value reduction is largely attributable to 
market headwinds and downward pressure on 
comparable valuations and liquidation preferences 
impacting earlier-stage investors such as Forward. 

As market headwinds dissipate, liquidation 
preferences will have a reduced weight on our Fair 
Value calculation and in turn, Forward will see a 
greater share of valuation increases compared with 
other investors who substantially hold liquidation 
preferences. A more detailed explanation of 
liquidation preferences is included later in this review.

 

Another factor that has impacted our valuations is 
revenue growth rates for early-stage companies are 
closely aligned to investor deployment rates and VC 
deal activity. The market sentiment that typified the 
technology sector during 2022 slowed the rate of 
investment, and the completion of portfolio company 
fundraising rounds. As a result, many start-ups have 
sought to extend cash runways to ensure they can 
see through a period of fundraising uncertainty. 
The practical implications of this mean portfolio 
companies typically hold back on hiring key sales 
and software development teams, who directly 
contribute to revenue through sales and product 
development. So whilst the revenue growth is good, 
as market conditions improve we expect revenue 
growth rates in the portfolio to increase.

Realisations
Realisations through the period totalled £1.1m from 
the exit of digital product agency, Somo and disposal 
of Forward’s holding in online car retailer Cazoo 
Group Limited. The gross portfolio value movements 
between relevant periods are reflected in the table 
further on in this section.

Financial review

 1. Top 15 portfolio investments denote the most valuable companies held in Forward's portfolio by Fair Value at a point in time. Except where otherwise noted in this release, 
we refer to the Top 15 cohort as at 31 December 2022 to provide a meaningful basis for comparison. At that time, the Top 15 comprised Gravity Sketch, Robin, Spoke, Makers, 
OutThink, Ably, Apexx, Breedr, Juno, KoruKids, Snaptrip, Plyable, Koyo Loans, Silico and Patch. The Top 15 is updated in Forward's final year results.
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Liquidation Preferences - an explanation
Liquidation preferences in venture capital refer to the 
order in which investors receive their money back in 
the event of a company's sale or liquidation. In simple 
terms, investors with liquidation preferences will receive 
their investment back before other investors that do not. 
Furthermore, some liquidation preferences rank before 
others in the order of pay out.

Later-stage investors are typically more interested in 
liquidation preferences as they are investing in more 
mature companies with a greater likelihood of being sold 
or going public, so their expected returns are less than 
those expected by an early-stage investor. Accordingly, 
liquidation preferences are used to protect the value 
at which a later-stage investor invests if the company is 
unable to achieve its valuation expectations on sale.

In a scenario where valuation headwinds result in a 
company's decline shortly after a round in which a 
later-stage investor invests, a greater proportion of 
the current value will be assigned to them. Meaning an 
earlier stage investor's share of the valuation goes down 
more than the overall decline in the company’s valuation.

Conversely, as valuations go back up the proportion of 
the early-stage investor's share will go up more than the 
percentage increase of the company where the value 
previously was weighted to the later-stage investor due 
to them holding more recent liquidation preferences.

I hope this general explanation is helpful in 
understanding how liquidation preferences work and 
therefore our thesis as to why when valuation headwinds 
improve, it will have a more pronounced positive impact 
on Forward’s Gross Portfolio Value.

Advances
Towards the end of August, we took the difficult 
decision to conduct a managed wind-down of 
Forward Advances. Whilst the company had made 
some traction in the UK revenue-based funding 
market, the path to profitability and cash generation 
was unclear. As a result, total losses for the year were 
limited to £2.8m and enabled the Group to focus its 
financial resources on new venture investments and 
supporting our current portfolio.

Consolidated statement of 
financial position
The nature of the Group’s business means that the 
balance sheet primarily consists of its Financial 
Assets held at fair value (the Net Asset value of the 
investment funds) and its Cash. 

Net assets at 31 December 2022 were £96.7m 
(2021: £139.6m), resulting in a Net Asset Value (NAV) 
per share of 72 pence. The Group’s Net assets 
are substantially made up of its investments in the 
portfolio. The Fair Value of the funds on the balance 
sheet at the year-end is £80.0m. 

The Group’s year-end cash balance of £17.2m 
demonstrates that it is able to continue to invest in 
exciting new venture opportunities whilst meeting its 
day-to-day operational expenditure. 

During the year the Group repaid £1.1m it owed in 
respect of a £5m revolving credit facility put in place 
for the benefit of Forward Advances. As a result, the 
Group no longer holds any institutional debt on its 
balance sheet. 

The Group seeks to maintain sufficient cash 
availability for a period greater than 12 months.

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income
The largest movement on the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income is the Fair  
Value change in the value of the portfolio companies,  
being a loss of £45.7m (2021: gain of £27.2m),  
a 39.0% decline year on year.  

Revenue generated in fees by Forward Advances 
was £346k (2021: £266k) the increase year on year 
due to the full-year effect of loans being collected 
versus the six months in 2021. Prior to the IPO 
midway through 2021, Forward Advances was an 
investment in one of the Funds, so revenue was not 
included in the Group’s results. Revenue generated 
by the Studio was £132k (2021: £543k), the substantial 
decrease relating to the work completed by the 
Studio for Forward Advances being eliminated in full 
on consolidation.

Net operating costs increased year-on-year to £7.7m 
(2021: £4.8m) predominantly due to the inclusion 
of Forward Advances for a full 8 months and the 
associated wind-down costs. During 2021, only 6 
months of Forward Advances costs were included 
due to it being in the fund prior to IPO.

 

Consolidated statement  
of cash flows
During the year the Group utilised £13.9m of cash, 
investments in new and exciting startups totalled 
£2.4m (2021: £4.3m) with £7.3m (2021: £4.5m) 
invested into the current portfolio supporting 
the companies with maintaining their growth in 
innovative technology products and services.  
Cash generated from realisations was £1.1m (2021: 
£8.2m). The Forward Advances Rolling Capital 
Facility was fully repaid, along with interest totaling 
£1.1m. Cash collected from the unwinding of the 
Forward Advances loan book generated cash of 
£2.2m (2021 outlay: £2.3m). Net cash outflows from 
operating activities, excluding Advances loan book 
movements, was £6.3m (2021: £5.4m). 
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2023 Outlook
The last year has been challenging for technology 
companies and venture capital investors, but 
we remain confident that healthy returns can be 
generated from the investment in early-stage UK 
startups over the long-term. 

Our investment teams continue to see good deal 
flow and plan to invest in a minimum of 4 new early-
stage companies this year. We continue to support 
our current portfolio with follow-on investments, 
albeit with tighter thresholds so we only invest 
where long-term returns can be maximised for 
Forward and its shareholders. 

As recently reported in the Financial Times, 
dealmaking in the first quarter of 2023 has suffered 
its slowest start since 2013 with the value of 
M&A transactions dropping 45% year on year to 
$550bn, the largest decline since 2001 according to 
Refinitiv. It is generally considered that valuations 
remain the main driver to depressed dealmaking. 
Whilst some of our portfolio companies continue 
to be approached by prospective buyers seeking 
an acquisition for strategic enhancement we 
understand founders wish to continue to grow 
their companies to maximise potentially their single 
biggest wealth creation opportunity to exit in a 
more favourable market. Accordingly, whilst we 
are not budgeting for any significant realisations in 
2023, we remain on standby to support portfolio 
companies through any exit process.

Following the wind-down of Forward Advances in 
Q3 and the right sizing of the remaining Forward 
team in Q4 of 2022, net operating costs will be 
closer to the 2021 number of £4.8m in 2023.

Our portfolio contains a number of lean and 
capital-efficient businesses with good cash runways 
and high growth prospects. As is the nature of 
venture, I do expect a small number of the portfolio 
will falter as the prolonged tough macro trading 
environment takes its toll on their business models. 
The recent banking crisis triggered by Silicon Valley 
Bank in March 2023, coupled with the recent 
increases in interest rates, has created challenging 
conditions for fintech companies seeking additional 
funding and credit lines. As a consequence, the 
valuations of fintech lending companies - which 
represent 7% of the portfolio fair value - are now 
exposed to additional downside risk. In particular, 
Koyo is most at risk as it has appointed advisors 
to secure their future. As a result, it is likely that 
Koyo’s valuation of £2.3m, representing 2.9% of the 
portfolio Fair Value, will be fully written down by  
the interim date.

Looking ahead to the next period, we wait patiently 
for the return of market confidence whilst closely 
monitoring headwinds - and the impact that they 
have on portfolio performance, valuations, exits 
and cash. To this end my 2023 focus will be on 
optimising the Group’s cash to continue to invest 
in the next generation of startups, support our 
investments and ensure efficiency in our operational 
expenditure. As the markets open up, we expect to 
see performance return as follow-on investments 
boost valuations, liquidation preference pressures 
ease and our companies turn from resilience to 
revenue growth.

Lloyd Smith
Chief Financial Officer

3 May 2023
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Portfolio Comapny Fair Value  
at 31/12/21

Invested Realised Fair value 
change

Fair Value 
at 30/06/22

Invested Realised Fair value 
change

Fair Value 
at 31/12/22

Year-on-Year 
change

Year-on-Year 
change

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m %

Gravity Sketch 8.4 0.7 0.0 0.0 9.1 0.0 0.0 (1.5) 7.6 (0.8) (9.5)

Robin 4.7 0.9 0.0 0.0 5.6 0.3 0.0 0.3 6.2 1.5 31.9

Spoke 5.2 0.3 0.0 0.6 6.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.1 0.9 17.3

Makers 8.3 0.4 0.0 (2.9) 5.8 0.0 0.0 (0.7) 5.1 (3.2) (38.6)

OutThink 1.6 0.0 0.0 2.5 4.1 0.5 0.0 0.0 4.6 3.0 187.5

Ably 12.9 0.0 0.0 (8.8) 4.1 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 4.0 (8.9) (69.0)

Apexx 4.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 4.9 0.5 0.0 (1.8) 3.6 (1.1) (23.4)

Breedr 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.5 0.3 0.0 0.8 3.6 1.1 44.0

Juno 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 0.1 0.0 (1.1) 3.5 (1.0) (22.2)

KoruKids 3.9 0.5 0.0 0.0 4.4 0.0 0.0 (1.2) 3.2 (0.7) (17.9)

Snaptrip 5.0 0.0 0.0 (2.3) 2.7 0.0 0.0 (0.1) 2.6 (2.4) (48.0)

Plyable 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.7 2.1 0.3 0.0 (0.1) 2.3 1.1 91.7

Koyo Loans 3.3 0.5 0.0 2.0 5.8 0.5 0.0 (4.0) 2.3 (1.0) (30.3)

Silico 1.7 0.5 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.5 29.4

Patch 5.2 0.3 0.0 (3.0) 2.5 0.0 0.0 (0.6) 1.9 (3.3) (63.5)

Remaining Portfolio 44.0 1.8 (0.5) (16.8) 28.5 0.9 (0.6) (7.6) 21.2 (22.8) (51.8)

Portfolio Value 117.1 6.3 (0.5) (28.0) 94.9 3.4 (0.6) (17.7) 80.0 (37.1) (31.7)

The Top 15 investments cover 73.6% of the portfolio by Fair Value.

Portfolio Value
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I’m pleased to present our sustainability report  
for 2022.

Our goal at Forward is to make a positive impact 
through our investments, support, and actions. We 
strive to make decisions with a holistic perspective 
and consider the long-term consequences of 
our choices, with the aim of achieving financial 
success whilst positively impacting society and the 
environment.

Our vision is to create a world where every founder 
can realise their potential. As an investor, we are 
committed to supporting early-stage companies 
that contribute positively to the economy, society, 
and environment, while also fostering an equitable 
and inclusive environment where founders can 
address significant global challenges.

Inside Forward, we work hard to build a culture that 
delivers on this vision and encourages our people to 
be bold, caring and wise.

 

In late 2020, we conducted a materiality study 
that helped guide our approach to Environmental, 
Social, and Governance (ESG) issues. We gathered 
input from our team, key shareholders, brokers, 
and sustainability experts to identify which of the 
United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 
(UN SDGs) were most relevant to our business. The 
study findings served as the foundation for our ESG 
policies, which we further developed in 2022. In 
terms of priority, the UN SDGs that we believe we 
can have the most impact on are:

1.  Goal 5 
Achieve gender equality and empower  
all women and girls.  

2.  Goal 8 
Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable 
economic growth, full and productive 
employment and decent work for all.

3.  Goal 4 
Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education 
and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all.

4.  Goal 3 
Ensure healthy lives and promote  
well-being for all at all ages. 

5.  Goal 12 
Ensure sustainable consumption  
and production patterns. 

6.  Goal 9 
Build resilient infrastructure, promote  
inclusive and sustainable industrialisation  
and foster innovation.

In 2022, we continued to develop our approach, 
applying principles adapted from the UN’s Principles 
for Responsible Investment (PRI) whilst aligning key 
activity to these six prioritised SDGs. We hold a 
strong, purpose-led culture backed by the necessary 
environmental, inclusion and diversity and  
code of conduct policies to ensure we’re aligned 
across our company. 

Our commitment to ESG is fully embedded into the 
core of our business and teams across the business 
hold dedicated objectives to ensure we continue to 
iterate and improve on this. Looking ahead, our 2023 
plans include closer collaboration with the portfolio 
founders to encourage their progress in growing 
strong, inclusive and diverse companies.

 
 
 
Nic Brisbourne
CEO

3 May 2023
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Forward's investment strategy is considered, and aligned with our ESG goals.  

We focus on supporting founders and businesses that are working to address significant global 
issues and create positive change. In our investment process, we carefully evaluate potential 
investments to ensure they align with our key principles, utilising an exclusion list based upon the 
UN’s Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) and the World Bank’s IFC Exclusion List, whilst 
aligning key activity to the six prioritised SDGs previously outlined. Once invested, we encourage 
our portfolio companies to adopt these principles or establish their own set of targets.

Responsible investment

SCREENING

Our investment process includes an initial 
screening step where we use an exclusion list  
to eliminate companies that do not align with  
our ESG goals and values as a firm.

This includes weaponry, nicotine, adult  
content, gambling, and anything else we  
deem unethical, including forced or child  
labour and inappropriate environmental 
damage. We also align with the World Bank’s 
IFC Exclusion List, which lists sectors, business 
models and activities that we will not invest in. 
Our Investment Committee reviews this list  
once per year to ensure that it continues to  
align with our strategy and ideals.  

DUE DILIGENCE

We are dedicated to being responsible investors 
through the lifecycle of our engagement –  
from pre-screening to exit.

Companies that pass our screening process 
move onto more detailed evaluation. As part 
of our investment terms, we require that our 
portfolio companies adopt an inclusion and 
diversity policy and report regularly on the 
diversity of their organisation. During the 
screening process, we evaluate both the risks 
and opportunities associated with a potential 
investment, assessing the company's operations 
across environmental, social, and governance 
criteria. The company's ESG performance is 
presented as a crucial factor in the Investment 
Committee paper, and any significant risks 
are highlighted for consideration in the final 
investment decision. 

MONITORING

After making an investment, we do not impose our 
own standards on the operations of the company,  
as we recognise that each business and its impact  
on society and the environment is unique. 

Instead, we offer advice and seek commitment  
from founders and management teams that they  
will define the impact that their business will have 
and hold their business accountable to targets 
relevant to their organisation in the future. 

We believe that this will benefit the operations  
and standing of the portfolio company as well  
as the wider environment and community.  
We encourage ESG matters to be discussed 
regularly as part of a standing board agenda.
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We believe entrepreneurs are solving the 
world's problems. . We see first-hand the 
incredible potential of visionary founders to 
create businesses that shape the way we 
work, the way we live and the environment 
around us. Our portfolio is creating change 
by applying technology, innovation and 
intellect to a wide range of categories – from 
beauty to healthcare, childcare to learning. 

Portfolio impact on wider society

HIGHR is a sustainable beauty brand, founded to  
produce clean make-up products for today's modern 
woman. They meet the highest verified standards of 
social and environmental impact, accountability and 
transparency and are now the first certified  
B Corp™ luxury lipstick business.

Makers provide curated training courses and help launch 
new careers in software engineering. They are creating a 
new generation of diverse tech talent who are skilled and 
ready for the changing world of work. In so doing, they are 
discovering and unlocking potential in people for the benefit 
of 21st century business and society.

Sonrai is   an analytics platform that leverages AI  
to speed up drug and healthcare developments.  
It helps researchers and biotech companies to get 
vital new healthcare products to the market, faster.

Up Learn is an online learning platform for A-level students, 
which combines cognitive science, AI and engaging content 
to provide an effective, enjoyable and effortless learning 
experience for any student. They envision a future where 
humanity can learn as efficiently as possible, where success 
is never in doubt, and the only thing student have to think 
about is where to invest their time.

PocDoc is an app-based digital health platform that 
allows anyone with a smartphone and the PocDoc 
lateral flow tests to test themselves at home for major 
diseases and monitor their overall health, reducing the 
barriers and costs to identifying and treating major 
global health issues.

Koru Kids is an online marketplace for trained and vetted 
local nannies.  Their ethos is that childhood lays the critical 
foundations for lifelong emotional well-being.  They want 
to support mothers returning to work and give children 
the tools they can use their whole life long to flourish on 
their own unique path, whatever that might be, via their 
childcare.
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Rachel Carrell is the founder and CEO of Koru Kids, a childcare 
marketplace that connects parents with vetted childcare 
professionals, like part-time nannies and childminders. Launched 
in 2016 in response to the substandard childcare solutions for 
families in the UK, Koru has delivered over 2 million hours  
of childcare since its inception. 

Q&A Meet Rachel Carrell, CEO and founder of Koru Kids

Forward has been fantastic.  
Right from our first day  
with them, they have given us 
practical and emotional support 
and community. We’ve drawn  
on their experience on 
everything from strategy  
to product to talent to growth 
and marketing. It’s a partnership  
we really value.

In 2022, Koru closed a £3.5M round from 
Nesta Impact Investments, to continue 
their mission to build the world's best 
childcare service.

Why did you and the team build  
Koru Kids?
It was only when I had my first child that I realised 
how difficult the childcare system in the UK is. Good 
childcare is hard to arrange and incredibly expensive, 
with no one leading 'brand' out there simplifying it for 
parents. In fact, we have one of the most expensive 
childcare systems in Europe and it is an utter shambles. 
It’s bad for our children, bad for women (who are more 
likely to be the primary caregiver) and bad for society 
overall. When women are forced to choose between 
childcare and their careers, we have a situation where 
fewer women are in senior roles in the judicial system, 
government, and in business. This leads to more 
unbalanced decisions, alienating 50% of the population 
and enforcing gender stereotypes. So what we are 
doing is incredibly important for multiple reasons.

I was so frustrated by this, that I quit my job as the  
CEO of a healthcare company to build the kind of 
childcare I wished existed for my kids. Together with 
my team, we’ve dedicated ourselves to solving this 
massive problem that will impact 80% of all adults  
in the UK - parents.

How is Koru Kids different?
The economics of childcare simply don’t work. 
Parents spend over half their salaries on nurseries, 
yet childcare workers visit food banks, and nurseries 
are closing in record numbers across the country. 
Against this dismal backdrop, Koru has built a system 
which actually works for families, childcarers,  
and kids. 

Through the Koru Kids platform, parents pay less 
for our childminders than they would a nursery. 
Our childminders get paid significantly more than 
nursery workers (some earn over £50,000 a year - 
which in some cases is twice as much as the Deputy 
Manager of a nursery). 

But the best thing about our approach is that 
childminder settings have been proven to be better 
for kids, as they benefit from strong attachment with 
a single caregiver in a home setting which supports 
their emotional development and school readiness. 

The Koru Kids team and technology facilitate this 
and we charge a healthy commission, so everybody 
wins, which is unheard of in the childcare sector.

How does the Koru Kids platform work?
Koru Kids recruits, vets and trains nannies and 
childminders. We create profiles for each childcare 
worker, which can then be filtered through by parents 
looking for childcare. 

Parents fill in their preferences, then search on our 
platform to find the best childcare for them. We 
offer hands-on support to help them hire the best 
childminder for their needs and we organise the 
payments, tax and insurance between the two parties. 

What’s next for Koru Kids?
The word ‘Koru’ means ‘loop’ in Māori. We want our 
offering to be a loop of care around our families and 
childcarers. It’s always been the vision from day one.

We’re building a childcare ecosystem that works 
for both families and childcarers. An ecosystem 
that also focuses on the development of the 
childminders. A babysitter could start by earning 
some extra pocket money via Koru, they then might 
develop into a part-time nanny picking kids up from 
school, before training as a childminding assistant 
specialising in early years care, and then qualifying 
to open their own setting, earning up to £70k a year.

So, plenty to do in 2023 then!
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Focus Realising potential through  
diversity, inclusion and well-being

Creating opportunities and driving 
growth through lifelong learning and 
development 

Our responsibility 
to the environment 

UN’s SDGs Goal 3,5 and 8 Goal 4  Goal 12 

Why does it matter? We believe that technology can act as a 
social accelerator – and help to solve the 
world’s problems, create jobs and social 
mobility. It’s only possible to realise this 
potential when education, capital and 
employment are available to all.

We believe that educating founders and teams 
within early-stage businesses can greatly increase 
their chances of success. We offer this to the 
ecosystem through free and open schemes, such as 
Forward’s Funding Lab and to our portfolio through 
our Studio team of industry specialists and our 
growing community.   

Inside Forward, we believe that learning and 
development is a key component of wellbeing. 
We invest in our people providing opportunities to 
develop specialist skills and progress as leaders.  

We continually seek out opportunities to 
improve our environmental performance and 
contribute to global efforts to reduce our 
impact on the environment around us. 

Sustainable Development Goals at a glance
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Releasing potential through diversity, inclusion and well-being
At Forward, we believe that  
diverse perspectives are the  
key to innovation, growth and 
our continued success as  
a business. We’re fostering a  
culture that values difference, 
furthers inclusion and promotes  
collaboration. We do it 
because we see that when 
every employee, founder or 
team member is empowered to  
impact our business, we all win.

We recognise that in order to achieve our mission 
of being the UK’s leading and most admired early-
stage investor, Forward needs to be a reflection 
of our community both in terms of our daily 
operations as well as the investments we make. 
We continue to prioritise gender equality (Goal 5) 
and sustainable working practices (Goal 8) as we 
believe that these are key areas where Forward 
can have a meaningful societal impact. 

Our core inclusion and diversity principles are as 
follows:

Diversity – improving representation  
in gender and race disparity. 

Inclusion – ensuring a fair and safe workplace 
where everyone can fulfil their potential. 

Investment – improving the diversity and  
inclusion of our investment pipeline.

We have a zero-tolerance approach to 
discrimination and harassment in the workplace. 
We can confirm that there were no reportable 
events within the organisation during the period.      

For Forward 
Our goal is to make Forward a great place for 
everyone to work. Ultimately, we want to be an 
employer of choice for high-quality, talented 
people no matter their gender, sexuality, race, 
ethnicity, social background, or religion, not only 
because this is the right thing to do, but because it 
makes us a better business. 

How we recruit 
We actively recruit and nurture talent that adds 
diversity to our workplace, seeking the best and 
the brightest, whoever they are. 

All applicants receive equal treatment regardless 
of age, disability, gender identity, marital or civil 
partner status, pregnancy or maternity, race, 
colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin, 
religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. 

To improve equality across the Forward Group, 
our key activities in 2022 focused on improving the 
recruitment pipeline and candidate experience. 

Our People Team continued to apply several  
key tactics to improve equality and diversity in  
the recruitment process:  

Using inclusive language in our job descriptions 
and throughout the hiring process to attract diverse 
candidates. We continue to work with platforms 
like BeApplied to identify and remove bias and 
inequalities in our job adverts and descriptions. 

Delivering unbiased hiring through process 
development and the use of tools and platforms, 
like Equalture, that provide insights into a person’s 
skills, personality and potential. 

Creating partnerships with organisations  
to help us build strong connections with  
diverse communities. 

These activities allowed us to achieve a  
diverse candidate pool. As a result,  67%  
of the people we hired were female and 42%  
from ethnic minorities.  

SDG GOALS 3, 5 & 8 
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Gender equality 
We’re working towards a more equal female-to-male 
ratio in the workplace. A breakdown of our makeup 
in December 2022 is outlined in the chart below.  

Mental Health & Wellbeing 
We understand the importance of the mental health and well-being of 
our team. Throughout the year, we keep track of the team's well-being 
through regular managerial one-on-ones and anonymous surveys. 
We also organise events such as team lunches and social gatherings 
to promote cohesion within the team. Additionally, we recognise 
important moments of the year with special activities, including 
guidance, support, and care packages for events such as Blue Monday, 
Anti-bullying week, and Mental Health Awareness week.

Cultural awareness 
We take pride in the diversity of our team and network and strive to 
enhance our team's awareness and understanding of different cultures. 
In 2022, we celebrated several observed holidays such as Chinese 
New Year, Holi, Ramadan, and Diwali. We also marked Black History 
Month by sharing resources, participating in Black Tech Week, and 
encouraging our team to support black-owned local businesses.

Diversity and inclusion 
We aim to improve our team's understanding of the challenges faced by 
others, while also providing individuals who face these challenges with 
the necessary tools to succeed. In 2022, we implemented a thorough 
recruitment and onboarding process to increase awareness of diversity 
and inclusion issues as the team grew. We also marked observed days 
such as International Transgender Day of Visibility, Pride Month, and 
International Women's Day through discussions, sharing of resources,  
and presentations from external speakers.

The world around us 
We are aware of the difficulties faced by many, including members of  
our own team, as a result of recent events in the UK and around the world.  
In 2022, we took action to address these issues, creating an open dialogue 
about the Russo-Ukrainian War and its impact on our team, which led 
to the sharing of resources, support for those affected, and initiatives 
including raising donations for the Disasters Emergency Committee. 
Additionally, our team organised technology donations to schools in  
East London and food donations to Hackney Food Bank.

Building a strong team culture
We believe that team culture plays a crucial role in driving growth and innovation.  
We recognise the value of diversity in bringing together different experiences, 
perspectives and opinions and ensure that diversity and inclusion principles are 
embedded at all levels of our organisation. We conduct a variety of company-wide 
initiatives and support employee-led proposals throughout the year, to empower  
each member of our team to act as a role model and advocate for inclusion.

Team Breakdown

Key initiatives include:

Female Male

100%

0%

50%

Group inc.
Execs, NEDs

PLC
Board

Management
Team
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Minority representation 
We are committed to building a team that reflects 
our community. According to 2021 Census data, 
82% of people in England and Wales are white, 
and 18% belong to a black, Asian, mixed or other 
ethnic group. We are proud to report that the ethnic 
backgrounds that our employees identify with reflect 
our community and in some groups we are ahead.  
In December 2022, team members who identified 
as being from an ethnic minority background  
comprised over 20% of our workforce.

Building an inclusive environment  
We are committed to the continuous effort of 
building an inclusive environment where people are 
treated equally and everyone has the opportunity to 
realise their potential. 

In 2022, key activities to improve inclusion across the 
Forward Group included:

Improving transparency in remuneration  
and progression through a benchmarking exercise 
and the development of a progression framework. 

Ensuring we use gender-fair language, with an  
audit to identify any male bias and a programme  
to reduce it across all our communications.  

Ensuring that every employee can express their 
performance and impact through implementation  
of specific and measurable objectives aligned to 
company goals.

Health and wellbeing 
As an organisation, we are committed to providing 
our employees with robust health and well-being 
benefits to ensure that they can reach their full 
potential at work. 

We offer every employee AXA medical care and 
unlimited mental health support through UNUM.  
We have a qualified Mental Health First Aider in  
the business who is on hand to provide support 
to our employees. We offer sick pay beyond the 
statutory offering, as well as a variety of flexible 
working policies to support our team working 
around other commitments they may have within 
their personal lives, such as parenting or other  
care-giving responsibilities.

Policies  
Our staff handbook includes a range of  
policies designed to protect both our employees  
and our business. 

These include:

• Whistleblowing

• Conduct at work

• Harassment and bullying

• Anti-bribery

• Sickness and absence

• Grievance

• Disciplinary

Post-period, we implemented an enhanced family 
policy which includes maternity pay of 16 weeks 
at an enhanced rate of full basic salary. Alongside 
this, we also offer life assurance cover and income 
protection cover via UNUM.

For Founders 
Improving deal flow diversity  
In 2022, we drove gender equality and ethnic diversity in 
our deal flow pipeline by leveraging networks, partnerships 
and through Forward-led initiatives. As a percentage of 
total deal flow, female entrepreneurs represented 25% and 
applicants from ethnic minorities made up 22%. Though these 
figures are down from those reported in our 2021 report, we 
attribute the drop to a change in methodology combined 
with a small sample set in the previous year (figures reported 
last year were for Q3.21 only). We are working to increase 
the figures this year. Ongoing, we will report from the same 
baseline.

Key activity in 2022 included our ongoing collaboration with 
Colorintech - an organisation focused on increasing diversity 
in the tech world - to deliver an acceleration programme 
for under-represented founders. We support their ‘Rise’ 
and ‘Traction Club’ programmes by providing mentorship, 
coaching and introductions to other founders, talent and 
investors. 

We consider the improvement of these statistics to be of key 
importance in 2023.
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50%

75%

25%

Male
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Ethnic 
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Forward Diversity
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Dealflow Diversity Breakdown

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 75FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  STRATEGIC REPORT



Forward Partners was a critical and valued  
partner for Colorintech throughout 2022.   
From helping us ideate and develop our Traction  
Club concept, connecting our cohorts with their  
investment teams for mentoring, to more broad  
support across our other programmes, events  
and content, they were a huge support to me and  
the whole Colorintech team. We’re excited to  
build on our partnership with Forward in 2023.

Ashleigh Ansleigh, Founder of Colorintech

As part of our ongoing efforts to increase gender 
equality and ethnic diversity in our deal flow 
pipeline, in 2022, we continued our partnership 
with Colorintech for a second year. Throughout 
the year, we were able to support Colorintech 
with more of their programmes through 
mentoring, education and offering their cohorts 
of founders access to our investors via dedicated 
Office Hours programmes. 

What is Colorintech? 
Colorintech was established in 2016 with the 
conviction that a technology industry that 
prioritises inclusivity benefits not only products, 
innovation, and employees, but also contributes 
to greater wealth distribution and reduced 
inequality in opportunities over time.

Feeling frustrated with being one of a few black 
individuals in tech, Silicon Valley tech executive 
Dion McKenzie and ex-Googler Ashleigh Ainsley 
teamed up to create a nonprofit that would 
help to increase the number of ethnic minorities 
entering the UK tech workforce and inspire 
thousands of past and future leaders join the 
movement.

Since then, Colorintech has been focused on  
one mission - to make Europe the most inclusive 
tech hub in the world. 

They do this by building programs that create 
access to some of the world’s most innovative 
companies for ethnic minorities and supporting 
early-stage underrepresented entrepreneurs.

What programmes does  
Colorintech run? 
Colorintech offers a variety of programmes  
for entrepreneurs at various stages in their 
startup journey. Last year, Forward was a proud 
partner of many of their initiatives over 2022.

• Rise is their early-stage accelerator. Designed 
to accelerate their ideas, learn best practices, 
and gain access to a community of fellow 
founders, investors, and industry experts. 
Forward delivered two cohort sessions during 
the 2022 programme. 

• Black Tech Fest is their flagship conference, 
which took place over three days in London 
in October 2022. This in-person and online 
experience brings together industry leaders, 
creators, and change-makers to provide access 
and opportunities for Black talent within the 
tech industry. Forward contributed to panel 
discussions as part of the in-person conference 
and supported Colorintech by promoting the 
event to our community in the months leading 
up to the event.

Building Traction Club 
Forward also worked closely with Colorintech 
to develop their second 5-week accelerator 
programme, Traction Club. This initiative was 
curated on the understanding that underrepresented 
founders who can show strong early-stage traction, 
can prove to potential investors that they have a 
great business. Aimed at entrepreneurs building in 
the B2B space, the programme focussed on effective 
strategies and tactics to secure their first paying 
customers. Forward worked closely with Colorintech 
to design the initial accelerator, facilitated sessions 
during the course and also supported the Colorintech 
team with finding B2B sales industry experts to deliver 
sessions throughout the programme. Local Globe, 
another VC firm also participated in the programme.

Looking ahead to 2023 
This year, Forward aims to expand its reach  
into under-served communities, working with 
teams like Colorintech to develop programmes 
and providing strategic support as they 
expand their curriculums and reach more 
underrepresented founders. We hope to meet 
many more accelerator participants and  
continue the promising investment discussions 
from their network. 

A first customer is a huge moment for a founder. 
It’s not the money , it’s proof that you might have 
something great. A positive signal to early-stage 
investors. And a big leap in a startup team’s 
mindset towards scale. We were really excited  
to work with ColorInTech on Traction Cub,  
and the group of high-potential, early-stage  
and under-represented founders to do just that.

Jared Ruddy, Head of Growth and Marketing  
at Forward Partners

Supporting ethnic minority founders with 
At Forward, we believe that diverse perspectives are the key to 
innovation, growth and our continued success as a business. That’s why 
we’re dedicated to ensuring that our deal flow pipeline is reflective of 
wider society as a whole. 
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Creating opportunities and driving growth  
through lifelong learning and development 

For Founders 
Driving portfolio growth  
through learning and development  
We believe that empowering a culture of learning 
and development within early-stage businesses can 
greatly increase their chances of success. 

Our purpose is to give founders their best shot at 
success. Through our learning and development 
programmes we help make this possible for founders 
within and outside our portfolio.

  

Key activities include:

Forward’s Funding Lab 
An evolution of our ‘Founder Programme’,  
‘Funding Lab’ helps early-stage founders preparing 
for a fundraise. At the end of the programme,  
if a company is the right fit for us, we’ll consider 
investing. In 2022, we ran the programme once  
and received almost 500 applications. 

Content and community events 
Forward’s Studio and Marketing teams support 
the startup community and portfolio with ‘growth 
playbooks’ content and through a series of events 
throughout the year. We deliver specific educational 
content across a range of specialised topics – from 
fundraising to marketing and product development 
– as well as providing a safe place for founders and 
operators to share their insights and activity.

 

Office Hours 
Our Office Hours pitching sessions are a radically 
open way to gain access to VC advice without the 
need for a network. Open to any founder with a big 
idea at the start of their journey, entrepreneurs can 
pitch their idea or simply ask for advice and feedback. 
We've invested in multiple companies through Office 
Hours, including HIGHR, a direct-to-consumer 
eCommerce brand offering clean beauty products.  
In 2022, we received over 1,000 applications.

SDG GOAL 4

We believe that education, 
continuous learning, and 
development are crucial for 
building a successful and 
sustainable business, driving 
growth in our portfolio,  
and creating opportunities  
for all in the rapidly growing  
UK tech industry. 

For Forward 
Learning and development  
at the heart of our culture
At Forward, we believe that learning and 
development are key to driving growth, innovation, 
and fostering a happy and productive team. In 
2022, we improved our processes to monitor and 
improve performance for team members across 
the business, provided support for personal learning 
and development goals and promoted cross-
team collaboration with a programme of activities 
that brought the team closer both socially and 
professionally.
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Managing our environmental responsibility 
For Forward 
We continue to be mindful of our environmental 
responsibility and align to SDG goal 12 by holding 
ourselves accountable to the following standards:   

• We developed internal processes to align  
ourselves with the Paris Protocol.

• We minimise our waste through managing 
consumption, recycling and reusing items  
where possible.

• We ensure our consumables, equipment and 
suppliers support our environmental goals.

• We minimise the impact commuting and business 
travel has on our overall emissions, without 
impacting our business performance, through  
a part-time remote working policy. 

• We conduct most of our business meetings  
via video conference software, resulting in  
little travel, particularly as we largely invest  
in UK-based businesses.    

For Founders 
Our investors evaluate the environmental impacts 
of potential investments during the screening and 
due diligence process. We evaluate the carbon 
footprint information available to us, and assess the 
company's commitment to reducing environmental 
emissions in their products, operations, and sales 
process, both for the business and stakeholders. 
After investing, we actively monitor this through 
board meetings and regular updates. For more 
details on this process, refer to our Responsible 
Investment section in the Sustainability Report.

SDG GOAL 12

We acknowledge the significant 
challenges that climate change poses 
to our business and society, both in the 
short and long term. As a company with 
a relatively small corporate office and 
a focus on early-stage investments, 
our environmental impact is relatively 
low. After conducting a review in 
2022, Forward's management team 
determined that the company will remain 
aligned with SDG 12 and strive to meet 
the goals of the Paris Agreement.  
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Governance

Governance for the Group rests with our  
Board of Directors, but our approach to good 
governance means we hold every manager 
accountable. We ensure that internal processes  
are robust and well-considered - and that  
training is regularly undertaken.  

As our portfolio and company grow, we pay careful 
attention to ensure that our internal functions are 
sufficient to support the investment team and our 
portfolio’s needs.

Find more information on our Governance policy 
and procedures in the Governance section of  
this report.

    

The QCA Code 
As a publicly traded entity listed on the AIM market 
of the London Stock Exchange, we apply the 
principles of the Corporate Governance Code  
for small and mid-size quoted companies published 
by the Quoted Companies Alliance (known as 
the QCA Code). The requirements of the QCA 
Code mean that we are subject to rigorous risk 
management and governance arrangements  
which we seek to continuously monitor and,  
where appropriate, enhance.
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Engaging with our stakeholders
Under Section 172(1) of the Company Act 2006,  
a director of a company must act in the way he or 
she considers, in good faith, would be most likely 
to promote the success of the company for the 
benefit of its members, and in doing so have regard 
(amongst other matters) to:  

a)  the likely consequence of any decision  
in the long-term;

b)  the interests of the company’s employees;

c)  the need to foster the company’s business 
relationships with suppliers, customers  
and others;

d)  the impact of the company’s operations  
on the community and the environment;

e)  the desirability of the company maintaining 
a reputation for high standards of business 
conduct; and

f)  the need to act fairly as between members  
of the company.

The following disclosure describes how the Directors 
have had regard to the matters set out in Section 
172(1) (a) to (f) and forms the Directors’ Statement 
under section 414CZA of The Companies Act 2006. 
Examples have been included of both the routine 
application of such considerations in the ordinary 
course of business, and their role in certain key  
Board decisions through the year. 
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Employees 

Why we engage 
Our people are the key to delivering 
our purpose and growth as a business. 
We consider team culture to be a vital 
part of our strategy and both top-down 
and bottom-up engagement as the key 
to promoting a strong culture of pace, 
ownership and corporate governance.  

How we engage 
Forward holds a relatively small employee base, making it 
possible for Directors to engage with employees on a day-to-
day basis. 

All-staff meetings are held quarterly as an ‘away day’ to align 
strategy and objectives across the Company. 

Fortnightly meetings are held to review department updates 
against objectives and key results. All Executive Directors are 
present at these meetings. 

The Non-Executive Directors have an open invitation to speak 
with anyone in the business and regularly speak with them in 
person at board and committee meetings. The Board frequently 
discusses and advises on people-related matters.

2022 outcomes 
• ‘All-staff’ meetings were held each fortnight to track 

performance and encourage a cohesive, transparent culture.   

• Quarterly away-day programme was expanded to include a 
preliminary management team session to ensure alignment 
between department objectives.

Shareholders 

Why we engage 
Our investors provide 
capital for growth as well as 
feedback on our strategy 
and objectives. 

How we engage 
The Directors maintain an investor relations annual plan that includes 
delivery of key updates, presentations and reports delivered via: 

• Forward Partners website;

• The London Stock Exchange’s (LSEG) Regulatory News Service (RNS); 

• Regular communication with institutional shareholders through 
individual meetings, particularly following the publication of interim and 
full-year results; and 

• Reporting to the board on general investor matters, including feedback 
gained from brokers following investor engagements.  

At our Investor Days, a selection of portfolio companies present their 
businesses and trading updates, allowing for direct engagement between 
Forward Partners, our shareholders and our portfolio companies. 

Members of the Board are in attendance at our Annual General Meeting 
and available for shareholder questions. Dates for these events will be 
made in due course.

2022 outcomes 
• Investor relations plan created and maintained. Investor 

communications programme and key asset creation implemented. 

• Events schedule planned. Publication of key dates for 2023  
in due course.
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Portfolio companies

Why we engage 
At Forward, we believe that early-stage 
founders who receive higher levels of 
engagement and support are more 
likely to grow faster and succeed. We 
apply an open, inclusive and supportive 
approach to engagement with portfolio 
companies to improve outcomes by 
creating better visibility on company 
progress, practices and opportunities 
to support growth.

How we engage 
We maintain regular contact with our portfolio companies.  
For actively managed companies, this typically involves taking  
a board directorship or attending board meetings as an 
observer. Across our portfolio, we strive to build strong 
relationships between founders and our Ventures and Studio 
teams to ensure that they have the expertise, mentorship and 
support that they need to drive growth. Portfolio company 
performance is a standing agenda item at Management and 
Board meetings. For further information on our portfolio, please 
refer to the Portfolio Review included in the Strategic Report 
section of this document.   

2022 outcomes 
Forward actively manages 43 companies. Within these 
companies, typically we hold a board or observer seat.  
A member of the team attends board meetings – these  
typically occur every 1 to 3 months. 

In addition, team members work with portfolio companies 
on an ad hoc basis to support and assist founders and their 
management teams.

Investment partners

Why we engage 
We believe that collaboration with 
key, like-minded partners in the 
ecosystem can enhance investment 
opportunities through access to 
otherwise proprietary dealflow, 
as well as provide entrepreneurs 
with greater access to funding and 
support to grow their businesses. 

How we engage 
Forward regularly engages on a formal and informal basis 
with a curated network of investment partners. Each 
investor holds key relationships based upon their areas 
of expertise and investment focus. Through this network, 
Forward shares deal flow and resources to co-invest into 
high-growth, early stage technology companies across 
the UK. This includes initial investments and follow-on 
rounds at companies within our portfolio.

2022 outcomes 
In 2022 Forward’s Investment Team assessed more than 
4,672 leads, many of which  were referred to the Ventures 
team through the personal networks of Forward Partners 
team members.
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Ecosystem 

Why we engage 
Our vision is a world where 
every founder realises their 
potential. Engaging with the 
founders at the early stages 
of their development is key 
to reaching this goal. For 
Forward, it’s not only the 
right thing to do: this activity 
fundamentally improves our 
brand and standing in the 
ecosystem as a leading and 
admired investor, which in turn 
boosts the volume and quality 
of our deal flow.

How we engage 
Our Venture, Studio and Marketing teams deliver a range of programmes and events to 
support, engage and educate early-stage founders. 

Key activities include: 

Forward’s Funding Lab – a free programme for early-stage founders to get pitch-ready. 

Forward’s Founder Office Hours – a route for entrepreneurs to directly engage with 
investors, with or without a referral network. We’ve provided hundreds of companies 
with advice and support and have directly invested in a series of businesses through this 
initiative. 

Our Studio and Marketing teams also run events throughout the year for portfolio 
companies and the wider ecosystem. These events deliver educational content across a 
range of specialised topics – from fundraising to marketing and product development – as 
well as providing a safe place for founders and operators to share their insights and activity. 

We also recognise the significance of improving deal flow diversity. We run a series of 
programmes to highlight its importance to the ecosystem and improve key metrics.

2022 outcomes 
• Forward’s Funding Lab Programme ran once in 2022, receiving over 400 applications.

• Forward’s Founder Office Hours ran monthly through 2022.

• Forward partnered with Color In Tech to run ‘Traction Club’ - an accelerator for founders 
who identify as an ethnic minority.

Suppliers & advisors 

Why we engage 
The partnerships that we hold with our 
suppliers ensure that we can deliver the 
best possible service to our stakeholders, 
while fulfilling our obligations as a public 
company and maintaining a high level of 
regulatory compliance. We are highly 
selective in our choice of suppliers, 
ensuring that they hold high standards 
of delivery, governance and ethics. We 
foster strong relationships and engage 
regularly to ensure that the goods and 
services they deliver are in line with 
applicable laws, regulations and best 
practices. 

How we engage 
The Group seeks suppliers with proven 
track records and demonstrable levels  
of performance, ethics and governance in 
order to create value and mitigate risk. 

2022 outcomes 
The Group holds positive and open 
relationships with its suppliers. 
Relationships are typically held by 
Directors or Senior Management. 

Through 2022, relationships with  
suppliers and advisors were regularly 
reviewed to ensure capabilities and 
performance were appropriate to aid  
the Group in the delivery of its  
key functions.
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The environment  

Why we engage 
We recognise the importance of environmental, 
social and corporate governance (ESG) issues and 
their potential impact on society and our business. 
Forward continually seeks opportunities to improve 
ESG-related measures, considering our role to act 
responsibly as a business as well as the direct impact 
these issues can have within the community and our 
business as investor expectations evolve.

How we engage 
Forward is committed to positively engaging with sustainability and 
ESG issues and has considered the interests and priorities of our 
stakeholders on environmental matters in our approach. More details 
on our ESG Policy and ESG-related activities can be found in the 
Sustainability section of the Strategic Report of this report.    

2022 outcomes 
In 2022, we continued to align ourselves with the Paris Protocol; to 
minimise our waste through managing consumption, recycling and 
reusing items where possible; to ensure our consumables, equipment 
and suppliers support our environmental goals; and to minimise the 
impact commuting and business travel has on our overall emissions, 
without impacting our business performance through a part-time 
remote working policy.
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Board of directors
An independent Board with the expertise to support Forward as it scales.

 Jonathan McKay  
Non-Executive Director  
and Chairperson 

Appointed  

12.07.21
Committee memberships 
Audit and Valuations Committee 
Observer: Remuneration  
and Nomination Committee 

Areas of expertise 
Experienced Chairperson  
and board member

Jonathan has over 30 years of experience in 
managing and mentoring fast-growth tech 
companies. He has a background in telecom 
infrastructure and has experience of scaling 
businesses in the UK and internationally. Earlier in 
his career, Jonathan was the Vice President and 
General Manager of Sun Microsystems’ software 
Tools and Integration business unit in San 
Francisco. He joined Sun Microsystems following 
their acquisition of Forte, where he held COO 
and CMO roles.

As an executive and non-executive Chairperson, 
Jonathan has worked on several large M&A 
deals, including ISG’s sale to Allvotec and Just 
Giving’s sale to Blackbaud. Jonathan is currently 
the Chairperson of La Fosse Associates -  
a technology recruitment company, Driftrock - 
a lead generation platform for consumer-facing 
corporates and Move.ai, a generative AI based 
motion capture business .

Susanne is an experienced executive with a track 
record of delivering sustained performance 
improvements in medium and large-scale businesses, 
both in the private and listed company spheres. She 
has a background in the consumer sector, having held 
executive roles at TJX Inc, John Lewis Partnership and 
Superdry Plc. Susanne is currently the Chairperson of 
women’s clothing retailer Hush Homewear Ltd.

Internationally, Susanne is a non-executive director of 
Trent Limited, the retail arm of Tata Group, which is 
listed on the National Stock Exchange of India, and she 
was previously chair of the remuneration committee 
at Al Tayer Insignia, part of the Al Tayer Group in the 
Middle East. Furthermore, Susanne’s previous non-
executive directorships include Deloitte NSE, Eurostar, 
Morrisons Plc and Tritax Big Box REIT PLC.   

Susanne is also a Trustee and Chair of the Guy’s  
and St Thomas’ Foundation. 

Susanne Given   
Non-Executive Director 

Appointed  
28.05.21 

Committee memberships 
Remuneration and  
Nomination Committee 
Audit and Valuations Committee 

Areas of expertise
Experienced Chairperson  
with PLC experience 
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Christopher Smith  
Non-Executive Director   

Appointed  
12.07.21

Committee memberships 
Remuneration and  
Nomination Committee 
Audit and Valuations Committee 

Areas of expertise 
Deep financial PLC experience

Nic Brisbourne  
Chief Executive Officer   

Appointed  
04.03.21
Appointed Executive Director & CEO 
of Forward Partners Management 
Company Limited 18.12.13.

Christopher has extensive corporate finance and public 
markets experience in a career covering 35 years in 
equities and investment banking, most recently as a 
Vice Chairman at UBS Limited, which he joined in 1992 
as SG Warburg. He began his banking career in 1985  
in equity sales, moving over to corporate finance in 1999.  
From 2006 he ran the UK, Ireland and South African  
Equity Capital Markets business at UBS and 
has advised many company boards and the UK 
Government on a variety of major transactions.  
His wide-ranging experience includes capital-raising, 
stake sales, flotations, the market and shareholder 
element of public M&A transactions and giving strategic 
and general corporate finance advice.

Nic is the founder and CEO of Forward Partners.  
He has worked in venture capital in London and Silicon 
Valley for over 20 years. Prior to founding Forward in 
2013, he was a founding Partner at leading venture 
capital firm Molten Ventures (formerly Draper Espirit), 
which went on to admit to AIM in 2016. Before entering 
the venture capital industry, Nic worked as a strategy 
consultant for Gemini Consulting and at London-based 
startup Operis Group plc.

Nic has led on over 100 investments and has overseen 
several successful exits, including, most recently, 
Wonderbly and Heights from the Forward portfolio.  
In 2021, Forward listed on the London Stock Exchange, 
raising £36.6m. He currently sits on the board of 
multiple fast-growth startups including; Robin, Makers, 
Koyo, Koru Kids and Patch.
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Lloyd Smith   
Chief Financial Officer   

Appointed  
21.03.22 
Appointed Company Secretary 
07.06.22.

On 17 January 2022, Forward announced the 
appointment of Lloyd Smith as Chief Financial Officer, 
with effect from 21 March 2022. 

Lloyd joins from ATI Global, incorporating InfoTrack 
and Practice Evolve, who provide legal technology, 
software and information services. Lloyd held the 
position of Chief Financial Officer for the UK and 
Ireland businesses where his financial stewardship 
facilitated rapid organic and M&A growth from £1m 
to £100m revenue and substantial market share  
gains for InfoTrack. Prior to joining ATI, he spent  
five years in audit at EY and four years in PwC’s 
Deals Team working with a mix of private equity 
firms, AIM-listed businesses, banks and other 
privately held companies.
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Chair’s letter.
Dear Shareholders, 

I’m pleased to introduce the Governance Report  
for the year ended 31 December 2022. In this 
section, we set out Forward’s approach to corporate 
governance, how our Board and committees work, 
their responsibilities and the key activities for the year 
to comply with the principles and provisions  
of the QCA Corporate Governance Code.  

The Directors believe that effective governance is 
crucial for the Company's success and ability to deliver 
sustainable, long-term growth.  Forward follows the 
guidelines set by the Quoted Companies Alliance 
for corporate governance for small and mid-size 
quoted companies, known as the "QCA Code".  These 
governance structures allow Forward’s Executive 
and Management Team to focus on delivering the 
investment strategy and driving portfolio growth for 
the Group within a framework of clearly articulated 
roles. As a company, we aim to deliver activity with  
our environmental, social and governance objectives  
in mind — driving improvements in diversity, equality 
and inclusivity for our team and through our 
engagements with the UK technology ecosystem.

This year, we built upon the policies put in place at IPO, 
refining the way that we operate as a Board and as 
a company to promote agility and pace. We believe 
that the systems and procedures we have established 
are appropriate and effective for the current size and 
stage of our business. The Board regularly reviews 
these to ensure that they develop in line with Forward’s 
growth and development as a business. 

Further details on the Board, as well as reports  
from the Remuneration and Nominations, and Audit 
and Valuations Committees, can be found later in  
this section.

 

Jonathan McKay 
Chair

3 May 2023
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Corporate governance report
The Board 
Composition of the Board
The Board comprised five directors in 2022: three 
Non-Executive Directors – Jonathan McKay 
(Chair), Christopher Smith and Susanne Given – 
and two Executive Directors — Nic Brisbourne 
(Chief Executive Officer) and Lloyd Smith (Chief 
Financial Officer). On 17 January 2022, Forward 
announced the departure of Matthew Bradley (Chief 
Financial Officer and Chief Investment Officer) and 
the appointment of Lloyd Smith as Chief Financial 
Officer, effective from 21 March 2022.

The background and experience of the Board 
are outlined at the beginning of this section in 
their biographies. Collectively, the Non-Executive 
Directors bring strong functional and sectoral 
experience and skills appropriate to providing 
constructive support and challenge to the  
Executive Directors.   

Compliance with the QCA Code
The Board believes the 10 principles of the  
QCA Code have been appropriately applied  
through 2022.

Overview of the corporate  
governance framework
Our governance structure has been constructed  
to support our compliance with the QCA Code, 
the AIM Rules, and other legal, regulatory and 
compliance requirements that apply to us. They 
allow Forward’s Executive and Management Team 
to focus on delivering the investment strategy and 
driving portfolio growth for the Group within a 
framework of clearly articulated roles.   

Board
The Directors are responsible for setting strategic goals and objectives for the Group.  
This includes Forward's strategies for investment and driving portfolio growth as well as furthering 
Forward's mission to build the UK's most admired early-stage investment firm and developing  
the Group's corporate values and culture 

Audit & Valuations Committee Remuneration Committee

Assists the Board in fulfilling its obligations 
relating to the integrity of the internal  
financial controls and financial reporting of  
the Company. 

Key responsibilities include:

• Monitoring internal controls and  
risk management

• Reviewing financial reporting

• Managing external audits

Assists the Board in the fulfilment of their 
respective corporate governance responsibilities 
under applicable securities laws, instruments, 
rules and policies and regulatory requirements 
to promote a culture of integrity throughout the 
Company; to assist the Company in identifying 
and recommending new nominees for election  
to the Board; in setting director and senior 
officer remuneration and to develop and submit 
to the Board recommendations with respect to 
other employee benefits considered advisable. 

Key responsibilities include:

• Reviewing salary proposals

• Reviewing bonus and long-term  
incentive plan share option awards.

• Giving full consideration to succession  
planning for directors and other senior 
executives in the course of its work.

Board and committee structure

The Corporte Governance statement forms part of the Directors' Report 
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Director Board Remuneration & 
Nominations

Audit &  
Valuations

Out of 11 meetings Out of 3 meetings Out of 5 meetings

Jonathan McKay 11 3 4

Susanne Given 11 3 5

Chris Smith 11 3 5

Nic Brisbourne 11 3 4

Lloyd Smith 9 3 5

Matthew Bradley 4 0 0

Role of the Board 
The Directors are responsible for setting strategic 
goals and objectives for the Group. This includes 
Forward’s investment strategy; driving portfolio 
growth; environmental, sustainability and 
governance factors; furthering Forward’s mission  
to build the UK’s leading and most admired early-
stage investment firm and developing the Group’s 
corporate values and culture. In discharging its 
role, the Board is responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate policy, procedures and controls are 
in place to support effective risk management and 
performance against agreed strategic and financial 
key performance indicators.

Roles and responsibilities
Responsibilities between Executive and  
Non-Executive members of the Board are  
clearly delineated. The roles of the Chairperson  
and Chief Executive are separately held and  
their responsibilities are well defined.  

Operation and responsibilities 
The Board’s operation is documented in a formal 
schedule of matters reserved for its approval.  
This includes matters relating to:

• Management structure and appointments, 
including the appointment or removal of senior 
executives and senior management; 

• Strategic aims and objectives, including  
reviewing business strategy and performance;

• Approval of investments greater than £3m;  
the sale of any assets where the proceeds will  
be greater than 10% of the Group’s net asset  
value; and any investment decision where  
a conflict of interest exists;

• Changes to the capital, corporate or  
management structure of the Group;

• Approval of financial reporting, financial  
controls and dividend policy and approving  
annual budgets;

• Oversight of environmental, social and  
governance (ESG) issues.

Day-to-day management of the Group is  
the responsibility of the CEO, CFO and  
Management Team.   

Board meetings 
The Board met 11 times in 2022. Board and 
committee meetings outside of this schedule  
operate on an as-needed basis.

Agendas for these meetings are distributed in 
advance, in line with the agreed annual schedule of 
activities approved by the Board. This ensures that 
key governance and strategic updates and decisions 
are discussed at the appropriate time in the financial 
calendar, while also allowing sufficient time to be 
devoted to relevant matters which may arise during 
the course of the year. Standing items are included 
on each agenda, including updates from the CEO 
and CFO. A comprehensive pack is prepared and 
circulated in advance of each meeting, with reports 
against the standing items providing updates on key 
matters, including performance against the agreed 
objectives and KPIs.  

Board and Committee papers are distributed to 
Directors in advance of the meetings, and each 
meeting is minuted. Every Director is aware of their 
right to have any concerns minuted.

All Directors are expected to attend all meetings of 
the Board and any Committees of which they are 
members, and to devote sufficient time to the Group’s 
affairs to fulfil their duties as Directors. 

The Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment 
anticipate that each Non-Executive Director will 
need to devote such time as is necessary for the 
proper performance of their duties.

This includes preparation for, and attendance at, 
monthly Board meetings, the AGM, at least one 
site visit a year, meetings with the Non-Executive 
Directors, meetings with shareholders, meetings 
with managers and non-managerial members of the 
workforce, meetings with key stakeholders, meetings 
forming part of the Board evaluation process and 
updating and training meetings. 

Where Directors are unable to attend a meeting, 
they are encouraged to submit any comments or 
questions on matters to be discussed to the Chair 
(or Committee Chair) in advance of the meeting to 
ensure that their views are recorded and taken  
into account. 

The Board is satisfied that the Chair and each of the 
Non-Executive Directors is able to devote sufficient 
time to the business, in accordance with the time 
commitment requirements set out in their individual 
Letters of Appointment. Each maintains open 
communication with the Executive Directors and  
the Management team between the formal  
Board meetings.

Board evaluation and composition 
There has been no formal board performance 
evaluation conducted this year as the Board  
has only been in operation since submission to  
AIM in July of 2021. Members of the board  
regularly feedback to each other to enhance  
the effectiveness of board meetings as we  
mature as a listed company.

Director Primary responsibilities

Chairperson Lead and manage the Board.  
Ensure the Board’s effectiveness.

CEO Delivery of the Group’s strategy  
through the management team.

CFO Manage the Group’s financial affairs  
and activities. Support the CEO in  
delivering the Group’s strategy.

Non-Executive 
Directors

Oversee the development and delivery of  
the Group’s strategy, the performance of  
senior leadership and the adequacy of 
governance policies and processes.
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Operational considerations 
Conflicts of interest 
At each meeting of the Board or its committees, 
the Directors are required to declare any interests 
in the matters to be discussed. The Group has also 
established a conflict of interest and share dealing 
policy, which all employees are required to follow. 
Non-Executive Directors are required to seek 
approval from the Group Compliance Officer if they 
wish to invest in companies that they consider to be 
conflicting or could lead to insider trading. 

Internal controls 
The Board is responsible for the Group’s internal 
controls as well as the monitoring of performance 
against them and ongoing review of their effectiveness. 

These controls are deemed appropriate for the 
size, complexity and risk profile of the Group in the 
identification and management of risks, but it is 
acknowledged that they cannot eliminate them entirely. 
As a result, such controls cannot provide absolute 
assurance against misstatement or loss. 

Key elements of this control system include: 

• Close management of the day-to-day activities  
of the Group by the Executive Directors;

• An organisational structure with defined levels  
of responsibility;

• Specified investment approval levels  
and financial authority limits;

• An annual budgeting process,  
which is approved by the Board.  

• 

• 

External advisors 
The Board seeks advice and guidance on various 
matters from its nominated advisor Liberum, 
solicitors Gowling WLG (English law), FCA 
compliance consultants Newgate Compliance, 
remuneration advisors MM&K, policy and portfolio 
valuations advice from Kroll, and audit and tax 
accountants Grant Thornton UK LLP, along with 
external accounting and tax advisors for specific 
technical advice.   

Shareholder and  
stakeholder relations 
Communication 
Regular communication with institutional 
shareholders is maintained through individual 
meetings with the Executive Directors, particularly 
following the publication of interim and full-year 
results and trading statements. 

The Board encourages all shareholders to attend 
and vote at Forward’s Annual General Meeting, 
where the Board will be in attendance and  
available for shareholder questions. Full details  
of this meeting are available via Forward’s investor 
hub at forwardpartners.com.

Investor relations is a key consideration for the 
Board, and the Management Team routinely updates 
the Board as to the outcomes of their meetings with 
shareholders and potential investors. These initiatives 
help us to understand shareholders’ views and to 
address their concerns.

Connecting shareholders  
with our portfolio 
The Management Team delivers a programme 
of activity to connect investors with portfolio 
companies through events and investor-oriented 
communications.    

AGM details 
The Notice of the Annual General Meeting, which 
sets out the resolutions proposed and explanatory 
notes, will be contained in a separate circular to 
shareholders to be sent out shortly after the  
release of this Annual Report.
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present our 
Directors’ Remuneration and Nominations Committee 
Report for the year ended 31 December 2022.  
The report summarises the work of the Committee  
in 2022 and Forward’s remuneration policy. It also  
sets out the remuneration paid to the Directors  
during the year.  

Christopher Smith 
Chair of the Remuneration and  
Nominations Committee. 

Overview
Purpose
The Committee is appointed by the Board to assist 
in the fulfilment of their respective corporate 
governance responsibilities under applicable securities 
laws, rules and regulatory requirements; to promote 
a culture of integrity throughout the Group; to assist 
the Group in identifying and recommending new 
nominees for election to the Board; in setting director 
and senior officer remuneration; and to develop and 
submit to the Board recommendations with respect to 
other employee benefits considered advisable.

Members of the Committee
The members of the Remuneration and Nominations 
Committee are the two Non-Executive Directors, 
Christopher Smith (Chair of the Committee), and 
Susanne Given. Jonathan McKay is an observer. The 
committee operates under the terms of reference 
adopted for it by the Board on 30th June 2021.  

Board appointments  
and succession planning  
The Committee reviews the composition of the 
Board and its committees to evaluate the relevant 
skills and experience within them on an annual basis.

Remuneration & Nominations Committee report
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Advisors 
The Committee has appointed advisors MM&K to 
provide independent guidance and advice on the 
planning, design and implementation of the Company’s 
remuneration policy, including its short and long term 
incentive plans, employee share plans, corporate 
governance and IFRS2 valuations. MM&K has advised 
the Remuneration Committee on all of the incentive 
schemes which have been implemented in 2022 
and are retained for advice for 2023. The fees paid 
to MM&K in relation to the advice provided to the 
committee for 2022 were £6,900. The committee 
evaluates the advice provided by MM&K on a regular 
basis and is comfortable that they do not have any 
connections with Forward that may impair their 
independence. MM&K have also been engaged to 
assist in the valuation of share options granted during 
the year in line with IFRS 2. 

Meetings 
It is intended that the Committee shall meet at least 
twice a year and otherwise as required at the discretion 
of the Committee Chairperson, a majority of the 
members or as may be required by Applicable Laws.  
It met on five occasions during the year under review.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee’s key responsibilities include: 

• Assisting the Group in identifying and recommending 
new nominees for election to the Board;

• Aligning the interests of the Executive Directors with 
the interests of long-term Shareholders; and

• Setting Director, senior officer and senior 
management remuneration and to develop and 
submit to the Board recommendations with respect to 
other employee benefits considered advisable. 

Key activity during the year 
• Executive Director compensation agreed - both base 

salary and annual bonus potential for 2023 with the 
support of MM&K Advisors.

• Company Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) level and 
performance criteria agreed for 2023.

• Overall salary increase contribution agreed and 
allocated to the business for 2022.

• Post year end a robust and transparent succession 
planning process for the board and senior 
management team, including skill gap analysis and 
talent development has been implemented.

Remuneration policy
The objective of Forward’s remuneration policy is 
to attract, retain and motivate executives of the 
highest calibre to enable the Group to achieve 
the strategic plan within the demanding budgets 
approved by the Board. The Committee also 
recognise the importance of ensuring that senior 
executives and all employees are incentivised and 
aligned with the long-term objectives of the Group 
in delivering shareholder value. To that end, a 
remuneration framework has been constructed to 
balance individual role, divisional and Company 
performance-related criteria.  

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
The Committee recognises the importance of 
long-term equity incentive schemes as a means to 
incentivise the Group’s executive management and 
ensure alignment with the objectives of the Group 
and its shareholders. Accordingly, a new LTIP was 
adopted by the Board in December 2021, with the 
initial awards in the form of nominal value options 
granted under it soon thereafter. 

Options granted pursuant to the Group LTIP will 
only vest subject to the achievement of stretching 
performance conditions linked to total shareholder 
return targets and portfolio exit targets. 

The Group assess the performance of employees 
on a calendar year basis, which is aligned with the 
financial year. For 2023, LTIP grants will be made at 
the end of the close period being 42 days from the 
day this report is released.

Carried interest scheme 
The Group has established carried interest 
plans for the Investment Team and certain other 
employees (together the “Plan Participants”) of the 
Group in respect of any investments and follow-on 
investments made. Nic Brisbourne, the CEO, is a 
participant in the Fund I and II Carried Interest plans 
but is not a participant in the Fund III plan and nor 
will he be in future carried interest plans. Funds I and 
II were set up prior to the Group’s admission to AIM.

Under the carried interest plans, subject to certain 
exceptions, Plan Participants will receive the 
amounts as set out in the table below of the net 
realised cash profits from the investments and 
follow-on investments made over the relevant period 
once the Group has been repaid the Priority Profit 
Share (PPS) and received an aggregate amount 
equal to 6% per annum (the ‘hurdle’) calculated on 
a monthly basis, compounded annually on the initial 
capital and loan funds put into the partnerships 
to fund the investments and PPS (the ‘Preferred 
Return’). The Plan Participants’ return is subject to a 
“catch-up” in their favour.

Carried interest distribution

*The Fund III carried interest plan will be implemented post year 
end for new members, but is intended to be approved on the basis 
disclosed in the table above.

Each limited partnership has its own carried interest 
plan. The carried interest plans for Fund I and II 
run from inception to cessation of the partnership. 
Sincer admission to AIM, future carried interest 
plans will be held within Fund III and are intended to 
operate in respect of investments made during each 
consecutive 24-month period and related follow-on 
investments made in the following36-months.

Employees who are entitled to participate in a 
carried interest plan are awarded points, which 
determine their allocation of the Profit Share. 
Since the Group’s admission to AIM the carried 
interest plans for Fund I and II are closed to 
new participants. Points relating to Fund III are 
conditional upon continued employment and will 
vest over a period of seven years. All plans  are 
subject to good and bad leaver provisions. Any 
unvested carried interest resulting from a plan 
participant becoming a leaver can be reallocated by 
the Remuneration and Nominations Committee.

Since the admission to AIM, Directors of the 
Company are not eligible to participate in any new 
carried interest plans

Limited Partnership Catch Up Profit Share Hurdle

Fund I 100% 20.8% higher of 6%  
or the Bank of 
England Base Rate 
plus 2%, but not 
exceeding 8%

Fund II 50.0% 20.0% 6.0%

Fund III* 50.0% 10.0% 6.0%
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Annual bonus scheme
The Committee recognises the importance of annual 
bonus schemes as a means to incentivise and reward 
both Executive Directors and other employees for 
delivering short term performance.

An annual bonus scheme based on both Company 
performance at an annual level and individual 
performance was approved in late 2021, effective 
for the 2022 financial year. In line with company 
performance, no performance-related bonuses 
were issued in 2022. As a consideration towards the 
cost of living crisis, a one-off payment of £1,000 was 
made to all employees in December 2022.

Executive Directors’  
remuneration package
The main elements of the remuneration  
package for Executive Directors are: 

• Base salary;

• Participation in the Group’s long-term  
incentive plan; and

• Employee benefits including company pension 
contribution and private medical insurance.

Executive Directors’ service contracts 
The Executive Directors signed new service agreements 
with the Group on Admission or in advance of joining. 
The Executive’s appointments are terminable upon six 
months’ written notice by either party.    

Non-Executive Directors
Each of the Non-Executive Directors signed a letter 
of appointment with the Group on Admission to 
AIM. Subject to their re-election by Shareholders, 
appointment for each Non-Executive Director shall 
continue until terminated at any time by the Group 

in accordance with the Group’s articles of association 
or the Companies Act 2006 or upon either party 
giving to the other three months' notice in writing.
The Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined by 
the Board, subject to the limit set out in the Group’s 
Articles of Association.

Forward Advances LTIP Scheme
No new options under the Advances LTIP scheme 
were granted during 2022 (2021: 282,030). The options 
previously granted under the scheme will no longer 
vest as it is impossible for the Performance Conditions 
to be met now that the business is winding down.

Statutory information  
The following information includes disclosures 
required by the AIM Rules and UK company law.

Remuneration report 
Director’s remuneration
The following table summarises the total 
remuneration of the Directors who served  
during the 2022 Financial Year.

Director’s share options 
The individual interest of the Executive Directors  
are as follows:

The total number of shares awarded under nominal 
value options under the LTIP during the year was  
176,269 (2021: 1,135,632) across the Group.

Options will vest subject to the achievement  
of performance conditions over the three years  
from grant. 

The total number of shares awarded under nominal 
value options under the LTIP during the year was 
176,269 (2021: 1,135,632) across the Group.

Service Agreements and  
Letters of Appointment 
The Remuneration policy for notice periods with  
the Executive Directors is a six-month notice period 
as standard.  

The Non-Executive Directors are appointed by 
Letters of Appointment. Their terms are subject to 
their re-election by the Group Shareholders at the 
AGM. The current terms are highlighted below.

Christopher Smith  
Chair of the Remuneration  
and Nominations Committee 

3 May 2023

Name Position Date of 
service 

agreement

Notice by 
company 
(months)

Notice by 
Director 
(months)

Jonathan McKay Chairperson 12/07/21 3 3

Christopher Smith NED 12/07/21 3 3

Susanne Given NED 28/05/21 3 3

Name Position Date of 
service 

agreement

Notice by 
company 
(months)

Notice by 
Director 
(months)

Nic Brisbourne CEO 12/07/21 6 6

Lloyd Smith CFO 13/01/22 6 6

Director Basic 
salary 

(£)

Pension 
contrib-

utions 
(£)

Taxable 
benefits

Medical 
(£)

Perform- 
ance  

related  
bonus (£)

Executive Directors

Nic Brisbourne 250,000 13,590 Medical 6,896  0

Matthew Bradley 
(resigned 7 June 2022)

90,641 4,925 Medical 1,643 0

Lloyd Smith  
(appointed 21 March 2022)

156,926 6,348 Medical 511 0

Non-executive Directors

Christopher Smith 60,000 0 None None 0

Susanne Given 60,000 0 None None 0

Jonathan McKay 70,000 0 Medical 21,214 0

Director Date  
of grant

Number 
of options

First exercise  
date

Exercise price

Executive Directors

Nic Brisbourne 06/01/22 323,318 1/3 on 19/7/2024 

1/3 on 19/7/2025 

1/3 on 19/7/2026 

£0.01 per share  

Lloyd Smith 20/10/22 155,946 1/3 on 19/7/2024 

1/3 on 19/7/2025 

1/3 on 19/7/2026 

£0.01 per share  

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors do not participate in the LTIP scheme.
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present our 
Audit and Valuations Committee Report for the year 
ended 31 December 2022. The report summarises  
the work of the Committee in 2022, its key 
responsibilities and policies.    

Susanne Given  
Chair of the Audit and Valuations Committee

Overview 

Purpose 
The Committee is appointed by the Board to  
assist the Board in fulfilling its obligations relating  
to the integrity of the internal financial controls  
and financial reporting of the Group.  

Members of the Committee 
The Board is supported by the Audit and  
Valuations Committee, which is composed of  
three Non-Executive Directors: Jonathan McKay, 
Susanne Given (Chair of the Committee) and 
Christopher Smith.  

The Committee operates under the terms of 
reference, which are reviewed annually and approved 
by the Board. 

Appointments to the Committee shall be for a period of 
up to three years, which may be extended for further 
periods of up to three years, provided the director still 
meets the criteria for membership of the Committee. 
The Board may fill vacancies in the Committee by 
appointment from amongst the Board.

Meetings 
The Committee is required to meet at least  
bi-annually at appropriate times in the reporting 
and audit cycle and otherwise as required. Outside 
of the formal meeting programmes, the Committee 
Chair will maintain a dialogue with key individuals 
involved in the Group’s governance, including the 
Chairperson, the Chief Executive, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the external audit lead partner. It met  
on three occasions during the year under review.

Audit and Valuations Committee report
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Responsibilities of the Committee 
The Audit and Valuations Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that the financial performance of the 
Group is properly monitored and reported on. 

The committee’s key responsibilities include:  

• Monitoring the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Group, including its annual and half-yearly 
reports and any other formal statements or 
announcements relating to Group performance.

• Review of narrative reporting, including the annual 
report and accounts to advise the Board on 
whether it is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for 
Shareholders to assess the Group's performance, 
business model and strategy.

• Monitoring internal controls and risk management 
systems to ensure their adequacy and 
effectiveness. While also, confirming that a robust 
assessment of the principal risks facing the Group 
has been undertaken and provide advice on the 
management and mitigation of those risks.

• Reviewing the adequacy and security of 
the Group’s arrangements for compliance, 
whistleblowing and fraud.

• Managing the relationship, performance, 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of a 
firm as external auditor.

• Providing a review of investment valuations and 
the CFO's assessment of them. 

The Committee is also responsible for establishing, 
monitoring and reviewing procedures and controls 
for ensuring compliance with the AIM Rules.  
It reports regularly to the Board on its activities  
and makes recommendations, all of which have 
been accepted during the year. 

Role of the external auditor
The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring 
the relationship with the external auditor, 
Grant Thornton UK LLP, in order to ensure that 
the auditor’s independence and objectivity is 
maintained. As part of this responsibility, the Audit 
Committee reviews the provision of non-audit 
services by the external auditor and the Audit and 
Valuations Committee Chairperson is consulted by 
management prior to the external auditor being 
engaged to provide any such non-audit services. 

Appointment and tenure of  
the external auditor  
Grant Thornton UK LLP was first appointed as the 
Group’s external auditor in 2021 for all entities save 
for Fund II where they have been the auditors since 
its inception in 2017. The Committee continues to 
be satisfied with the scope of the external auditor’s 
work, the effectiveness of the external audit process, 
and that Grant Thornton UK LLP continues to be 
independent and objective. The Committee intends 
to adopt the timing for audit tenders recommended 
by the UK Corporate Governance Code and in 
line with appropriate legislative and regulatory 
requirements. It is therefore intended that the 
external audit contract will be put out to tender at 
least every ten years or sooner, and therefore no 
later than the 2031 financial year-end.    

Audit process 
The external auditor prepares an audit plan for its 
review of the full-year financial statements, and the 
audit plan is reviewed and agreed in advance by the 
Audit and Valuations Committee. Prior to approval 
of the financial statements, the external auditor 
presents its findings to the Audit and Valuations 
Committee, highlighting areas of significant  
financial judgement for discussion.     

Internal audit and advisor support  
The Group has no internal audit function. The Audit 
and Valuations Committee has considered the need 
for an internal audit function prior to the IPO and 
is of the view that, given the size and nature of the 
Group’s operations and finance team, management 
and the Board are able to derive assurance as to 
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls 
and risk management procedures without one and 
as such there is no current requirement to establish 
a separate internal audit function. This will be 
reviewed from time to time. 

During the year, the Group sought the advice of Kroll 
in relation to its valuation policy. Minor amendments 
were made to ensure the policy was current and in 
line with the latest IPEV guidelines. These were in 
effect for the 2022 year-end. Kroll, formerly Duff 
& Phelps, is considered to have deep valuations 
experience and sits on the board of IPEV. We retain 
Kroll as advisors to provide assistance with general 
queries and an impartial third-party perspective 
with more complex valuation approaches.

With regard to the value of the LTIP options, advice 
was sought from MM&K to ensure the value of them 
was recorded in accordance with IFRS 2 within the 
financial statements.
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Significant issues considered  
in relation to the Financial Statements 
Significant issues and accounting judgements are 
identified by the finance team and the external audit 
planning process and then reviewed by the Audit 
and Valuations Committee. The most significant  
risk in the Group’s financial statements is whether  
its investments are fairly and consistently valued,  
and this issue is considered carefully when  
the Audit Committee reviews the Group's Annual 
and Interim Reports.

The Audit and Valuations Committee has managed 
the relationship with the auditor and assessed the 
effectiveness of the audit process. When assessing 
the effectiveness of the process for the period under 
review the Committee considered the auditor’s 
technical knowledge and that they have a clear 
understanding of the business of the Group; that 
the audit team is appropriately resourced; that 
the auditor provided a clear explanation of the 
scope and strategy of the audit and maintained 
independence and objectivity. As part of the 
review of auditor effectiveness and independence, 
Grant Thornton UK LLP has confirmed that it is 
independent of the Group and has complied with 
applicable auditing standards.

Share dealing, anti-bribery  
and whistleblowing 
The Group has adopted a share dealing code in 
conformity with the requirements of Rule 21 of the 
AIM Rules and the UK Market Abuse Regulation. 
All employees, including new joiners, are required 
to agree to comply with the code. The Group has 
also adopted anti-bribery and whistleblowing 
policies, which are included in the employee staff 
handbook, as well as systems and controls, to ensure 
compliance with those policies. The Group operates 
an open and inclusive culture and employees are 
encouraged to speak up if they have any concerns. 
The aim of such policies is to ensure that all 
employees observe ethical behaviours and bring 
matters which cause them concern to the attention 
of either the Executive or Non-Executive Directors. 

 

Susanne Given  
Chair of the Audit and Valuations Committee 
3 May 2023

Issue/topic Committee action

Fair value of investments in  
unquoted investments 

• Management has confirmed to the Audit and 
Valuations Committee that the basis of valuation 
for unquoted companies was in accordance with 
published industry guidelines, taking account of the 
latest available information about investee companies 
and current market data. 

• The Committee agreed that the management’s 
process was appropriate and was satisfied with the 
fair value recognised as at 31 December 2022 in 
regards to these unquoted investments. 

• The Directors engaged Kroll, formerly Duff & Phelps, 
to carry out a review of the Company’s valuation 
policy and to provide recommendations and practical 
guidance. The report has been completed and the 
Directors have taken on board Kroll’s suggestions.

• The valuation of unquoted investments is discussed 
regularly at Board meetings, Directors are also 
consulted about material changes to these valuations 
between Board meetings.

Audit planning • During the year, the Committee regularly reviewed  
the 2021 Audit process and oversaw the planning  
for the 2022 Audit.

Cash deployment • The Committee reviewed and approved the budget  
for 2023.
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Introduction 
Our Board currently comprises the Chair, two 
other Non-Executive Directors and two Executive 
Directors. 

The Board met formally 11 times during 2022. 
Regular contact between the Directors and the 
Management Team continued throughout the year 
as required for the purpose of considering key 
decisions of the Group. 

The Directors are kept fully informed of investment 
and company performance. The Board receives 
periodic reports and ad-hoc information.

Results and dividends 
Capital structure 
The Group does not have any debt facilities.  
During the year the Group terminated its debt 
facility with Triple Point, which was in place for the 
benefit of Forward Advances and was no longer 
required. The Group does not have any other debt 
facilities. As at 31 December 2022, Forward’s cash 
position was £17.2m and 134,613,117 shares of £0.01 
each were in issue.

Group performance, results  
and dividends 
The Group made a post-tax loss of £43.1m.  
In accordance with our dividend policy as stated  
in our Admission document, the Directors do  
not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Post year-end developments   
The Group, as ever, remains focused on delivering 
the best value to entrepreneurs and investors. There 
are no developments to report post-year-end.     

Review of the business  
An overview of the Director’s outlook for the 
business can be found in the Chair’s Introduction, 
CEO Report and Financial Review. Further detail can 
be found within the Ventures Portfolio Review within 
the Strategic Report. 

Directors’ report
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Voting  
Voting rights 
The rights attaching to the shares are set out in the 
bye-laws of the Group. There are no restrictions on 
the transfer of ordinary shares other than those which 
may be imposed by law from time to time. There are no 
special control rights in relation to the Group’s shares 
and the Group is not aware of any agreements between 
holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the 
transfer of securities or on voting rights. In accordance 
with the Market Abuse Regulation and the Group's 
share dealing code, Board members and certain 
employees of the Group’s service providers are required 
to seek approval to deal in the Group’s shares. 

At a general meeting of the Group, every holder of 
shares who is present in person or by proxy shall, on a 
poll, have one vote for every share of which they are the 
holder. All the rights attached to a treasury share shall 
be suspended and shall not be exercised by the Group 
while it holds such treasury shares and, where required 
by the Act, all treasury shares shall be excluded from the 
calculation of any percentage or fraction of the share 
capital or shares of the Group. As at the year-end, the 
Group did not hold any treasury shares.

Ordinary Shareholders are entitled to receive notice 
of, and to attend and speak at, any general meeting 
of the Group. On a show of hands, every Shareholder 
present in person or by proxy (or being a corporation 
represented by a duly authorised representative) shall 
have one vote, and on a poll, every Shareholder who 
is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for 
every share of which he or she is the holder. The Notice 
of Annual General Meeting specifies deadlines for 
exercising voting rights and appointing a proxy  
or proxies. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled  
to one vote per share at meetings of the Group.  

Directors 
The current Directors of the Group are listed at the 
beginning of this Governance section. 

One-third of all Directors seek re-election by 
Shareholders at each Annual General Meeting, along 
with any Directors appointed within the year. In 2022, 
Lloyd Smith sought election and Jonathan McKay and 
Nicholas Brisbourne sought re-election. All bids were 
successful. No other person was a Director of the Group 
during any part of the period up to the approval of 
this Report on  3 May 2023. The Board has reviewed 
the performance and commitment of the Directors 
standing for re-election and considers that each of them 
should continue to serve on the Board as they bring 
wide, current and relevant experience that allows them 
to contribute effectively to the leadership of the Group. 
More details are contained within the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting.  

The Directors of the Group who held office during the 
year were:

Directors’ interests 
A table showing the interests of the Directors in the 
share capital of Forward Partners Group Plc is set 
out in the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
Report.

The Directors continue to declare on an ongoing 
basis all conflicts and potential conflicts of interest 
to the Board. Declaration of Directors’ interests is a 
standing Board agenda item at the outset of each 
meeting. A conflicted Director is not allowed to take 
part in the relevant discussion or decision and is not 
counted when determining whether a meeting  
is quorate.

Directors’ and Officers’ liability  
insurance cover  
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover has 
been maintained by the Group since 28 June 2021.  
It is intended that cover will continue and be renewed 
when the current policy expires on 27th June 2023.     

Directors’ indemnity  
The Group provides, subject to the provisions of 
applicable UK legislation, an indemnity for Directors 
in respect of costs incurred in the defence of any 
proceedings brought against them and liabilities 
owed to third parties, in either case arising out  
of their positions as Directors. This was in place 
throughout the financial year under review, up to  
and including the date of the Financial Statements.  
A copy of each deed of indemnity is available  
for inspection at the Group’s offices during normal 
business hours and will be available at the  
Annual General Meeting.   

Directors’ fees  
The Directors’ Remuneration Report and the 
Directors’ Remuneration Policy are set out earlier in 
this section. 

Compensation for loss of office  
There are no agreements between the Group and 
its Directors providing for compensation for loss of 
office that occurs because of a change of control. 

Articles of Association 
The rules governing the appointment and 
replacement of Directors are set out in the Group’s 
Articles of Association. A copy of the Articles of 
Association can be found on the Group's website: 
forwardpartners.com/aim26

Financial instruments 
The financial risk management objectives of the 
Group, including details of the exposure of the 
Group and its subsidiaries to financial risks including 
credit risk, interest rate risk and currency risk, are 
provided in the Risk Management subsection of  
the Strategic Report and within the financial 
statements. The Group did not enter into any 
derivative contracts during the year.   

Director Role

Jonathan McKay Non-Executive Chairman

Christopher Smith Non-Executive Director

Susanne Given Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Brisbourne Director

Lloyd Smith Director

Matthew Bradley Director
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Going concern:  
financial prospects and position  
The Directors have considered the going concern 
assessment undertaken at Group. The Directors 
have reviewed cash flow forecasts for the Group 
and considered the impact of economic headwinds 
and market conditions on them, which has included 
stress testing the Group’s cash flow forecasts 
for severe but plausible downside scenarios and 
performing a reverse stress test covering the 
period 12 months from the date of signing (the 
going concern assessment period). This period is 
appropriate due to continued economic uncertainty. 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources and cash 
reserves to continue in operational existence over 
the going concern assessment period even  
if economic instability resulted were to have an 
impact on the portfolio valuations.

After making reasonable enquiries and having 
considered the matters described above, the 
Directors believe that the Group is a sustainable 
business, will be able to meet its liabilities as they fall 
due and will have adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence from the date of approval 
of these financial statements for a period of at least 
12 months. Accordingly, the Directors continue 
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements for the period ended 31 
December 2022.

 

Global greenhouse gas emissions  
for the year ended 31 December 2022     
At the year end, the Group had a staff of 15 FTE (full-
time equivalent), operating from a shared office in 
the UK. It does not have any significant greenhouse 
gas emissions to report from the operations of 
the Group, nor does it have responsibility for 
any other emissions-producing sources under 
the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013, including 
those within its underlying investment portfolio. The 
Group consumed less than 40,000 kWh of energy 
during the year in respect of which the Directors’ 
Report is prepared and therefore is exempt from the 
disclosures required under the Streamlined Energy 
and Carbon Reporting criteria. 

Political donations and expenditure  
The Group has made no political donations within 
the year (2021: Nil) and has no expectation of doing 
so in the future. 

Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) 
The Notice of the Annual General Meeting and the 
ordinary and special resolutions to be put to the 
meeting will be contained in a separate circular  
to Shareholders shortly after the release of this 
Annual Report. 

Capital Markets Day 
The Group holds an annual Capital Markets Day 
consisting of presentations to Shareholders and 
analysts by senior members of Forward Group 
and management teams from selected portfolio 
Companies. The first event was held on  
23 November 2022. Directors of the Board  
attend the Capital Markets Day. 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities  
in respect of the financial statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulation. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law the Directors have prepared the 
Group financial statements in accordance with 
international accounting standards in conformity 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 
and in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced 
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law). 

Under company law, Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of 
the Group for that period. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

• state whether applicable international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006 have been followed for 
the Group financial statements and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have 
been followed for the Company financial statements, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Group and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Group and Company and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Group’s and Company’s transactions 
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the Group and Company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements and the Annual Report on Remuneration 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation 
in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Directors’ confirmation 
Each of the Directors confirms that to the best of 
their knowledge and belief there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware, 
and each Director has taken all reasonable steps 
that he or she ought to have taken as a Director 
in order to make himself or herself aware of any 
relevant audit information to establish that the 
Group’s auditor is aware of that information.   

 

Nic Brisbourne  
Chief Executive Officer

3 May 2023
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Opinion
Our opinion on the financial statements  
is unmodified.

We have audited the financial statements of 
Forward Partners Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year 
ended 31 December 2022, which comprise the 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the Consolidated statement of financial position, 
the Consolidated statement of changes in equity, 
the Consolidated statement of cash flows, the 
Company statement of financial position, the 
Company statement of changes in equity and notes 
to the financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the Group financial statements 
is applicable law and UK-adopted international 
accounting standards. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion:

• the financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the state of the Group’s and of the parent 
company’s affairs as at 31 December 2022 and  
of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted 
international accounting standards;

• the parent company financial statements have 
been properly prepared in accordance with  
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

•  the financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group and the parent company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as 
applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Forward Partners Group Plc
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Conclusions relating  
to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the 
appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the 
auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group or the parent company to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the 
Group’s and the parent company’s ability to continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 

• Determining the appropriateness of the Group 
and parent company’s going concern policy 
and procedures under the relevant accounting 
framework and the rationale for why no material 
uncertainty was identified;   

• Assessing management’s ability to forecast by 
evaluating the mathematical accuracy of the 
forecasts and comparing forecasts to actual results;

• Assessing the adequacy of disclosures related to 
going concern within the financial statements, 
including considering the sufficiency of disclosures 
in relation to macro-economic uncertainties such 
as the impact of rising inflation; 

• Obtaining and evaluating management’s 
assessment of going concern assumptions 
included within their prepared budgets and 
forecasts, including but not limited to purchase and 
disposal of investments, income and expenditure 
assumptions and the level of headroom available  
in terms of cash resources;

• Considering the robustness of the forecasts to 
potential changes in underlying assumptions 
which included obtaining an understanding of how 
management has assessed the impact of events 
and market conditions including but not limited 
to rising inflation in their forecasts and evaluating 
sensitised forecasts which covered various 
plausible scenarios; and

• Identifying applicable subsequent events, 
considering their impact on cashflow forecasts and 
projections, and discussing their implications with 
management.

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we 
considered the inherent risks associated with the  
Group’s and the parent company’s business model 
including effects arising from macro-economic 
uncertainties such as inflation which may impact 
on the valuation of investments, we assessed and 
challenged the reasonableness of estimates made 
by the directors and the related disclosures and 
analysed how those risks might affect the Group’s 
and the parent company’s financial resources  
or ability to continue operations over the going 
concern period.  

In auditing the financial statements, we have 
concluded that the directors’ use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have 
not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months  
from when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of 
the directors with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current 
period and include the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement (whether or not due 
to fraud) that we identified. These matters included 
those that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit 
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide  
a separate opinion on these matters.

In the graph below, we have presented the key audit matters, significant risks and other risks relevant to the audit.

Our approach to the audit

Materiality Key audit 
matters

Scoping

Overview of our audit approach
Overall materiality:

Group: £1,966,000, which represents approximately 2%  
of the Group’s net assets.

Parent company: £1,962,000, which represents 
approximately 2% of the parent company’s net assets.

Key audit matters were identified as:

• Fair value measurement of unquoted investments in the 
Group financial statements (same as previous year). 

Our auditor’s report for the year ended 31 December 2021 
included one key audit matter that has not been reported as 
a key audit matters in our current year’s report. This related 
to the Group reorganisation and has not been identified  
as a key audit matter as it is not relevant for the year ended  
31 December 2022. 

The Group includes the following significant components: 
Forward Partners Group Plc (the parent company), Forward 
Partners Management Company Limited, Forward Partners 
Venture Advance Limited, Forward Partners Fund I L.P., 
Forward Partners Fund II L.P. and Forward Partners Fund 
III L.P. We performed audits of financial information using 
component materiality (full scope audit procedures) on all 
significant components. 

For the non-significant components, namely Forward 
Partners General Partner Ltd, Forward Partner Carried 
Interest General Partner Ltd and Forward Partners Carried 
Interest L.P, we have performed analytical procedures at the 
group level using group materiality.

In total, our audit procedures resulted in coverage of 100% 
of the Group’s total assets.

Description Audit 
response

Disclosures Our results

KAM

Key audit matter Significant risk Other risk

Management  
override  
of controls

Revenue 
recognition

Related party  
transactions

Employee  
remuneration

Fair value  
measurement of  

(unquoted) investments

Potential 
financial 

statement 
impact

Extent of management judgement

High

Low

Low High
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Key Audit Matter – Group How our scope addressed the matter – Group

Fair value measurement of unquoted investments  
in the Group financial statements

We identified the valuation of unquoted investments in the Group 
financial statements as one of the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement due to error.

In accordance with the Group’s long-term objectives, the Group 
holds a significant portfolio of Level 3 investments, which are valued 
using inputs which are unobservable. These investments represent 
82% (2021: 77%) of the Group’s total assets of £97.5 million  
(2021: £152.5 million).

Valuations of unquoted investments typically include judgements 
and subjective estimates. These include the valuation methodology 
to be used and key input assumptions such as discount rates and 
probability weightings on possible outcome scenarios. 

The subjective nature and complexity inherent in the valuation 
process introduces a risk that the fair value measurements of these 
unquoted companies may be inaccurate.

In responding to the key audit matter, we performed the following audit procedures: 

• Assessing the competence and capability of the management team that prepares investment valuations for the Group;

• Obtaining an understanding of matters that may affect the fair value of the unquoted investments through discussions with the 
finance team and through independent research into investee companies and industry trends;

• Challenging management on the appropriateness of the valuation process implemented in the current period;

• Challenging management to consider alternative valuation methodologies and assessing the resulting outputs for significant 
variations between different methodologies;

• For a sample of investments that are valued on a price of recent investment basis:

 -  Agreed the cost or price to supporting evidence such as purchase agreements, subscription documents or equivalent; 

 -  Assessed whether the investment was an arm’s length transaction through assessing the parties involved in the transaction 
and determining whether or not they were already investors of the investee company; 

 -  Considered whether there were any indications that the cost or price of the recent investment was no longer representative 
of the fair value considered, inter alia the current performance of the investee company and the milestones and assumptions 
set out in the investment proposal; and 

 -  Considered whether the price of the recent investment is supported by alternative valuation techniques to calibrate the 
investment valuation.

• Using our internal valuation experts to assess the appropriateness of the key assumptions used in a sample of the most 
significant judgemental valuations, specifically:

 -  The appropriateness of the valuation methodologies used by the finance team and whether the valuations were performed in 
accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and with reference to the International Private Equity and 
Venture Capital valuation guidelines; 

 -  The reasonableness and factual accuracy of comparable listed company multiples; 

 -  The reasonableness of the weightings applied to multiples derived from comparable listed companies and market transactions; 

 -  The appropriateness of the adjustments made to earnings to arrive at a maintainable position;  

 -  Testing the data inputs within the manually prepared valuations spreadsheet by comparing to independent sources; and 

 -  Testing the inputs to our selected sample of unquoted investee Company valuations by: 

           o Agreeing key information such as earnings and net debt to investee company reports; 

           o Corroborating the arithmetical accuracy of the valuation.
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Key Audit Matter How our scope addressed the matter

Relevant disclosures in the Annual Report 2022
• Financial statements: Note 1, Financial instruments and  

Note 8, Financial assets and liabilities.

• Audit and Valuations Committee report: Significant issues 
considered in relation to the Financial Statements.

No additional key audit matters were identified in relation to 
the parent company financial statements.

Our results
Our audit work did not identify material misstatements in relation to  
the valuation of unquoted investments. 
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing the audit, and in evaluating the 
effect of identified misstatements on the audit and of uncorrected misstatements, if any, on the financial 
statements and in forming the opinion in the auditor’s report.

Materiality was determined as follows:

The graph below illustrates how performance materiality interacts with our overall materiality  
and the tolerance for potential uncorrected misstatements.

Overall materiality – Group Overall materiality – Parent company

FSM: Financial statements materiality, PM: Performance materiality, TFPUM: Tolerance for potential uncorrected misstatements

Materiality measure Group Parent company

Materiality for financial 
statements as a whole

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that, individually or 
in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of these 
financial statements. We use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit work.

Materiality threshold £1,966,000, which is approximately 2%  
of the Group’s net assets. 

£1,962,000, which is approximately 2%  
of the parent company’s net assets.  

Significant judgements 
made by auditor 
in determining the 
materiality

In determining materiality, we made the  
following significant judgements:

•  The use of net assets as a benchmark is  
consistent with the view that shareholders look 
to the financial health and valuation of the 
investment portfolio as the primary financial 
indicator to understand the Group’s performance.

•  2% was considered an appropriate percentage  
as it is consistent with industry practice.

Materiality for the current year is lower than  
the level that we determined for the year ended  
31 December 2021 to reflect the lower Group  
net assets as at 31 December 2022.

In determining materiality, we made the  
following significant judgements:

•  Net assets, which primarily comprise the parent 
company’s investment in its subsidiaries, are 
considered to be the key driver of the Parent 
Company’s total return performance and form  
a part of the net asset value calculation.

•  2% was considered an appropriate percentage  
as it is consistent with industry practice.

Materiality for the current year is lower than the level 
that we determined for the year ended 31 December 
2021 to reflect the lower parent company’s net assets 
as at 31 December 2022.

Performance materiality 
used to drive the extent  
of our testing

We set performance materiality at an amount less than materiality for the financial statements as a whole 
to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality 
threshold

£1,376,000, which is 70% of financial statement 
materiality.

£1,373,000, which is 70% of financial statement 
materiality.

Significant judgements 
made by auditor  
in determining  
the performance 
materiality

In determining performance materiality, we made 
the following significant judgements: 

•  Performance materiality was set at 70% of 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole 
because this is the second period end following 
the formation of the Group. Management is 
experienced but the Group has a new finance 
team that joined within the year. 

In determining performance materiality, we made 
the following significant judgements: 

•  Performance materiality was set at 70% of 
materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole because this is the second period end 
following the incorporation of the parent company. 
Management is experienced but the parent 
company has a new finance team that joined  
within the year.

Materiality measure Group Parent company

Communication of 
misstatements to the 
audit and valuations 
committee

We determine a threshold for reporting unadjusted differences to the Audit and Valuations Committee.

Threshold for 
communication

£98,300 and misstatements below that  
threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting  
on qualitative grounds.

£98,100 and misstatements below that  
threshold that, in our view, warrant reporting  
on qualitative grounds.

Net Assets 
£96,664,000

PM  
£1,376,000 

70%

PM  
£1,373,000  

70%

TFPUM  
£590,000 

30%

FSM 
£1,966,000 

approximately 
2%

FSM 
£1,962,000 

approximately 
2%

TFPUM  
£589,000 

30%

Net Assets 
£96,002,000
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An overview of the scope  
of our audit
We performed a risk-based audit that requires  
an understanding of the Group’s and the parent 
company’s business and in particular matters  
related to:

Understanding the Group, its 
components, and their environments, 
including Group-wide controls
• The engagement team obtained an understanding 

of the Group and its environment, including  
Group-wide controls, and assessed the risks of 
material misstatement at the Group level.

Identifying significant components
• The Group audit team evaluated the identified 

components to assess their significance and to 
determine the planned audit responses based  
on both quantitative and qualitative factors.  
We determined significance as a percentage of  
the Group’s total assets.  

Type of work to be performed on 
financial information of parent and 
other components (including how it 
addressed the key audit matters)
• For each significant component of the Group, 

namely: Forward Partners Group Plc (the parent 
company), Forward Partners Management 
Company Limited, Forward Partners Venture 
Advance Limited, Forward Partners Fund I L.P., 
Forward Partners Fund II L.P. and Forward Partners 
Fund III L.P., an audit of the financial information of 
the component using component materiality was 
performed (full-scope audit procedures);

• For each non-significant component, namely: 
Forward Partners General Partner Ltd, Forward 
Partner Carried Interest General Partner Ltd and 
Forward Partners Carried Interest L.P., analytical 
procedures were performed at group level to 
group materiality;

• We identified fair value measurement of  
unquoted investments as a key audit matter and 
the procedures performed in respect of this have 
been included in the key audit matters section of 
our report.

Performance of our audit
• A full scope audit was performed for the six 

significant components by the Group engagement 
team, each of which are based in a single location. 
This resulted in 100% coverage of the Group’s  
total assets.

Changes in approach from  
previous period
• The scope of the current year audit has not 

changed from the prior year.

Other information
The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report 2022, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other 
information contained within the annual report 2022. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of  
this other information, we are required to report  
that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard

Matter on which we are 
required to report under the 
Companies Act 2006
In the light of the knowledge and understanding 
of the Group and the parent company and their 
environment obtained in the course of the audit, 

we have not identified material misstatements in the 
strategic report or the directors’ report. 

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept 
by the parent company, or returns adequate for 
our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration 
specified by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the statement of Directors’ 
responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Our opinion on other 
matters prescribed by  
the Companies Act 2006  
is unmodified
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken  
in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the strategic report 
and the directors’ report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements; and

• the strategic report and the directors’ report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements.
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
parent company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or the parent company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities  
for the audit of the  
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. The extent 
to which our procedures are capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and 
regulatory frameworks applicable to the Group 
and the parent company and the industry in which 
they operate. We determined that the following 
laws and regulations were most significant: UK-
adopted international accounting standards, 

Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced 
Disclosure Framework’, the Companies Act 
2006, the AIM Rules for Companies and the QCA 
Corporate Governance Code; 

• We enquired of management to obtain an 
understanding of how the Group and the parent 
company are complying with those legal and 
regulatory frameworks and whether there were 
any instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations or whether they had any knowledge 
of actual or suspected fraud. We corroborated 
the results of our enquiries through our review of 
minutes of the Group and the parent company’s 
board meetings;  

• We evaluated management’s incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the 
financial statements (including the risk of override 
of controls), and determined that the principal 
risks were related to the posting of inappropriate 
journal entries and the potential for manipulation 
of financial data or management bias in 
accounting estimates in the financial statements 
such as the valuation of financial assets held at  
fair value through profit or loss; 

• In assessing the potential risks of material 
misstatement, we obtained an understanding of 
the Group and the parent company’s operations, 
including the nature of their investments, sources 
of income, their objectives and strategies to 
understand the classes of transactions, account 
balances, expected financial statement disclosures 
and business risks that may result in risks of 
material misstatement;  

• We assessed the susceptibility of the Group 
and the parent company’s financial statements 
to material misstatement, including how fraud 
might occur. Audit procedures performed by 

the engagement team included determining the 
completeness of journal entries and identifying 
and testing journal entries, in particular manual 
journal entries processed at the period end 
for financial statements preparation. We also 
reviewed the financial statement disclosures and 
the corresponding supporting documentation; 

• These audit procedures were designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements were free from fraud or error. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error and detecting 
irregularities that result from fraud is inherently 
more difficult than detecting those that result 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed 
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from 
events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we would become aware 
of it; 

• In assessing the appropriateness of the collective 
competence and capabilities of the engagement 
team, the engagement partner considered the 
engagement team's:

 -  understanding of, and practical experience 
with, audit engagements of a similar nature and 
complexity, through appropriate training and 
participation;

 -  the specialist skills required in relation to 
valuation of investments; and 

 -  knowledge of the industry in which the  
client operates.

• We communicated relevant laws and regulations 
and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 
members, including internal specialists, and 
remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations throughout 
the audit.

A further description of our responsibilities  
for the audit of the financial statements is located  
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report.  

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

William Pointon 
Senior Statutory Auditor  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
London

3 May 2023
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting policies and notes on pages 115 to 137 form part of these financial statements.

 Note Year Ended 31.12.22 Year Ended 31.12.21
  £’000 £’000 

Fair value change in gains on investments held at fair value through profit or loss  (46,200) 27,247

(Loss)/profit on disposal of investments  (17) 34

Revenue 3 509 826

Interest income  - 100

Total (loss)/income  4 (45,708) 28,207

Administrative expenses 14 (8,202) (5,770)

Total operating expense  (8,202) (5,770)

(Loss)/profit from operations   (53,910) 22,437

Finance costs 17 (197) (88) 

Carried interest credit/(charge) 15 11,288 (5,650)

Depreciation, amortisation, and impairment 6, 7 (127) (213)

Share-based payments 16 (137) (6)

(Loss)/profit before taxation (43,083) 16,480

Corporation tax credit/(expense) 18 33 (3)

(Loss) / profit for the year after tax attributable to owners of the parent  (43,050) 16,477

Other comprehensive income  - - 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to owners of the parent  (43,050) 16,477

Basic and diluted (Loss)/Earnings per Share from continuing operations   19 (32p) 12p
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Consolidated statement of financial position
 Note 31.12.22 31.12.21 
 £’000 £’000 

Non-Current Assets   

Intangible assets 6 - 71

Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 8 80,003 117,597

Property, plant and equipment 7 21 35

Right of use assets 7 - 37

Deffered tax asset 13 24 -

80,048 117,740

Current Assets   

Trade and other receivables 10 208 1,411

Financial assets held at amortised cost 8 28 1,499

Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss 8 67 804

Cash and cash equivalents 17,188 31,066

17,491 34,780

Total Assets 97,539 152,520

Current Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 12 875 682

Lease liabilities 8, 21 - 30

875 712

Non-Current Liabilities   

Deferred tax liabilities 13 - 9

Financial liabilities 8 - 934

Provision for carried interest 8 - 11,288

- 12,231

Total Liabilities 875 12,943

Net Assets 96,664 139,577

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Group   

Called up share capital 11 1,346 1,346

Share premium account 11 130,991 130,991

Merger reserve (33,189) (33,189)

Share Based Payment Reserve 143 6

Retained earnings (2,627) 40,423

96,664 139,577

Basic and diluted NAV per share 19 72p 104p

as at 31 December 2022 Registered number: 13244370

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 3 May 2023, 
and were signed on its behalf by:

Lloyd Smith 
Chief Financial Officer

3 May 2023

Accounting policies and notes on pages 115 to 137 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

 Share Capital Share Premium Merger Reserve Non-Controlling Interest
Share Based  

Payment Reserve Retained Earnings Total

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 1 January 2021 - - 49,373 20,368 - 11,962 81,703

Issue of Ordinary Shares 1,346 133,267 - - - - 134,613

Listing fees expensed to Share Premium - (2,276) - - - - (2,276)

Change in merger reserve arising on reorganisation - - (82,562) (20,368) - 11,984 (90,946)

Options granted and awards exercised - - - - 6 - 6

Profit for year attributable to equity holders - - - - - 16,477 16,477

Balance at 31 December 2021 1,346 130,991 (33,189) - 6 40,423 139,577

Options granted and awards exercised - - - - 216 - 216

Options forfeited - - - - (79) - (79)

Profit for year attributable to equity holders - - - - - (43,050) (43,050)

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,346 130,991 (33,189) - 143 (2,627) 96,664

for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting policies and notes on pages 115 to 137 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
 Note 31.12.22 31.12.21 
 £’000 £’000 
Cash flows from operating activities   

(Loss) / Profit before tax (43,083) 16,480

Adjustments to reconcile operating profit to net cash flows used in operating activities   

Revaluation of investments held at fair value through profit or loss 46,200 (27,247)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 18 2

Finance expense 17 197 88

Carried interest (credit)/charge 15 (11,288) 5,650

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 6, 7 127 213

Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 1,203 (825)

Decrease / (increase) in loans receivable 2,208 (2,303)

Increase in trade and other payables 193 240

Share based payments 16 137 6

Net cash outflows from operating activities (4,088) (7,696)

Tax received - 23

Net cash outflows from operating activities (4,088) (7,673)

 Note 31.12.22 31.12.21 
 £’000 £’000 
Cash flows used in investing activities   

Purchase of investments 8 (9,714) (11,399)

Proceeds from disposals 1,094 8,175

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 7 (19) (21)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 7 10 -

Purchase of intangible assets - (79)

Net cash outflows from investing activities (8,629) (3,324)

 Note 31.12.22 31.12.21 
 £’000 £’000 
Cash flows used in financing activities   

Proceeds from borrowings - 1,000

Repayment of borrowings (934) -

Fees paid on issuance of loan - (84)

Interest paid 17 (197) (70)

Repayment of leasing liabilities 21 (30) (178)

Increase in investment in Fund I & II - 6,568

Gross proceeds from issue of share capital - 36,600

Equity issuance costs - (2,276)

Net cash (outflow) / inflow from financing activities (1,161) 41,560

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (13,878) 30,563

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 31,066 503

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 17,188 31,066

for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting policies and notes on pages 115 to 137 form part of these financial statements.
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General information
The consolidated financial statements of Forward 
Partners Group Plc and its subsidiaries (collectively, 
the Group), for the year 1 January 2022 to 31 
December 2022, were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
3 May 2023. Forward Partners Group Plc (the 
Company or the parent) is a limited company 
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales 
and whose shares are publicly traded on AIM,  
a sub-market of the London Stock Exchange.  
The address of the registered office is given at  
the end of this report.

The nature of the Group’s operations and its 
principal activities are set out in the strategic report. 
Information on the Group’s structure is provided 
below under the Basis of consolidation. Information 
on other related party relationships of the Group 
is provided in Note 22. The financial statements 
are presented in pounds sterling (GBP) which is 
the Group’s functional and presentation currency. 
The figures shown in the financial statements are 
rounded to the nearest thousand pounds.

1. Accounting Policies
Basis of preparation of  
financial statements
The Group’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted 
International Accounting Standards (‘IFRS’).  
The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention except as noted below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.

Accounting standards require the directors to 
consider the appropriateness of the going concern 
basis when preparing the financial statements. The 
directors confirm that they consider that the going 
concern basis remains appropriate as the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future based upon 
forecasts.

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the 
financial statements of Forward Partners Group Plc 
and all its subsidiary undertakings made up to  
31 December 2022.

* These companies are either direct or indirect subsidiaries 
of Forward Partners Management Company Limited. 

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has 
control. Control is the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. The Group obtains and 
exercises control through voting rights.

Consolidation of the  
Carried Interest Partnership 
The Group participates in the carried interest issued 
by Forward Partners 1 L. P., Forward Partners II L. 
P., and Forward Partners III L. P. (collectively, ‘the 
Funds’) through Forward Partners Carried Interest 
General Partner Limited’s (the ‘CI GP’) carry rights 
in the carried interest partner, Forward Partners 
Carried Interest L.P. (the ‘CIP’). The participants in 
the CIP carry include the CI GP and certain of the 
Group’s employees and others connected to the 
underlying funds. 

The CIP has been established to facilitate payments 
of carried interest from the fund to carried interest 
participants. 

The directors have undertaken a control assessment 
of the CIP in accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” to consider whether they 
should consolidate the CIP. 

The directors have considered the legal nature of the 
relationships between the Funds, the CIP and the CIP 
participants and have determined that the power 
to control the CIPs (which are entitled to the carried 
interest from the funds) ultimately resides with the 
fund investors and that the Group is therefore an 
agent and not a principal. 

This is because the purpose and design of the CIP 
and the carry rights in the Funds are determined at 
the outset by the fund’s LPA which requires investor 
agreement and reflects investor expectations to 
incentivise individuals to enhance performance of the 
underlying fund. 

Notes to the financial statements 
Name of Undertaking Nature of Business Country of Incorporation % Ownership

Forward Partners Management Company Limited Management Company England 100%

Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd Provider of business loans England 100%

Forward Partners General Partner Limited* General Partner England 100%

Forward Partners Carried Interest General Partner Limited* General Partner Scotland 100%

Forward Partners 1 L. P. Limited Partner Fund England 100%

Forward Partners II L. P. Limited Partner Fund England 100%

Forward Partners III L. P. Limited Partner Fund England 100%

FPGP Nominees Ltd* Dormant Scotland 100%

Forward Partners Investment Company Limited*
(dissolved on 22 February 2022)

Dormant England 100%

for the year ended 31 December 2022
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The Group does not primarily benefit as its principal 
revenue stream is from the gains on the movement in 
its underlying investment portfolio. While the Group 
has some power over the Board of the CIP, these 
powers are limited and represent the best interests 
of all carried interest holders collectively and hence, 
these are assessed to be on behalf of the fund 
investors. 

The directors have assessed the payments and the 
returns the carried interest holders make and receive 
from their investment in carried interest and have 
considered whether those carried interest holders 
who are also employees of the Group were providing 
a service for the benefit of the Group or the investors 
in the fund. The directors have concluded that the 
carried interest represents a separate relationship 
between the fund investors and the individual 
employees and that the carried interest represents 
an investment requiring the individuals to put 
their own capital at risk and that, after an initial 
vesting period, continued rights to returns from 
the investment is not dictated by continuation of 
employment. 

In addition, the directors have also considered the 
variability of returns from the CIP that currently 
have value under IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts 
with customers” and in doing so have determined 
that the Group is exposed to limited variable returns 
of approximately 6% (2021: 6%) with the main 
beneficiaries of the CIP variable returns being the 
other participants. The directors concluded that the 
CIPs are not controlled by the Group and therefore 
should not be consolidated.

Accounting for merger on  
formation of the group 
Inter-company transactions (including unrealised 
gains/losses) and balances are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred. Amounts reported in 
the financial statements of subsidiaries had been 
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency  
with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

Immediately prior to the Forward Partners Group 
Plc’s admission to AIM, the company acquired all 
equity interests in Forward Management Company 
Limited and its subsidiaries. Forward Partners 
Management Company Limited became a 100% 
owned direct subsidiary of Forward Partners 
Group Plc and was consolidated into these financial 
statements. For purposes of this transaction Forward 
Partners Management Company Limited was 
deemed to be the accounting acquirer, as Forward 
Partners Group Plc had a majority shareholder 
post admission who had a controlling interest in the 
underlying funds that were acquired. Therefore, the 
consolidated financial statements of the reporting 
entity, Forward Partners Group Plc, had been 
prepared as a continuation of the accounting 
acquirer’s financial statements.

Contemporaneous to Forward Partners Group Plc’s 
admission to AIM, the company acquired all the equity 
interests in Forward Partners 1 L. P., Forward Partners 
II L. P. and Forward Partners III L. P. The Funds 
became 100% owned direct subsidiaries of Forward 
Partners Group Plc and consolidated into these 
financial statements.

The day after Forward Partners Group Plc’s 
admission to AIM, the company acquired all equity 
interests in Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd. 
Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd became a 
100% owned direct subsidiary of Forward Partners 
Group Plc and consolidated into these financial 
statements.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, 
the Group is required to determine whether the 
transactions fall within the scope of IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations to determine the appropriate basis for 
disclosure and the substance of the transaction. It is 
the directors’ view that the transactions fall within 
the scope exclusion of IFRS 3, as a common control 
transaction and as such an alternative accounting 
policy must be selected. In the opinion of the directors, 
there is no other IFRS that specifically applies to these 
transactions. IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors (paras 10-12) requires 
the Company to develop and apply an accounting 
policy suitable to the transaction, in accordance 
with the particulars laid out in the standard. IAS 8 
paragraph 12 also states that “In making the judgement 
described in paragraph 10, management may also 
consider the most recent pronouncements of other 
standard-setting bodies that use a similar conceptual 
framework to develop accounting standards, other 
accounting literature and accepted industry practices."

In reviewing the scope of the mergers and group 
formation, including IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
the directors have determined the selection of an 
accounting policy analogous to that of the UK’s FRS 
102 section 19 Business Combinations and Goodwill 
(merger accounting method) will provide the most 
relevant, reliable and representative accounting 
treatment, which reflects the economic substance of 
the transactions.

In applying merger accounting when preparing these 
Consolidated Financial Statements, to the extent the 
carrying value of the assets and liabilities acquired 
under merger accounting is different to the cost of 
investment, the difference is recorded in equity within 
the merger reserve. Under merger accounting the 
results of the Group entities are combined from the 
beginning of the comparative period before the 
merger occurred. 

Going concern
The directors have considered the going concern 
assessment undertaken at Group. The directors 
have reviewed cash flow forecasts for the Group and 
considered the impact of economic headwind and 
market conditions on them, which has included stress 
testing the Group’s cash flow forecasts for severe but 
plausible downside scenarios and performing a reverse 
stress test covering the period 12 months from date 
of signing the financial statements (the going concern 
assessment period). This period is appropriate due to 
continued economic uncertainty. The directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources and cash reserves to continue in operational 
existence over the going concern assessment period 
even if the resulting economic instability were to have an 
impact on the portfolio valuations. 

After making reasonable enquiries and having 
considered the matters described above, the directors 
believe that the Group is a sustainable business, will be 
able to meet its liabilities as they fall due and will have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
from the date of approval of these financial statements 
for a period of at least 12 months. Accordingly, the 
directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements for the year ended  
31 December 2022.
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects  
the consideration to which the Group is expected to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring services  
to a customer. 

For each contract with a customer, the Group: 
identifies the contract with a customer, identifies the 
performance obligations in the contract; determines 
the transaction price which takes into account 
the time value of money; allocates the transaction 
price to the separate performance obligations on 
the basis of the relative standalone selling price of 
each distinct service to be delivered; and recognises 
revenue when or as each performance obligation is 
satisfied in a manner that depicts the transfer to the 
customer of the services promised.

An unbilled receivable (accrued income) is 
recognised when a performance obligation to a 
customer is satisfied (and the unconditional right to 
receive payment is present) but the actual invoice 
has not been raised and sent to the customer at 
the year end. Post year end, the invoices are raised 
and sent to the customer at which point the unbilled 
receivable is reclassified as trade receivable.

Recruitment fees are recognised as performance 
conditions detailed in the placement agreement are 
fulfilled. Portion of the recruitment fees attributable 
to performance conditions that have not been met 
are recorded as deferred revenues.

Finance income and costs
Finance costs comprise interest charged on  
bank loans in the Forward Advances business and 
lease liabilities.  

Segmental reporting
An operating segment is defined as a component  
of an entity:

• that engages in business activities from which it 
could earn revenues and incur expenses (including 
revenues and expenses relating to transactions 
with other components of the same entity);

• whose operating results are regularly reviewed 
by the entity’s Chief Operating Decision Makers 
(CODM) to make decisions about resources 
to be allocated to the segment and assess its 
performance; and

• for which discrete financial information is 
available.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the 
CODM is considered to be the Board of Directors 
which consists of two executive Directors, three 
non-executive Directors and two executive 
Directors of the subsidiaries who are not Directors 
of Forward Partners Group Plc. The executive 
Directors take an active role in the operations of 
the Group on a day-to-day basis

The Group reports its business activities in three 
areas: venture capitalist services, loan advances 
and Studio services, which is reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting to the Board  
of Directors.

Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset,  
the Group assesses whether:

• the contract involves the use of an identified asset 
– this may be specified, explicitly or implicitly, 
and should be physically distinct or represent 
substantially all of the capacity of a physically 
distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive 
substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all 
of the economic benefits from the use of the asset 
throughout the period of use; and

• the Group has the right to operate the asset; or

• the Group designed the asset in a way that 
predetermines how and for what purpose  
it will be used.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that 
contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of their relative  
stand-alone prices.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset, less any lease incentives received.

Revenue stream Nature, timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and significant payment terms

Advances Fee 
Income

Forward Advances originates two types of loans, revenue based variable repayment and fixed repayment loans.

Variable repayment loans

The first type of loan has a variable repayment obligation calculated on the revenue generated by the client.  
These loan receivables are recognised at fair value; therefore, Revenue arises from the movement in the fair value  
of the loan receivable through profit or loss.

Fixed repayment

The second type of loan receivable originated by Forward Advances has a fixed repayment obligation, these loans  
are recognised at amortised cost and therefore Interest Income is recognised using the effective interest rate method 
to give a constant rate of income based on the amount outstanding. 

Both types of loan income are subject to the requirements of IFRS 9. Accordingly, please see the Financial Instruments 
section within Accounting Policies for further detail on the specific revenue recognition principles.

Studio Services 
Income

The Group provides services such as product discovery, mobile & web engineering, branding & design, marketing & 
growth, talent acquisition services and people & culture consultancy services.

The performance obligation for studio services overall is that the Group delivers the service to the customer that the 
customer has contracted with the Group to deliver, subject to the requirements of IFRS 15.

For recruitment placement, revenue is recognised as performance conditions detailed in the placement agreement  
are fulfilled.

Revenue from other studio services is recognised over time as the Group recognises revenues monthly for the services 
delivered in that month. Revenue recognition for studio services is based on the number of hours worked by each 
employee on the customer engagement multiplied by the hourly rate.
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The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the 
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the 
lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate. The lease liability is measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
It is re-measured when there is a change in future 
lease payments.

When the lease liability is re-measured, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in 
the income statement if the carrying amount of the 
right-of use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less and low-value 
assets, including IT equipment. The Group would 
recognise the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over  
the lease term. 

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at the date of the Group 
statement of financial position are reported at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at that date. 

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
in the statement of comprehensive income within the 
administrative expenses heading. 

Intangible assets
All finite-life intangible assets are accounted for 
using the cost model whereby capitalised costs 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. Residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In 
addition, they are subject to impairments testing 
as described below. Forward Advances software 
development costs are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful economic lives.

Management have determined that 5 years is  
the most appropriate life as the development of the 
software is expected to service customers for the 
foreseeable future.  

Impairment
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 

As a result, some assets are tested individually for 
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit 
level. All property, plant and equipment with a finite life 
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which 
the assets or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, 
reflecting market conditions less costs to sell, 
and value in use, based on an internal discounted 
cash flow evaluation. All assets are subsequently 
reassessed for indications that an impairment 
loss previously recognised may no longer exist. 
Impairment losses are charged to administrative 
expenses.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at 
cost, net of depreciation and any provision for 
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to profit and loss in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant 
and equipment, other than freehold land, at rates 
calculated to write off the cost, less estimated 
residual value, of each asset over the shorter of the 
expected useful life or lease term, as follows: 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any 
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or 
when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive 
income when the asset is derecognised.

The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, 
demand deposits, bank overdrafts, and short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
into known amounts of cash and are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial instruments            
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets 
are derecognised when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised 
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Long leasehold  
& leasehold improvements

Over the term of the lease

Right of use assets Over the term of the lease

Fixtures and fittings 25% of cost on a straight-line basis

Computer equipment 33% of cost on a straight-line basis

Forward Advances software 20% of cost on a straight-line basis
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Classification and initial measurement  
of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, 
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 

Financial assets, other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into one 
of the following categories: 

• amortised cost;

• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL); or

• fair value through other comprehensive  
income (FVOCI).

In the year presented the Group does not have  
any financial assets that would be designated as hedging 
instruments or financial assets categorised as FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

• the entity’s business model for managing  
the financial asset; and

• the contractual cash flow characteristics of  
the financial asset.

All revenue and expenses relating to financial  
assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income  
or other financial items, except for impairment  
of trade receivables which is presented within  
other expenses. 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if 
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL):

• they are held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 
cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial assets  
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments  
of principal and interest on the principal  
amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost 
includes trade receivables, loan receivables  
on a fixed repayment schedule and a loan to a 
director included under other current financial assets 
(Note 8).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) are carried in the statement of financial 
position at fair value with net changes in fair value 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Further, 
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are 
not solely payments of principal and interest are 
accounted for at FVTPL.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade Receivables are accounted for under 
the simplified approach. IFRS 9’s impairment 
requirements use forward-looking information to 
recognise expected credit losses – the ‘expected 
credit loss (ECL) model’. Instruments within the 
scope of the requirements included loans and other 
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised 

cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, contract 
assets recognised and measured under IFRS 15, 
loan commitments and some financial guarantee 
contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss.

The Group considers a broader range of information 
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected 
credit losses, including past events, current 
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts 
that affect the expected collectability of the future 
cash flows of the instrument.

The Group applies the impairment requirements of 
IFRS 9. The IFRS 9 impairment model requires a three-
stage approach:

• Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have 
not had a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition or that have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected 
credit losses (“ECLs”) (that is, expected losses arising 
from the risk of default in the next 12 months) are 
recognised and interest income is calculated on the 
gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without 
deduction for credit allowance).

• Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have 
had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition (unless they have low credit risk at the 
reporting date) but are not credit-impaired. For 
these assets, lifetime ECLs (that is, expected losses 
arising from the risk of default over the life of the 
financial instrument) are recognised, and interest 
income is still calculated on the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. The Group assumes there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk if 
outstanding amounts on the financial assets exceed 
30 days, in line with the rebuttable presumption per 
IFRS 9 at which point the assets are considered to 
be stage 2.

• Stage 3 consists of financial assets that are credit-
impaired, which is when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. For 
these assets, lifetime ECLs are also recognised, but 
interest income is calculated on the net carrying 
amount (that is, net of the ECL allowance). The 
Group defines a default, classified as stage 3, as an 
asset with any outstanding amounts exceeding a 
60-day due date, which reflects the point at which 
the asset is considered to be credit-impaired.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses associated with its financial 
assets carried at amortised cost and recognises a loss 
allowance for such losses at each reporting date.

The measurement of ECLs reflects:  

• an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that 
is determined by evaluating a range of possible 
outcomes;

• the time value of money; and

• reasonable and supportable information that 
is available without undue cost or effort at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions 
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

If in a subsequent period the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the 
carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date.
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Non-current financial assets 

Non-current financial assets comprise investments 
in unquoted equity instruments, quoted equity 
investments and loan notes (unquoted investments) 
which are measured at fair value.

Fair value of the underlying portfolio of investments 
will be estimated using one or more of the below 
valuation methods at each calendar quarter end:

• Market approach based on multiples, being 
principally price-revenue or price-earnings multiples 

• Probability-weighted expected return method 
(PWERM) 

• Quoted equity investments are based on the bid 
price at the reporting date.

When the Price of a Recent Investment (“PoRI”), 
resulting from an orderly transaction, is an 
appropriate starting point for estimating fair value, it 
will be used as a calibration point. For the calibration, 
adequate consideration will be given to the current 
facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, 
changes in the market or changes in the performance 
of the investee company.

Where the funds have reason to believe the investee 
company is about to be wound up or has suffered 
a significant downturn in prospects, it will write the 
value down to zero or to whatever value is in our best 
estimate appropriate. Any gain or loss on revaluation 
is recognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account.

The values the funds have assigned to the investments 
are based upon available information and do not 
necessarily represent amounts which might ultimately 
be realised. Due to the inherent uncertainty of 
the valuation, the estimated fair value may differ 
significantly from the values that would have been 

determined had the investments been liquidated and 
those differences could be material.

The value of the Group’s non-current financial assets 
are held at fair value through profit or loss, any listed 
investments are valued on the quoted price at the 
balance sheet date.

Changes in fair value are recognised in the profit  
and loss.

Trade and other receivables  

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in 
accounting for trade receivables and records the loss 
allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These 
are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 
considering the potential for default at any point during 
the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the 
Group uses its historical experience, external indicators 
and forward-looking information to calculate the 
expected credit losses using a provision matrix.

The Group assesses impairment of trade receivables 
on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk 
characteristics they have been grouped based on the 
days past due. 

Refer to Note 8 for a detailed analysis of how the 
impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied.

Loan receivables 

The Group has determined that loan receivables 
with fixed repayment obligations are financial assets 
which are measured at amortised cost. Further, loan 
receivables with variable repayments and other 
financial assets are measured at FVTPL.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and 
trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, 
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Group designated a financial liability at 
FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method 
except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, 
which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains 
or losses recognised in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, 
changes in an instrument’s fair value that are 
reported in profit or loss are included within  
finance costs or finance income.

Taxation
Current tax is the tax currently payable based on  
the taxable profit for the year.

Deferred tax is provided in full on temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities and their tax bases, except when, at 
the initial recognition of the asset or liability, there 
is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss 
under a business combination. Deferred tax is 
determined using tax rates and laws that have been 
substantially enacted by the statement of financial 
position date, and that are expected to apply when 
the temporary difference reverses.

Tax losses available to be carried forward, and other 
tax credits to the Group, are recognised as deferred 
tax assets, to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be future taxable profits against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are 
recognised as a component of the tax expense in the 
statement of comprehensive income, except where 
they relate to items that are charged or credited 

directly to equity, in which case the related deferred 
tax is also charged or credited directly to equity.

Provisions
These are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised  
as a finance cost.

Carried interest
The Group has established carried interest plans 
for the Executive Directors, other members of the 
investment team and certain other employees 
(together the “Plan Participants”) in respect of 
any investments and follow-on investments made 
within the Groups Limited Partnership Funds. Plan 
Participants will receive, the amounts as set out in 
the table below of the net realised cash profits from 
the investments and follow-on investments made 
over the relevant period once the Group has been 
repaid the Priority Profit Share (PPS) and received 
an aggregate amount equal to 6% per annum (the 
‘hurdle’) calculated on a monthly basis, compounded 
annually on the initial capital and loan funds put into 
the partnerships to fund the investments and PPS 
(the ‘Preferred Return’). The Plan Participants’ return 
is subject to a “catch-up” in their favour. 
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Carried interest distribution

The carried interest plans run from inception to 
cessation of the partnership for Fund I and II and for 
Fund III the carried interest fee operates in respect 
of investments made during a 24 month period and 
related follow-on investments made for a further 
36 month period, save that the first carried interest 
fee shall be in respect of the period from the Group 
admission to AIM to 31 December 2021.

Carried interest is measured at FVTPL with reference 
to the performance conditions described above and 
is accounted for using the Ownership Model. Under 
the Ownership Model, carried interest is recognised 
as reallocation of profits of the Funds between the 
partners. On a consolidated basis, carried interest 
reserves is eliminated and the portion of carried 
interest reserve due to external parties is presented  
as a financial liability of the Group. 

Carried Interest is calculated based on the valuation of 
the Company’s investments as at the year end, assuming 
all the investments were converted to cash at that point 
and net of selling costs. The actual amount payable will 
be dependent on the amount and timing of the actual 
realisations of the portfolio investments. At each valuation 
date, carried interest balance is adjusted to reflect the 
impact of investment valuation on the amount of carried 
interest to be payable. A decrease in the fair value of the 
investment portfolio at valuation date would result in a 
decline in the carried interest value. At a consolidated 

level, this would result in a credit adjustment to the total 
carried interest expense recognised for the Group.

Based on the investment valuations as at 31 December 
2022 the hurdle has not been met by the Funds, on 
an unrealised basis, as such carried interest has not 
been provided for in the year (2021: £11.3m). A credit 
adjustment of £11.3m (2021: debit adjustment of £5.7m) 
to carried interest has been charged to profit and loss 
to bring total carried interest provision to Nil (2021: 
£11.3m). This will only be payable if the hurdle is met 
on a realised basis and a carried interest fee is paid 
by the Group to the Plan Participants. The carried 
interest arrangements have been set up with aim of 
incentivising employees of the Group and aligning them 
with shareholders through participation in the realised 
investment profits of the Group. The Remuneration 
Committee determine the allocation of the carried 
interest amongst employees of the Group. Each 
carried interest plan is subject to good and bad leaver 
provisions. Any unvested carried interest resulting 
from a Plan Participant becoming a leaver can be 
reallocated by the Remuneration Committee. Non-
executive Directors of the Company are not eligible to 
participate in the carried interest arrangements.

Merger reserve
To the extent the carrying value of the assets and 
liabilities acquired under merger accounting is different 
to the cost of investment, the difference is recorded 
in equity within the merger reserve, along with an 
adjustment to reflect the share capital and share 
premium of the legal parent. Under merger accounting 
the results of the Group entities are combined from the 
beginning of the comparative period before the merger 
occurred. Comparatives are restated on a combined 
basis and adjustments made as necessary to achieve 
consistency of accounting principles.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. The proceeds of share issues, 
received net of any directly attributable transaction 
costs, are credited to share capital at nominal value 
and the excess credited to the share premium account. 
Retained earnings represent the accumulated profits 
and losses, less dividends since the Group was formed.

Employee benefits and Pensions
The Group supports various personal pension 
arrangements and is auto-enrolment compliant. 
Payments are made to individual defined contribution 
pension schemes. Agreed contributions are charged 
to the statement of comprehensive income as they 
become payable.

Share based payments
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive 
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services as consideration  
for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions).  
The Group has not issued any cash-settled awards 
during the year. 

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined 
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made 
using an appropriate valuation model, further details of 
which are given in Note 16.

That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense 
(Note 15), together with a corresponding increase in 
equity (retained earnings), over the period in which 
the service and, where applicable, the performance 
conditions are fulfilled (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number 
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The 
expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a 
period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are 
not taken into account when determining the grant 
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the 
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any 
other conditions attached to an award, but without 
an associated service requirement, are considered to 
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an 
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also 
service and/or performance conditions.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not 
ultimately vest because non-market performance and/
or service conditions have not been met.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognised is the 
grant date fair value of the unmodified award, 
provided the original vesting terms of the award are 
met. An additional expense, measured as at the date 
of modification, is recognised for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity 
or by the counterparty, any remaining element of 
the fair value of the award is expensed immediately 
through profit or loss. 

Limited  
Partnership

Catch Up Profit Share Hurdle

Fund I 100% 20.8% higher of 6% or the Bank of 
England Base Rate plus 2%, 
but not exceeding 8%

Fund II 50.0% 20.0% 6.0%

Fund III 50.0% 10.0% 6.0%
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The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share (further details are given in Note 19).

Financial Risk Management
Financial risk 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks. The Group’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictabilityof financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the board which 
evaluate and manage financial risks in close co-operation 
with the managing directors of the subsidiary companies. 

The Group:

• regularly reviews credit extended to customers with 
appropriate action being taken to minimise the cost 
of bad debts; 

• balances risk and return when assessing where 
to place cash surplus to the Group’s immediate 
requirements; and

• keeps open options to employ debt finance to ensure 
that the Group has sufficient funds for continuing 
operations and planned expansions

Market risk

The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of 
financial instruments and specifically to interest rate 
risk, currency risk, and certain other price risks, which 
result from both its operating and investing activities. 
The Group has interest-bearing assets which are subject 
to a fixed rate of interest. Thus, the Group is exposed 
to interest rate risk, which is not expected to have a 
significant impact on profit or loss or equity. The Group 
considers its exposure to currency risk as minimal.

Foreign exchange risk

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in 
GBP. Exposures to currency exchange rates arise 
from the Group’s portfolio company investments 
in overseas companies, which are primarily 
denominated in US dollars (USD) and Euros (EUR). 
The Group has two non-current asset investments 
dominated in US dollars (USD). These investments 
will have revenues dominated in US dollars (USD), 
which could impact the fair value, albeit do not have  
a direct impact on the Group’s operations.  
The Group monitors its exposure to foreign 
exchange risks on a regular basis but its exposure 
to date has been de-minimis and the cost of any FX 
hedging strategy is not deemed cost effective. 

Concentration risk

The principal concentration risk for the Group arises 
from its significant cash holding in a single banking 
institution which exposes it to potential losses 
should the bank fails. As at 31 December 2022, the 
Group had cash balance of £17.2m (2021: £31.1m) 
held between Barclays Bank UK Plc and Silicon 
Valley Bank, split 33% and 67% respectively (2021: 
18% and 82% respectively). The Group monitors 
the performance of the banks it has relationships 
with and is able to mitigate the risk through holding 
active accounts in other banking institutions.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to 
discharge an obligation to the Group. The Group is 
exposed to credit risk from financial assets including 
cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade and 
other receivables and financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group keeps open avenues for securing debt 
finance to ensure that funds may be called upon if 
and when needed for operations and payments due 
in respect of acquisitions. The board monitors the 
Group’s liquidity position on the basis of expected cash 
flow on a regular basis.  

The following table analyses the Group’s financial 
liabilities, which will be settled on a net basis, into 
relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining 
period to maturity at 31 December. 

The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows:

Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders.  
As a small authorised UK AIFM, the Group has a 
capital requirement of £5k or 6/52 expenditure, 
whichever is higher, in line with Chapter 5 of the Interim 
Prudential sourcebook for Investment Businesses 
(IPRU-INV). The board monitors levels of cash and any 
excess levels have historically been used for acquisition.

Other pricing sensitivities

The Group is exposed to other price risk in respect 
of its listed equity securities and within the use of the 
multiples-based valuation method of investments 
(Note 2). The investments in listed and unlisted 
equity securities are considered long-term, strategic 
investments. In accordance with the Group’s policies, 
no specific hedging activities are undertaken in 
relation to these investments. The investments are 
continuously monitored and voting rights arising 
from these equity instruments are utilised in the 
Group’s favour.

2. Significant accounting 
judgements, estimates  
and assumptions
The Group may be required to make estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. These estimates 
and judgements are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under  
the circumstances. 

At 31 December 2022 Less than 1 year Between 1 & 2 years Between 2 & 5 years Over 5 years
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Trade and other payables 127 - - -

Current financial liabilities - - - -

Non-current financial liabilities - - - -

Total 127 - - - 

At 31 December 2021 Less than 1 year Between 1 & 2 years Between 2 & 5 years Over 5 years

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Trade and other payables 165 - - -

Current financial liabilities 30 - - -

Non-current financial liabilities - - 934 11,288

Total 195 - 934 11, 288 
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The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The principal 
areas where judgement has been exercised are  
as follows:

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, 
are described below. 

The Group based its assumptions and estimates 
on parameters available when the consolidated 
financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market 
changes or circumstances arising that are beyond 
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected 
in the assumptions when they occur.

Non-current financial assets
The Group’s Non-current financial assets held 
at fair value through profit or loss represent our 
investments in the equity of quoted and unquoted 
companies which are very thinly traded and for 
which no market exists. These investments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss at the 
year end. The Group’s valuation of investments 
measured at fair value through profit or loss is 
therefore dependent upon estimations of the 
valuation of the underlying portfolio companies.

The fair value of unlisted securities is established 
with reference to the International Private Equity 
and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines December 
2022 as well as the IPEV Board, Special Valuation 
Guidance issued on 31 March 2020 in response 

to the Covid-19 crisis (“IPEV Guidelines”). An 
assessment will be made at each measurement date 
as to the most appropriate valuation methodology.

The Group invests in early-stage and growth 
technology companies. Given the nature of 
these investments, there are often no current or 
short-term future earnings or positive cash flows. 
Consequently, although not considered to be 
the default valuation technique, the appropriate 
approach to determine fair value may be based on 
a methodology with reference to observable market 
data, being the price of the most recent transaction. 

Fair value estimates that are based on observable 
market data will be of greater reliability than 
those based on estimates and assumptions 
and accordingly where there have been recent 
investments by third parties, the price of that 
investment will generally provide a basis of the 
valuation. Recent transactions may include post 
year-end as well as pre year-end transactions 
depending on the nature and timing of these 
transactions.

If this methodology is used, its initial use and the 
length of period for which it remains appropriate to 
use the calibration of last round price depends on 
the specific circumstances of the investment, and 
the Group will consider whether this basis remains 
appropriate each time valuations are reviewed. 
In addition, the inputs to the valuation model (e.g. 
revenue, comparable peer group, product roadmap) 
will be recalibrated to assess the appropriateness 
of the methodology used in relation to the market 
performance and technical/product milestones 
since the round and the company’s trading 
performance relative to the expectations of the 
round.

The Group considers alternative methodologies in 
the IPEV Guidelines, being principally price-revenue 
or price-earnings multiples, depending upon the 
stage of the asset, requiring management to make 
assumptions over the timing and nature of future 
revenues and earnings when calculating fair value. 
When using multiples, we consider public traded 
multiples in similar lines of business, which are 
adjusted based on the relative growth potential  
and risk profile of the subject company versus  
the market and to reflect the degree of control  
and lack of liquidity.

Where a fair value cannot be estimated reliably, the 
investment is reported at the carrying value at the 
previous reporting date unless there is evidence that 
the investment has since been impaired.

In all cases, valuations are based on the judgement 
of the Directors after consideration of the above 
and upon available information believed to be 
reliable, which may be affected by conditions in the 
financial markets. Due to the inherent uncertainty of 
the investment valuations, the estimated values may 
differ significantly from the values that would have 
been used had a ready market for the investments 
existed, and the differences could be material.  
Due to this uncertainty, the Group may not be able 
to sell its investments at the carrying value in these 
financial statements when it desires to do so or  
to realise what it perceives to be fair value in the 
event of a sale.

Provision for expected credit losses  
of financial assets 
On 24 August 2022 the Directors announced their 
intention to wind down the Advances business, and 
from this date the business ceased offering new loans, 
however the Directors intend for the business to 

continue to operate for the purposes of recovering all 
receivables and settling its liabilities as they fall due. 

The assessment of the information correlation between 
recent trading history, forward looking information, 
forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant 
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes 
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. 
The Group’s recent credit loss experience and  
forecast of economic conditions may also not be 
representative of customer’s actual default in the 
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s 
financial assets is disclosed in Note 8 & 9.

Accounting for merger on formation  
of the group 
As disclosed in the Group’s accounting policies the 
Group is required to apply a suitable accounting policy 
to account for the formation of the Group. IAS 8 para 
12 specifically states ‘…management may also consider 
the most recent pronouncements of other standard-
setting bodies that use a similar conceptual framework 
to develop accounting standards, other accounting 
literature and accepted industry practices…”. 
Accordingly, managements considerations in 
formulating the accounting policy are a significant 
accounting judgement. 

The Group was formed in July 2021 to bring together 
the investment management company and the funds it 
managed into a new venture capital investment group 
realising the vision of members of the Management 
team which was shared with key investors. 
Management consider that Forward Partners 
Management Company Limited was the accounting 
acquirer of Forward Partners Group Plc as the latter 
did not trade, nor was it considered a business, prior 
to the merger and the transaction was not one that is 
subject to common control.
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In relation to the merger of Forward Partners 
1 Limited Partnership, Forward Partners II 
Limited Partnership, Forward Partners III Limited 
Partnership with Forward Partners Group Plc 
management applied merger accounting on 
the basis that the transaction was one under 
common control. Management elected to present 
the numbers on a retrospective presentation 
method, so that it is consistent with the accounting 
treatment for Forward Management Company 
Limited.

Management also considered that the transaction 
to acquire Forward Advances took place under 
common control and therefore have applied the 
same policy as those for the funds. Up until Forward 
Advances was acquired in 2021, the company was 
held as an investment at fair value within the fund, 
Forward Partners II Limited Partnership. From the 
date of the transaction, management considered 
that the Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd 
is no longer an investment held at fair value, as its 
purpose was to enable the Group to offer revenue-
based financing to its customers as an alternative to 
venture capital funding. 

 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Advances Fee Income 346 266

Investment Fees 31 17

Studio Services Income* 132 543

Total revenue 509 826

Assessment of whether Forward 
Advances meet the definition of a 
discontinued operation 
Following the announcement of Forward Advances’ 
Directors of their intention to wind down the business, 
the business ceased offering new loans, but continues 
to operate for the purposes of recovering all 
receivables and settling its liabilities as they fall due. 
We have considered whether Forward Advances 
meet the definition of a discontinued operation in 
line with IFRS 5 and note that the operation cannot 
be classified as discontinued until the final interest 
payment has been collected, which is the point that 
the revenue-generating activity ceases.

3. Revenue

*The Studio design services were also utilised by the Advances 
segment for the first part of 2021 until it became an operating 
subsidiary of the Group. 2021 Studio services revenue included  
£268k of revenue from Advances prior to Advances being part  
of the Group in July 2021.
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* The Studio design services were also utilised by the Advances segment for the first part of 2021 until it became  
an operating subsidiary of the Group.  

** The Advances segment was held as an investment up to 18 July 2021. On 19 July 2021 the Advances segment became  
an operating subsidiary of the Group.

*** For the purposes of this note, Operating profit/(loss) is presented net of carried interest credit/charge and  
      share based payments. 

4. Segmental reporting
IFRS 8 requires that operating segments be identified on the basis of internal reporting and decision 
making. Forward Partners Group Plc’s operating segments are by subsidiary company as the directors and 
management team receive and make decisions based on monthly management accounts by subsidiary.  
A description of each subsidiary’s activities is included on page 2 of this report.

The following table shows the Group’s revenue and results for the year under review analysed by operating 
segment. Segment operating profit represents the trading profit after depreciation, but before tax and 
management charges. The management charges represent Group overheads and are reflected in the 
operating loss of the parent company. All revenue arose in the UK and all assets are located in the UK.

Year ended 31  
December 2022 Revenue

Operating  
profit/(loss)*** Depreciation Net interest

Profit/(loss)  
before tax Taxation

Deferred  
taxation

Profit/(loss)  
after tax

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ventures (45,686) (50,009) (52) - (50,061) - 32 (50,029)

Studio* 132 (271) (2) - (273) - - (273)

Advances** 346 (2,440) (73) (296) (2,809) - 1 (2,808)

(45,208) (52,720) (127) (296) (53,143) - 33 (53,110)

Forward Partners Group Plc (500) 9,961 - 99 10,060 - - 10,060

Total (45,708) (42,759) (127) (197) (43,083) - 33 (43,050)

As at 31 December 2022
Non-current 

asset additions

Non- 
current 

assets
Current 

assets
Total  

assets
Current 

liabilities
Non-current 

liabilities
Total 

liabilities

Net 
operating 

assets
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ventures 9,726 80,032 4,546 84,578 (8,276) -     (8,276) 76,302

Studio 6 14 386 400 (1,603) - (1,603) (1,203)

Advances - 2 936 938 (98) - (98) 840

9,732 80,048 5,868 85,916 (9,977) - (9,977) 75,939

Forward Partners Group Plc - - 11,623 11,623 9,102 - 9,102 20,725

Total 9,732 80,048 17,491 97,539 (875) - (875) 96,664

Net Assets 96,664

As at 31 December 2021
Non-current 

asset additions

Non- 
current 

assets
Current 

assets
Total  

assets
Current 

liabilities
Non-current 

liabilities
Total 

liabilities

Net 
operating 

assets
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ventures 11,907 117,127 3,990 121,117 (234) (3) (237) 120,880

Studio - 37 451 488 (292) (4) (296) 192

Advances 85 76 4,823 4,899 (97) (935) (1,032) 3,867

11,992 117,240 9,264 126,504 (623) (942) (1,565) 124,939

Forward Partners Group Plc - 500 25,516 26,016 (89) (11,289) (11,378) 14,638

Total 11,992 117,740 34,780 152,520 (712) (12,231) (12,943) 139,577

Net Assets 139,577

Year ended 31  
December 2021 Revenue

Operating  
profit/(loss)*** Depreciation Net interest

Profit/(loss)  
before tax Taxation

Deferred  
taxation

Profit/(loss)  
after tax

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ventures 27,298 12,358 (200) (4) 12,154 (1) (1) 12,152

Studio 543 144 (4) - 140 - - 140

Advances* 366 (1,036) (9) (84) (1,129) - (2) (1,131)

28,207 11,466 (213) (88) 11,165 (1) (3) 11,161

Forward Partners Group Plc - 5,315 - - 5,315 1 - 5,316

Total 28,207 16,781 (213) (88) 16,480 - (3) 16,477

The table below shows assets and liabilities by subsidiary, exclusive of inter-company balances.
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 31.12.22 31.12.21 
£’000 £’000 

Grant Thornton UK LLP   

Fees payable to the company’s auditor for the audit of the annual parent company and consolidated accounts 82 80

Audit of the financial statements of the company’s subsidiaries 223 143

Total audit 305 223

Audit-related assurance services - 6

Total audit and assurance services 305 229

Tax compliance services 36 25

Tax advisory services* - 95

Transaction advisory services* - 280

Total non-audit services 36 400

Total 341 629

5. Auditor’s remuneration

* Fees payable to the company’s auditor for other services related to the costs associated with the listing on the London Stock Exchange.

During the year, the Group also paid the auditors £165k (2021: Nil) in relation to overruns incurred as part  
of the 2021 audit.

The Group also pays out fees for audit-related assurance services to external consultants other than  
the appointed auditors.  This includes fees paid to Shipleys LLP for the FCA audit of £4k (2021: £7k)  
and fees paid to Kroll for preparation of tax disclosures of £8k (2021: Nil).

6. Intangible assets
 Software Total

£’000 £’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2022 89 89

Additions - -

Impairment charge (89) (89)

At 31 December 2022 - -

Depreciation/Amortisation

At 1 January 2022 18 18

Charge for the year 15 15

Impairment charge (33) (33)

At 31 December 2022 - -

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2022 - -

 Software Total
£’000 £’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2021 - -

Additions 89 89

At 31 December 2021 89 89

Depreciation/Amortisation

At 1 January 2021 - -

Charge for the year 18 18

At 31 December 2021 18 18

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2021 71 71
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7.  Property, plant and equipment
 Right of  

Use Asset
Long  

 Lease-hold
Fixtures & 

Fittings
Computer 

Equipment
Totals

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2022 541 28 18 79 666

Additions - - - 19 19

Disposals - (7) - (17) (24)

At 31 December 2022 541 21 18 81 661

Depreciation

At 1 January 2022 504 24 13 53 594

Charge for the year 37 2 2 15 56

Disposals - (5) - (5) (10)

At 31 December 2022 541 21 15 63 640

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2022 - - 3 18 21

 Right of  
Use Asset

Long  
 Lease-hold

Fixtures & 
Fittings

Computer 
Equipment

Totals

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost

At 1 January 2021 541 28 18 69 656

Additions - - - 21 21

Disposals - - - (11) (11)

At 31 December 2021 541 28 18 79 666

Depreciation

At 1 January 2021 323 23 10 42 398

Charge for the year 181 1 3 20 205

Disposals - - - (9) (9)

At 31 December 2021 504 24 13 53 594

Net Book Value

At 31 December 2021 37 4 5 26 72

8. Financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows:

The methods used to measure financial assets and liabilities reported at fair value are described  
in the accounting policies section of this report.

Current financial assets relate entirely to loans receivable by the Group. At 31 December 2022 there 
were £464k (2021: £620k) impaired loans receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year-
end is the fair value of each class of receivable. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Year ended 31 December 2022 Amortised Cost FVTPL Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial Assets

Non-current financial assets - 80,003 80,003

Current financial assets 28 67 95

Trade and other receivables (Note 10) 208 - 208

Cash and cash equivalents 17,188 - 17,188

17,424 80,070 97,494

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 12) 875 - 875

875 - 875

Year ended 31 December 2021 Amortised Cost FVTPL Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial Assets

Non-current financial assets - 117,597 117,597

Current financial assets 1,499 804 2,303

Trade and other receivables (Note 10) 1,411 - 1,411

Cash and cash equivalents 31,066 - 31,066

33,976 118,401 152,377

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (Note 12) 165 - 165

Lease liabilities (Note 21) 30 - 30

Non-current financial liabilities 934 11,288 12,222

1,129 11,288 12,417 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 127FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



31 December 2022 Amortised Cost FVTPL Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 

Up to 3 months - - -

3 – 6 months 21 - 21

Over 6 months 7 67 74

28 67 95

31 December 2021 Amortised Cost FVTPL Total 
£’000 £’000 £’000 

Up to 3 months 1,253 551 1,804

3 – 6 months 246 234 480

Over 6 months - 19 19

1,499 804 2,303

Non-current financial assets 31.12.22 31.12.21

£’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 117,597 86,625

Additions 9,714 11,899

Disposals (1,108) (8,174)

Unrealised gains on the revaluation of investments (46,200) 27,247

At 31 December 2022 80,003 117,597

The Additions include £2,410k (2021: £8,799k) in new venture investments. Prior year additions  
included £2,600k in Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd before it was transferred from Fund II  
to Forward Partners Group PLC in July 2021.

Disposals include Nil (2021: £3,200k) for Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd transfer from the  
fund to be held directly by the company.

IFRS 13 requires certain disclosures which require the classification of financial assets and financial 
liabilities measured at fair value using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the fair value measurement. 

The ageing of financial assets over the Group’s normal credit terms is: Disclosure of fair value measurements by level is according to the following fair value  
measurement hierarchy: 

• level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets  
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; 

• level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that  
are observable for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly; and 

• level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. 

The Non-current financial assets are all recognised at fair value through profit & loss. The assets represent 
the portfolio company investments held through the groups limited partnership fund subsidiaries. The 
Group’s finance team performs the valuations of the funds’ portfolio investments with the assistance of the 
investment manager for financial reporting purposes. Valuation techniques are based on the International 
Private Equity and Venture Capital ("IPEV") Valuation Guidelines December 2022 as well as the IPEV Board, 
Special Valuation Guidance issued on 31 March 2020 in response to the Covid-19 crisis (“IPEV Guidelines”) as 
described in the accounting policies and significant accounting judgements sections of this report. 

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets held by the partnership, which are 
measured subsequent to initial recognition, at fair value as per the accounting policies set out in Note 1.

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Non-current   - - 80,003 80,003

Current - - 95 95 

Total - - 80,098 80,098

31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Non-current 4,869 - 112,728 117,597

Current - - 804 804

Total 4,869 - 113,532 118,401
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Secured bank loan

The loan is a £5.0m revolving facility provided by Triple Point Advancr Leasing PLC under an agreement 
signed on 15 July 2021. The loan can only be used to finance loans made by Forward Partners Venture 
Advance Ltd to customers up to a maximum of 80% of the origination value. The facility is secured by  
a fixed and floating charge over the Group’s subsidiary, Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd  
in favour of Triple Point Advancr Leasing Plc.

The facility was repaid in full on 30 November 2022.

9. Financial instruments risk
Financial Risk Management
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s  
risk management framework. 

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group,  
to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and ensure any limits are adhered to.  
The Group’s activities are reviewed regularly and potential risks are considered.

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities by category are summarised in Note 8. The main types of risks are market risk (including foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Principal financial instruments 
The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, are as follows: 

• investments; 

• trade and other receivables; 

• loan receivables (including financial assets valued at amortised cost and financial assets valued at FVTPL*); 

• cash and cash equivalents; 

• trade and other payables; 

• bank borrowings; and

• lease liabilities. 

(*Fair value through profit or loss)

Market Risk
The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, 
interest rate risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities.

Market Risk – Foreign currency risk

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in GBP. Exposure to currency exchange rates arise from the  
Group’s overseas purchases, of those which are overseas purchases, they are primarily denominated in US dollars 
(USD). The Groups also holds overseas investments within the Fund investments held at fair value through profit or loss.

The majority of the Group’s investments and cash deposits are denominated in GBP. The Group held cash deposits 
in Euros (EUR) in the prior year. The principal currency exposure risk is due to changes in the exchange rate between 
GBP and USD/EUR. Presented below is an analysis of the theoretical impact of 10% volatility in the exchange rate on 
shareholder equity. Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to currency risk 
are disclosed below. The amounts shown are those reported to key management translated into GBP at the closing rate:  

Financial liabilities – interest-bearing loans and borrowings

31 December 2022 Interest rate Maturity 31.12.22
% £’000 

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities (Note 21) 4.50% 2022 -

Total current interest-bearing loans and borrowings -

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings  -

31 December 2021 Interest rate Maturity 31.12.21
% £’000 

Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities (Note 21) 4.50% 2022 30

Total current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 30 

Non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Secured bank loan 11.75% 2024 934

Total non-current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 934

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 964

31 December 2022 Short-term exposure Long-term exposure

GBP USD EUR GBP USD
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial assets 17,492 - - 70,906 9,097

Financial liabilities (875) - - - -

Total exposure 16,617 - - 70,906 9,097

31 December 2021 Short-term exposure Long-term exposure

GBP USD EUR GBP USD
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial assets 34,759 - 25 112,506 5,234

Financial liabilities (709) - - (12,231) -

Total exposure 34,050 - 25 100,275 5,234

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 129FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity in relation to the Group’s financial assets 
and financial liabilities and the USD/GBP exchange rate and the EUR/GBP exchange rate ‘all other things 
being equal’. It assumes a theoretical impact of a change in the exchange rate of +/-10% between GBP and 
USD/EUR. These percentages have been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange 
rates in the previous twelve months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the group’s foreign currency financial 
instruments held at each reporting date. 

Most of the Group’s investments are denominated in GBP except for its holding in Change Engine, Gravity 
Sketch, and Big Health shares which are denominated in USD.

If the GBP had strengthened or weakened against the USD by 10% and EUR by 10% respectively then this 
would have had the following impact: 

Some of the Group's cash deposits were held in a Euro bank account at the year end. The theoretical  
impact of a change in the exchange rate of +/-10% between GBP and EUR these balances would be as follows:

The combined theoretical impact on shareholders’ equity of the changes to investments and cash and cash 
equivalents of a change in the exchange rate of +/-10% between GBP and USD/EUR would be as follows:

*where there is a sensitivity contained within the Market Risk sections the amount is inclusive of the impact of the sensitivity. 

Market Risk – Price risk

The Group’s investments are susceptible to price risk arising from uncertainties about the future price of 
financial instruments held in accordance with the Group’s investment objectives. It represents the potential 
loss that the Group might suffer through holding market positions in the face of market movements which 
have been heighted due to the impact of COVID-19 and the war in Ukraine.

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of equity rights and investments held by the Group and 
classified on the balance sheet as financial assets at FVTPL (Note 8). These equity rights are held in unquoted 
high growth technology companies and are valued by reference to revenue or earnings multiples of quoted 
comparable companies or last round price. These valuations are subject to market movements.

The Group seeks to manage this risk by routinely monitoring the performance of these investments and 
employing rigorous appraisal processes.

The theoretical impact of a fluctuation of +/- 10% would have the following impact:

The Group further flexed the theoretical impact by 25% given the volatility resulting from the Covid-19 
pandemic, war in Ukraine and current macro economic uncertainty. Theoretical impact of a fluctuation of 
+/- 25% would have the following impact:

Market Risk – Interest rate risk

The Group’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposures on long-term financing. Longer-
term borrowings are therefore usually at fixed rates. There are no significant interest-rate risks as the only 
interest-bearing assets are cash and cash equivalents. The Group considers there to be no material interest 
rate exposures.

Liquidity risk 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits held in readily-accessible bank 
accounts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value. The Group 
manages its liquidity needs by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cashflows. 

Foreign currency exposures – Investments 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Investments denominated in USD 9,097 5,234

10% increase in USD:GBP* 8,270 4,759

10% decrease in USD:GBP* 10,108 5,710

Market Approach based on multiples Calibrated price of recent investments Probability Weighted Expected Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 31 December 2022 646 7,003 352

As at 31 December 2021 2,804 8,906 -

Foreign currency exposures – Cash 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Cash denominated in Euro - 21

10% increase in EUR:GBP* - 19

10% decrease in EUR:GBP* - 23

Foreign currency exposures – Shareholders Equity 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Shareholders Equity 96,664 139,577

10% increase in EUR:GBP* 95,837 139,100

10% decrease in EUR:GBP* 97,675 140,055

Market Approach based on multiples Calibrated price of recent investments Probability Weighted Expected Return
£’000 £’000 £’000 

As at 31 December 2022 1,614 17,507 880

As at 31 December 2021 7,009 22,265 -
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Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of a 
rolling 12-month projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day lookout period are identified quarterly.

The Group’s objective is to maintain cash and marketable securities to meet its liquidity requirements for 
12-month periods at a minimum. This objective was met for the reporting year. Funding for long-term liquidity 
needs is additionally secured by the ability to sell long-term financial assets.

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in 
particular its cash resources and, current financial assets (loans held at amortised cost & fair value through 
profit or loss and trade receivables). The Group’s existing cash resources and current assets (see Note 8 and 
10) significantly exceed the current cash outflow requirements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the Group. The Group is exposed 
to credit risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade and other 
receivables and financial assets.

The credit risk is managed on a group basis based on the Group’s risk management policies and procedures. 
The Group is exposed to this risk for various financial instruments; namely trade receivables, loan receivables 
and cash held at banks. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of trade 
receivables, loan receivables and cash at bank and in hand at 31 December 2022, as summarised below:

The Group monitors the credit quality of customers based on customer score cards. When available credit 
ratings and/or reports on customers are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with credit 
worthy counterparties. The credit terms for Studio customers are typically 30 days. Repayment periods for 
loans issued to customers range between three months and six months. The credit terms for customers as 
negotiated with customers are subject to an internal approval process. The ongoing credit risk is managed 
through regular review of aging analysis, together with trading and repayments history.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to significant risk as the principal 
customers are the investment funds managed by the Group, and in these the Group has control of the 
banking as part of its management responsibilities.

The credit risk in respect of cash balances and deposits held with banks are managed by only holding 
money with major reputable financial institutions. The Group monitors the performance of the banks it 
has relationships with and is able to mitigate the risk through holding active accounts in other banking 
institutions.

Trade and loan receivables
Under IFRS 9, the Group is required to provide for trade receivables and loans measured at amortised cost 
under the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade and other receivables have been assessed on a collective 
basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past 
due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales over the past 12 months before 31 
December 2022 as well as the corresponding historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates 
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability 
to settle the amount outstanding.

Trade and other receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. This is assessed on an individual debtor basis as required.

As at the year end the Group had £79k trade receivables (2021: £154k) and held other receivables of £129k 
(2021: £429k).

In measuring the expected credit losses, in respect of Financial Assets measured at amortised cost the 
impairment is based on the ECLs associated with the probability of default of that loan in the next 12 months 
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of that loan since origination. The Group assumes 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk if repayments have not been made for three consecutive 
weeks or four weeks in total.

The Group defines a default as financial assets where there have been no repayments for six consecutive 
weeks. When loans are made by Forward Advances, they are targeted to be repaid within 6 months. At 31 
December 2022 (31 December 2022: 1) all outstanding Advances have had a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition and this was deemed credit impaired and categorised as stage 3.  

Classes of financial assets impacted by credit risk: Carrying amount 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Trade & other receivables 208 1,169

Loans receivable – valued at amortised cost 28 1,499

Loans receivable – valued at FVTPL 67 804

Cash at bank and in hand 17,188 31,066

17,491 34,538
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Overall ECL disclosures
Loans and advances at amortised cost

The Group applies the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The IFRS 9 impairment model requires  
a three-stage approach:

• Stage 1 includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition or that have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month expected credit  
losses (“ECLs”) (that is, expected losses arising from the risk of default in the next 12 months) are recognised  
and interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without deduction for  
credit allowance).

• Stage 2 includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
(unless they have low credit risk at the reporting date) but are not credit-impaired. For these assets, lifetime 
ECLs (that is, expected losses arising from the risk of default over the life of the financial instrument) are 
recognised, and interest income is still calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset. The Group assumes 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk if outstanding amounts on the financial assets exceed 30 days, 
in line with the rebuttable presumption per IFRS 9 at which point the assets are considered to be stage 2.

• Stage 3 consists of financial assets that are credit-impaired, which is when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. For these assets, 
lifetime ECLs are also recognised, but interest income is calculated on the net carrying amount (that is, net of the 
ECL allowance). The Group defines a default, classified as stage 3, as an asset with any outstanding amounts 
exceeding a 60-day due date, which reflects the point at which the asset is considered to be credit-impaired.

10. Trade and other receivables

Allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables is included in administrative expenses  
in the statement of comprehensive income. Amounts are written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash. Amounts provided for or written off during the year totalled £463k (2021: £901k). 
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

11. Called up share capital

Ordinary shares carry full and equal rights to participate in voting in all circumstances, in dividends  
and in capital distributions, whether on a winding up basis or otherwise. The shares are not redeemable.  
The shares were issued for £1.00 per share with a nominal share value of £0.01. The £0.99 per share  
was taken to the share premium account.

As at 31 December 2022

Gross value £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross loan value - - 514 514

Impairment Allowance - - (419) (419)

Net exposure - - 95 95

Coverage Ratio 0.0% 0.0% 81.5% 81.5%

As at 31 December 2021
Gross value £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross loan value 1,505 - 243 1,748

Impairment Allowance (6) - (243) (249)

Net exposure 1,499 - - 1,499

Coverage Ratio 0.4% 0.0% 100% 14.2%

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Trade receivables 79 137

Prepayments and accrued income 69 78

Other debtors 60 1,196

Total 208 1,411

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

At 1 January2022 249 56

Increase in allowance for credit losses 689 249

Decrease in allowance for credit losses (519) (56)

At 31 December 2022 419 249

Called up, allotted and fully paid No. of shares 
(Nominal  

value of £1)

No. of shares 
(Nominal  

value of 1p)

Ordinary 
shares 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

 
Total 

£’000

Balance at 1 January 2021 1 - - - -

Issue of shares (1) 134,613,117 1,346 133,267 134,613

Expense of listing issue costs - - - (2.276) (2,276)

At 31 December 2021   - 134,613,117 1,346 130,991 132,337

Issue of shares - - - - -

Expense of listing issue costs - - - - -

At 31 December 2022   - 134,613,117 1,346 130,991 132,337
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12. Trade and other payables

13. Deferred tax

14. Expenses by nature

15. Employees

Total net credit balance in employee cost for the year represents carried interest credit  
in the year to reflect fair value of Nil (2021: £10,788) as at 31 December 2022.

The average monthly number of employees during the year was as follows:

As at 31 December 2022, total employee headcount is 18 (2021: 29) which includes 5 (2021: 5) directors.

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Trade payables 127 165

Social security and other taxes 166 141

Other payables and accruals 582 376

Total 875 682

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Origination and reversal of timing difference 24 -

24 -

Movement in deferred tax asset/(liability) for the year consist of

31.12.22 31.12.21

£’000 £’000

At 1 January (9) (6)

Deferred tax (credit)/charge in year 40 (3)

Prior year adjustment (7) -

At 31 December 24 (9)

Deferred tax has been provided at 25%.

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Staff related costs (Note 15) 4,667 3,496

Listing costs 413 400

Marketing costs 535 227

Premises expenses 270 278

Write offs 283 836

Other expenses 2,034 533

Total administrative expenses            8,202 5,770

The UK Government legislated in the Finance Act 2021, which received Royal Assent on 24 May 
2021 to increase the standard rate of UK corporation tax from 19% to 25%, effective 1 April 2023, 
for companies with profits in excess of £250,000. Companies with profits £50,000 or less will 
continue to pay corporation tax at 19%. Companies with profits between £50,000 and £250,000 
will pay tax at the main rate reduced by a marginal relief providing a gradual increase in the 
effective corporation tax rate.

Deferred tax asset has been calculated but not recognised on the excess management expenses 
carried forward in Forward Partners Group Plc of £765,638 (2021: £37,697), capital losses 
carried forward in Forward Partners Group Plc of £218,417 and trading losses carried forward in 
Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd of £4,003,473 (2021: £2,093,460).

Staff costs (including executive directors) 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 3,916 2,942

Social security costs 450 331

Post-employment benefits 132 100

Short-term employee benefits 169 123

Staff Costs 4,667 3,496

Carried Interest (11,288) 5,650

Long-term employee benefits (Share-based payments) (Note 16) 137 6

(6,484) 9,152

Directors 7 7

Administrative 27 22

Total 34 29
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31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries 774 733

Social security costs 119 95

Post-employment benefits 21 33

Short-term employee benefits 30 11

Total 944 872

Carried Interest - 2,697

Long-term employee benefits (Share-based payments) 2 7

Total 946 3,576

The aggregate compensation for key management, being the members of the board of Forward 
Partners Group Plc and the directors of the subsidiary companies, was as follows:

16. Share based payments
General Employee Share Option Plan (GESP)

Under the Long-Term Investment Plan (LTIP), the Group, at its discretion, may grant share options of the Group  
to employees and directors, once the employee has passed probation. Vesting of the share options is dependent 
on the Group’s total shareholder return (TSR) and realisation proceeds performance conditions (RPPC) on a 75% 
and 25% split respectively.  

The fair value of share options granted subject to the TSR element is estimated at the date of grant using a 
Monte-Carlo simulation model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the share options were 
granted. The model simulates the TSR and compares it against the group of principal competitors. It takes into 
account the expected dividends, and the share price volatility of the Group relative to that of its competitors  
so as to predict the share performance.

The fair value of share options granted subject to the RPPC is estimated at the date of grant using the  
Black-Scholes method, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the share options were granted. 
The method expected level of achievement for this condition based on the forecast actual values for these  
targets provided by the Group as at the 31 December 2022. 

The exercise price of the share options is £0.010 (2021: £0.010) on the date of grant. The contractual term of the 
share options is six years and there are no cash settlement alternatives for the employees. 

Advances Employee Share Option Plan (AESP)

Under the Long-Term Investment Plan (LTIP), the Group, at its discretion, may grant share options of the Group  
to employees and directors, once the employee has passed probation. Vesting of the share options is dependent 
on the Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd performance conditions over the performance period; 60% based 
on new Advances (loans) made by the company, 20% on the loan default rate and 20% on the gross IRR.

The fair value of share options granted is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes method, 
considering the terms and conditions on which the share options were granted. The method expected level 
of achievement for this condition based on the forecast actual values for these targets provided by the 
Group as at the 31 December 2022. 

The exercise price of the share options is Nil (2021: £0.010) on the date of grant. The contractual term  
of the share options is six years and there are no cash settlement alternatives for the employees.   

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table:

There were no cancellations or modifications to the awards during the year.

Movements during the year

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of,  
and movements in, share options during the year:

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at  
31 December 2022 was 5 years.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £0.423 (2021: £0.611).  
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was £0.01 (2021: £0.01) exactly.

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions 137 6

Total expense arising from share-based payment transactions 137 6

 31.12.22 31.12.22  31.12.21 31.12.21 
Number WAEP Number WAEP

Outstanding at 1 January 913,760 £0.010 - -

Granted during the year 176,269 £0.010 913,760 £0.010

Forfeited during the year  (85,457) £0.010 - -

Exercised during the year - - - -

Expired during the year - - - -

Outstanding at 31 December 1,004,572 £0.010 913,760 £0.010

Exercisable at 31 December - - - -
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The following table list the inputs to the models used for the two plans for the period ended  
31 December 2022 and 2021, respectively:

The standard practice would be to estimate the Company’s share price volatility over a  
period equivalent to the expected life of 1.75 years (2021: 2.57 years) ending on the Valuation  
Date (2022: 20 October 2022; 2021: 23 December 2021). However, as the Group only listed  
on London Stock Exchange in 2021, it is not possible to calculate volatility over a period equivalent  
to the expected life. Average volatility was therefore calculated based on the volatility of share  
prices of three comparable UK listed companies over a period equivalent to the expected life  
ending on the Valuation Date (2022: 20 October 2022; 2021: 23 December 2021).

17. Finance costs

18. Taxation

Factors affecting current tax charge for the period:
The current taxation charge for the year is different from the standard rate  
of corporation tax in the UK (19%) The differences are explained below:

Grant date  20.10.22 20.10.22 
GESP GESP

Model Monte-Carlo Black-Scholes

Vesting period ends 19 Jul 2024 19 Jul 2024

Share price at date of grant £0.435 £0.435

Dividend yield (%) 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility (%) 43.68% 43.68%

Risk–free interest rate (%) 3.65% 0.65%

Fair value per option at grant date £0.017 £0.107 

Exercise price at date of grant £0.010 £0.010

Exercisable from / to
19 Jul 2024  

/ 19 Jul 2026
19 Jul 2024  

/ 19 Jul 2026

Expected life of share options (years) 1.75 1.75

Grant date  31.12.21  31.12.21 31.12.21 
GESP GESP AESP

Model Monte-Carlo Black-Scholes Black-Scholes

Vesting period ends 19 Jul 2024 19 Jul 2024 19 Jul 2024

Share price at date of grant £1.095 £1.095 £1.095

Dividend yield (%) 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility (%) 43.44% 43.44% 43.44%

Risk–free interest rate (%) 0.65% 0.65% 0.65%

Fair value per option at grant date £0.592 £0.868 £0.868 

Exercise price at date of grant £0.010 £0.010 £0.010

Exercisable from / to
19 Jul 2024  

/ 19 Jul 2026
19 Jul 2024  

/ 19 Jul 2026
19 Jul 2024  

/ 19 Jul 2026

Expected life of share options (years) 2.57 2.57 2.57

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Finance cost

Interest paid 197 88

Total finance costs 197 88

Analysis of tax charge in year 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Current tax:

UK corporation tax on profits in the year - (1)

Adjustments in respect of previous year - 1

Total current tax charge/(credit) - -

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences (40) -

Adjustment in respect of previous years  7 -

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance - 3

Taxation (credit)/charge (33) 3

Tax on profit on ordinary activities (33) 3

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax  (43,083) 16,478

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities at standard rate of corporation tax of 19% (8,186) 3,131

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6,835 1,190

Effect of capital allowances and depreciation - 1

Non-taxable income (8,947) (4,323)

Income/expense from non-controlling interests in LPs 9,653 -

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance - 3

Effect of tax rate change on opening balance - 1

Deferred tax prior year adjustment 7 -

Change in rates (36) -

Unused tax losses 641 -

Total tax (credit)/charge (33) 3
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Factors that may affect future tax charges

In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that the UK corporation tax rate will increase  
to 25% from 1 April 2023. This was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021 and received Royal Assent on  
10 June 2021. The carried forward deferred tax balance has been measured using these enacted tax rates 
and reflected in these financial statements.

19. Earnings per share & NAV per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of  
the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. 

*NAV (Net Asset Value)

The basic and diluted EPS are the same as there are no dilutive financial instruments.

20. Dividends
No dividends were paid during the year (2021 Nil).

21.  Leases
The Group leases an office building in London for use by its staff until March 2022.  
Information about lease for which the company is presented below.

Right-of-Use assets
Please see Note 7 for detail of Right of Use assets held by the Company during the year.

Lease liabilities

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Total expected cash outflow for lease commitments in the next 12 months will be Nil.  
The Group’s lease has expired on 22 March 2022. 

31.12.22 31.12.21

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Group (£’000) (43,050) 16,477

Net assets (£’000) 96,664 139,577

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 134,613,117 134,613,117 

Basic earnings per share (pence per share) (32) 12

NAV* per share (pence per share) 72 104

31 December 2022 Property Total
£’000 £’000

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position

Current - -

Non-current - -

Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2022 - -

31 December 2021 Property Total

£’000 £’000

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position

Current 30 30

Non-current - -

Total lease liabilities at 31 December 2021 30 30

31.12.2022 31.12.21

£’000 £’000

Interest on lease liabilities - 4

Depreciation charge for the year on right-of-use assets 37 180
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22. Related party disclosures
Transactions with key management personnel

During the period, key management invoiced the group Nil for consultancy services (2021: £42,500).  
The amount owed to key management at the balance sheet date is Nil (2021: Nil) 

Key Management Personnel Compensation

The remuneration of the executive directors of Forward Partners Group Plc, from all Group companies  
was as follows:

£9K benefits relate to health insurance (2021: £10K).

The details of individual Directors’ remuneration and pension benefits, as set out in the tables contained in the 
Remuneration Committee Report on pages 93 to 95, form part of these consolidated financial statements.

The remuneration of the non-executive directors was as follows:

During the year, Jonathan Mckay Management LLP, a service company owned by the Chairman of the 
Board, invoiced the Group Nil (2021: £11k) for consultancy services. The amount owed to Jonathan Mckay 
Management LLP at the balance sheet date is Nil (2021 - Nil).

The Group operates a carried interest scheme. The senior management and related parties were entitled to 
Carried interest of Nil (2021: £5.3m). No amounts have been paid out, these are their entitlements as at the year 
end, assuming all the investments were converted to cash at that point, less estimated selling costs. 

23. Ultimate controlling party
Forward Partners Group Plc, incorporated in England and Wales, is the ultimate parent company of the 
Group. The ultimate beneficiary, and the largest shareholder is Blackrock International Limited, which holds 
70.4% of the issued share capital of Forward Partners Group Plc.

24. Events after the reporting date
The recent banking crisis triggered by Silicon Valley Bank’s (SVB) collapse in March 2023 and the recent 
increase in interest rates has made securing additional funding and credit lines particularly challenging  
for fintech lending companies. In particular, Koyo is most at risk in our portfolio as it has appointed advisors 
to secure their future. As a result, it is likely Koyo’s valuation of £2.3m, representing 2.9% of the portfolio fair 
value, will be fully written down by the interim date due to events occurring in the post balance sheet period.

Shortly before the Bank of England's 10th March statement announcing its intention to place SVB into an 
insolvency procedure, 92% of the funds the Group held with SVB were transferred to Barclays Bank Plc.  
The Group is currently reviewing its banking facilities in light of the recent banking crisis with a view to 
ensuring their cash is only held with tier 1 institutions. 

31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Total 190 86

Year ended 31.12.22 Short term employee benefits Post-employment  
benefits

Total

Salary Benefits Pension
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive directors 566 10 37 613

Other Group entity directors 503 21 6 530

Total 1,069 31 43 1,143

Year ended 31.12.21 Short term employee benefits Post-employment  
benefits

Total

Salary Benefits Pension
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive directors 445 10 22 477

Other Group entity directors 383 1 10 394

Total 828 11 32 871
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Company financial statements For the year ended 31 December 2022
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The company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 to not 
present the parent company profit and loss account. The net loss for the year ended 31 December 2022  
was £36.0m (2021: restated loss of £0.4m). 

Approved and authorised for issue by the board on 3 May 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

 
 

 
Lloyd Smith 
Director

3 May 2023

Company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022

 Note 31.12.22 31.12.21 
 £’000 £’000 

Non-Current Assets   (restated) 

Financial assets 6 85,046 100,365

Loan receivable from subsidiary - 2,600

85,046 102,965

Current Assets   

Trade and other receivables 7 4,196 4,821

Cash and cash equivalents 11,608 25,500

15,804 30,321

Total Assets 100,850 133,286

Current Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 8 4,848 1,389

4,848 1,389

Total Liabilities 4,848 1,389

Net Assets 96,002 131,897

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Group   

Called up share capital 9 1,346 1,346

Share premium account 130,991 130,991

Retained earnings (36,335) (440)

96,002 131,897

139FORWARD PARTNERS | ANNUAL REPORT 2022 |  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



Company statement of changes in equity for the period ended 31 December 2022

 Share Capital Share Premium Retained Earnings Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Balance at 4 March 2021
Issue of share capital – Ordinary Shares 1,346 133,267 - 134,613

Listing fees expensed to share premium - (2,276) - (2,276)

Options granted and awards exercised - - 6 6

Loss for year attributable to equity holders - - (11,734) (11,734)

Balance at 31 December 2021 (audited) 1,346 130,991 (11,728) 120,609
Prior year adjustment - - 11,288 11,288
Balance at 31 December 2021 (restated) 1,346 130,991 (440) 131,897

Options granted and awards exercised - - 216 216

Options forfeited - - (79) (79)

Loss for year attributable to equity holders - - (36,032) (36,032)

Balance at 31 December 2022 1,346 130,991 (36,335) 96,002
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

1. Basis of preparation
The company was incorporated on 4 March 2021 
and the company’s financial statements have been 
prepared for the period from incorporation to 
31 December 2021 in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure 
Framework’ (FRS 101).  

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention except for certain office leases 
(classified as property, plant and equipment) that have 
been measured at fair value. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 1 of the 
Group’s Consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis. Accounting standards require the 
directors to consider the appropriateness of the going 
concern basis when preparing the financial statements.  
The directors confirm that they consider that the going 
concern basis remains appropriate as the company has 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future based upon forecasts.

Disclosure exemptions adopted
In preparing these financial statements the company 
has taken advantage of certain disclosure exemptions 
conferred by FRS 101 and has not provided:

• A Statement of Cash Flows and related disclosures 
for cash flows from discontinued activities

• A statement of compliance with IFRS (a statement 
of compliance with FRS 101 is provided instead)

• Additional comparative information for narrative 
disclosures and information, beyond IFRS 
requirements

• Disclosures in relation to the objectives, policies and 
process for managing capital

• Disclosure of the effect of future accounting 
standards not yet adopted

• The remuneration of key management personnel

• Related party transactions with two or more wholly 
owned members of the group

• Certain disclosures required under IFRS 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, including 
disaggregation of revenue, details of changes 
in contract assets and liabilities, and details of 
incomplete performance obligations

• The amount of lease income recognised on 
operating leases as lessor

• The maturity analysis of lease liabilities, as required 
by paragraph 58 of IFRS 16 Leases, has not been 
disclosed separately as details of indebtedness 
required by Companies Act has been presented 
separately for lease liabilities in note 15.

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101, 
further disclosure exemptions have been applied 
because equivalent disclosures are included in 
the consolidated financial statements of Forward 
Partners Group Plc. These financial statements do 
not include certain disclosures in respect of:

• Financial Instrument disclosures as required by 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

• Fair value measurements – details of the 
valuation techniques and inputs used for fair 
value measurement of assets and liabilities as 
per paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. 

2. Accounting policies
Revenue
Management charge income is recognised when the 
service the company has provided is fulfilled.

Pensions
The company operates a defined contribution 
pension scheme. Contributions payable for the year 
are charged to the income statement.

Share based payments
Employees (including directors) of the Group 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled 
transactions). The Group has not issued any cash-
settled awards during the period. 

Equity-settled transactions

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined 
by the fair value at the date when the grant is made 
using an appropriate valuation model, further 
details of which are given in Note 16 of the Group’s 
Consolidated financial statements.

That cost is recognised in employee benefits 
expense, together with a corresponding increase 
in equity (other capital reserves), over the period 
in which the service and, where applicable, the 
performance conditions are fulfilled (the vesting 
period). The cumulative expense recognised for 
equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which 
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best 
estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will ultimately vest. The expense or credit in the 
statement of profit or loss for a period represents 
the movement in cumulative expense recognised as 
at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions 
are not taken into account when determining the 
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood 
of the conditions being met is assessed as part 
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market 
performance conditions are reflected within the 
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached 
to an award, but without an associated service 
requirement, are considered to be non-vesting 
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in 
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate 
expensing of an award unless there are also service 
and/or performance conditions.
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No expense is recognised for awards that do not 
ultimately vest because non-market performance 
and/or service conditions have not been met. Where 
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, 
the transactions are treated as vested irrespective 
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is 
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/
or service conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are 
modified, the minimum expense recognised is the 
grant date fair value of the unmodified award, 
provided the original vesting terms of the award are 
met. An additional expense, measured as at the date 
of modification, is recognised for any modification 
that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee. 

Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by 
the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair 
value of the award is expensed immediately through 
profit or loss. The dilutive effect of outstanding 
options is reflected as additional share dilution 
in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
(further details are given in Note 19 of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements).

Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are 
measured at cost less accumulated impairment. 
A review for impairment is carried out if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, in which case an 
impairment provision is recognised and charged to 
the Statement of Profit or Loss. 

Investments comprise of limited partnerships which invest 
in unquoted equity instruments and loan notes (unquoted 
investments) which are measured at fair value. 

Taxation
Current income tax assets/liabilities comprise those 
claims from or obligations to, or claims from, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting 
periods, that are unpaid at the balance sheet date.  
They are calculated according to the tax rates and 
tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which 
they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
financial statements. The deferred income tax is 
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than 
a business combination, that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income 
tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Provisions
These are recognised when the company has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, when it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 
and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
a finance cost.

Financial Instruments
Trade receivables and contract assets are initially 
stated at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
The carrying amounts for accounts receivable are 
net of allowances for expected credit losses. The 
Company evaluated the expected credit losses 
on trade receivables by reviewing historical data.  
Individual receivables are only written off when 
management deems them not collectible.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. The 
proceeds of share issues received net of any directly 
attributable transactions costs are credited to share 
capital at nominal value and the excess credited to 
the share premium account. 

Dividends
Dividends received from subsidiary companies  
are recognised at the point that the right to receive 
the dividend has been established. No dividends 
have been received from subsidiary companies in 
the year. 

3. Significant accounting 
judgements, estimates and 
assumptions
The Company may be required to make estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. These 
estimates and judgements are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The principal areas where judgement 
was exercised are as follows:

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are 
described below. The Company based its assumptions 
and estimates on parameters available when the 
consolidated financial statements were prepared. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market 
changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the 
control of the Company. Such changes are reflected 
in the assumptions when they occur.

Impairment of investments  
in subsidiaries
Impairment review of investments in subsidiaries is 
carried out through comparison of the carrying value 
of the investment to its net realisable value. We have 
assessed the net realisable value of the subsidiaries 
to be equivalent to its net asset value at the date of 
valuation.
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6. Non-current assets

4. Directors' remuneration

5. Auditor's remuneration

31.12.22 31.12.21

£’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 January 100,365 -

Additions 20,064 100,365

Disposals (80) -

Impairment (35,303) -

At 31 December 85,046 100,365

The table below details the movements in investments held at cost during the year:

Full details are given on Note 22 of the Group accounts.

Full details are given on Note 5 of the Group accounts.

Impairment charge for the year represents the difference between the cost and net  
realisable value for investments in Forward Partners Fund 1 L. P., Forward Partners Fund II L. P.,  
Forward Partners Fund III L. P., and Forward Partner Venture Advance Ltd.

Total investments held by the company are summarised below:

 31.12.22 31.12.21 

 Investment in interests of subsidiary undertakings £’000 £’000 

Investment in Forward Partners Fund 1 LP 22,569 42,880

Investment in Forward Partners Fund II LP 54,658 52,713

Investment in Forward Partners Fund III LP 6,311 3,646

Investment in Forward Partners  
Management Company Ltd

642 504

Investment in Forward Partners Venture Advance 866 622 

At 31 December 2022 85,046 100,365

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at fair value and at the year include the following:

Name of  
Company

Class of  
shares held

Portion of  
voting rights held

Registered  
office

Forward Partners Fund 1 L. P. n/a 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Fund II L. P. n/a 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Fund III L. P. n/a 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Management  
Company Limited

Ordinary 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd Ordinary 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners General Partner Limited Ordinary 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Carried Interest  
General Partner Limited

Ordinary 100% 50 Lothian Road, Festival Square,  
Edinburgh, EH3 9WJ

FPGP Nominees Ltd Ordinary 100% Huckletree Shoreditch Alphabeta Building 
18 Finsbury Square London EC2A 1AH 
England (until 21 March 2023)

124 City Road, London, England, EC1V 2NX 
(from 22 March 2023)

Forward Partners Investment Company Limited 
(dissolved on 22 February 2022)

Ordinary 100% 124 East Road, London N1 6FD
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7.  Trade and other receivables

8. Trade and other payables

9. Share capital
Ordinary shares carry full and equal rights to participate in voting in all circumstances, in dividends and  
in capital distributions, whether on a winding up basis or otherwise. The shares are not redeemable.  

10.  Restatement note
The Group participates in the carried interest issued by Forward Partners 1 Limited Partnership, Forward 
Partners II Limited Partnership, and Forward Partners III Limited Partnership (collectively, ‘the Funds’) 
through Forward Partners Carried Interest General Partner Limited’s (the ‘CI GP’) carry rights in the carried 
interest partner, Forward Partners Carried Interest L.P. (the ‘CIP’). The participants in the CIP carry include 
the CI GP and certain of the Group’s employees and others connected to the underlying funds. The CIP has 
been established to facilitate payments of carried interest from the fund to carried interest participants. 

Carried interest is recognised under the Ownership Model. Under the Ownership Model, carried interest 
is recognised as a re-allocation of profits of the Funds’ between partners. On a consolidated basis, carried 
interest reserves are eliminated and the portion of carried interest reserve due to external parties is 
presented as a financial liability of the Group.  

We note that in the prior year, the consolidation adjustment to recognise £11.3m of the Funds’ carried interest 
reserves was incorrectly posted as a transaction in the Company instead of as a consolidation adjustment. 
These balances should therefore be reversed. There is no impact on the consolidated balances. 

 31.12.22 31.12.21 
£’000 £’000 

Amount owed by subsidiary undertakings 4,196 4,821

4,196 4,821

 31.12.22 31.12.21
£’000 £’000 

Trade payables 96 72

Amount owed to subsidiary undertakings 4,655 1,300

Accruals 97 17

4,848 1,389

Called up, allotted and fully paid No. of shares 
(Nominal  

value of 1p)

Ordinary 
shares 
£’000

Share 
premium 

£’000

 
Total 

£’000

Balance at 4 March 2021 - - -

Increase in share capital – Ordinary Shares 134,613.117 1,346 130,991 132,337

At 31 December 2021  134,613,117 1,346 130,991 132,337

Increase in share capital – Ordinary Shares - - - -

At 31 December 2022  134,613,117 1,346 130,991 132,337
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The following tables detail the impact of the adjustments to correct the error on the consolidated  
statement of financial position and the consolidated cash flow of the Company from the earliest period 
presented 4 March 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

Reconciliation of financial position and equity for the period ended 31 December 2021:

Audited 
31.12.21 
£’000

 
Adjustment 

£’000

Restated 
31.12.21 
£’000

Non-current Assets

Financial Assets 100,365 - 100,365

Loan receivable from subsidiary 2,600 - 2,600

102,965 102,965

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 4,821 - 4,821

Cash and cash equivalents 25,500 - 25,500

30,321 30,321

Total Assets 133,286 - 133,286

Audited 
31.12.21 
£’000

 
Adjustment 

£’000

Restated 
31.12.21 
£’000

Called up share capital 1,346 - 1,346

Share premium account 130,991 - 130,991

Retained earnings (11,728) 11,288 (440)

120,609 11,288 131,897

Audited 
31.12.21 
£’000

 
Adjustment 

£’000

Restated 
31.12.21 
£’000

Net Operating Profit (11,734) 11,288 (446)
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 1,389 - 1,389

1,389 - 1,389

Non-current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities 11,288 (11,288) -

11,288 (11,288) -

Total Liabilities 12,677 (11,288) 1,389

Net Assets 120,609 11,288 131,897

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Group: 

Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021:  

11. Parent undertaking

12. Events after the reporting date

Forward Partners Group Plc, incorporated in the UK, is the ultimate parent company of the Group.  
The ultimate controlling party and the largest shareholder is Blackrock International Limited, which owns 
70.4% of the issued share capital of Forward Partners Group Plc.

The parent company operates within the UK and its accounts may be obtained from the same registered 
office address as noted on page 146 of the Group accounts.

Shortly before the Bank of England's 10th March statement announcing its intention to place SVB into an 
insolvency procedure, 92% of the funds the Group held with SVB were transferred to Barclays Bank Plc.  
The Group is currently reviewing its banking facilities in light of the recent banking crisis with a view to 
ensuring their cash is only held with tier 1 institutions.
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Glossary of terms
“Admission” The admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM 

and such admission becoming effective in accordance with the 
AIM Rules for Companies.

“Advances” As per definition for “Forward Advances”.

“Act” The UK Companies Act 2006.

“A.I” Artificial intelligence.

“AIM” AIM, the market of that name operated  
by the London Stock Exchange.

“AIM Rules” The AIM Rules for Companies and the AIM Rules  
for Nominated Advisers.

“AIM Rules for Companies” The AIM Rules for Companies issued by the London Stock 
Exchange governing admission to and the operation of AIM,  
as amended or re-issued from time to time.

“AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers” The AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers issued by the London 
Stock Exchange setting out the eligibility, ongoing responsibilities 
and certain disciplinary matters in relation to nominated 
advisers, as amended or re-issued from time to time.

“Alternative Performance Measures 
(AMPs)”

Alternative performance measures (APMs) are non-GAAP 
measures that are not bound by the requirements of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

“Audit and Valuation Committee” The audit and valuation committee of the Board.

“Average Portfolio Company 
Revenue Growth” 

Average revenue growth of our top 15 holdings,  
weighted by the Group's fair value of each asset.

“Board” The board of directors of the Company from time to time.

“Company” or “Group” Forward Partners Group plc, a company incorporated in 
England and Wales with registered number 13244370 and  
having its registered office at Huckletree Shoreditch,  
Alphabeta Building, 18 Finsbury Square, London EC2A 1AH.

“ECL” Expected Credit Loss.

“ESG policy” Environmental, social and governance.

"Executive Directors" The executive directors of the Company at the date of this document.  

“FCA” The UK Financial Conduct Authority.

“Forward Advances” Forward Partners Venture Advance Ltd, a company incorporated 
in England and Wales with registered number 12401240 and having 
its registered office at Huckletree Shoreditch, Alphabeta Building, 
18 Finsbury Square, London EC2A 1AH. The division of the Company 
focused on providing flexible revenue based financing to  
digital businesses.

“Forward Partners” or “Forward” The Company or any of its subsidiaries,  
such as Forward Partners Management (as applicable).

“Forward Partners Management” Forward Partners Management Company Limited, a private limited 
company registered in England and Wales with registered number 
08819822 and having its registered office at Huckletree Shoreditch, 
Alphabeta Building, 18 Finsbury Square, London EC2A 1AH. 

“Forward Studio” A division of the Group focused on providing strategic and 
executional services to Forward Ventures’ and Forward Advances’ 
portfolio companies.

“Forward Ventures” A division of the Group focused on providing capital to high growth, 
early-stage technology businesses in exchange for an equity stake  
in such businesses.

“Grant Thornton” Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership registered in 
England and Wales with registered number OC307742 and having its 
registered office at 30 Finsbury Square, London, England, EC2A 1AG.

“Gross IRR” The internal rate of return expressed before deduction of fees  
and other expenses.

“IFRS” or “IFRSs” International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted for use in 
the United Kingdom (and in respect of financial periods commencing 
before 1 January 2021, as adopted for use in the European Union).
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“IPEV” The International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 
(IPEV) Guidelines ('Valuation Guidelines') set out recommendations, 
intended to represent current best practice, on the valuation of 
Private Capital Investments.

“Liberum” Liberum Capital Limited, a company incorporated in England and 
Wales with registered number 05912554 and having its registered 
office at Level 12, Ropemaker Place, 25 Ropemaker Street,  
London EC2Y 9LY.

“Net Asset Value” or “NAV” The value, as at any date, of the assets of the Company after 
deduction of all liabilities determined in accordance with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Company from time to time.

“Nominated Adviser” Liberum in its capacity as Nominated Adviser to the Company  
for the purposes of the AIM Rules.

“Non-executive Directors” The non-executive directors of the Company at the date  
of this document.

“Permanent capital” As a public company, Forward has the flexibility to retain the capital 
it generates through investments and use it to fund further growth 
opportunities rather than returning it to shareholders as dividends. 

“QCA Code” The corporate governance code for small and mid-size quoted 
companies published by the Quoted Companies Alliance from  
time to time.

“Registrar” Equiniti Limited of Corporate Advice, Aspect House,  
Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA.

“Remuneration and  
  Nominations Committee”

The remuneration and nominations committee of the Board.

“SME” Small and medium enterprises.

“Startup” A high growth, early-stage technology business.

“Studio” As per definition for “Forward Studio”.

“VAT” UK value added tax.

“Ventures” As per definition for “Forward Ventures”

“Venture Portfolio Value” The fair value of the Portfolio as at the date of reporting,  
calculated in accordance with the Group’s Valuation Policy.
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124 City Road 
London 
EC1V 2NX

FOLLOW US

For news and updates visit forwardpartners.com

https://goo.gl/maps/ApzXx1DWAxFu9ezv8
https://goo.gl/maps/ApzXx1DWAxFu9ezv8
https://www.facebook.com/forwardpartnersvc
https://www.instagram.com/forwardpartners/
https://twitter.com/ForwardPrt?s=20&t=wVAh_m9sQs7Q3Acb8JOErg
https://www.linkedin.com/company/forward-partners-uk/
http://www.forwardpartners.com
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